Judicial Issues with the March 9, 2020 Motion to Compel

Canon 1 - A judge shall uphold the integrity and independence of the judiciary.

Canon 2-A judge shall avoid impropriety and the appearance of impropriety in all
of the judges activities.

Canon 3-A judge shall perform the duties of judicial office impartially and
diligently. {2) A judge shall be faithful to the law and maintain professional
competence in it. (4} A judge shall be patient, dignified and courteous to litigants

‘and other with whom the judge deals and shall require similar conduct of lawyers

and others subject fo the judge’s direction and control {5) A judge shall perform
judicial duties without bias or prejudice. A judge shall not by words or conduct
manifest bias or prejudice. (9) A judge shall not, while a proceeding is pending or
impending in any court, make an public comment that might reasonably be
expected to affect its outcome or impair its fairness or make any nonpublic
comment that might substantially interfere with a fair trial or hearing

* It should be noted that | did not order the transcript for this hearing

Exhibit #18 - Order for Motion to Compel, Notice for Motion to Compel, Defendant’s

Request for Discovery

Order (Not Ending Action) #2. Any attorney fees relative to this motion shall be

held in abeyance at this time

Judge Holmes continued to show her bias, lack of ethics and impropriety by allowing
Hal to continue not to abide by the Ruies of Court and comply with Rule 20, SCFCR and

file @ Financial Declaration for this case (or any other case).
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) IN THE FAMILY COURT OF THE
) FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
COUNTY OF HORRY ) FILE NO. 2019-DR-26-1437
Joseph Harold Capps, Jr., )
)
Plaintiff, }
V. ) ORDER
) (Not Ending Action)
Michelle Davis Capps, )
)
Defendant. )
)

T HEARING DATE 77 MARCHDY, 2020 B -
TRIAL JUDGE : JAN B. BROMELL-HOLMES
PLAINTIFE'S ATTORNEY : ANITA FLOYD LEE
DEFENDANT'S ATTORNEY : JULAAN DERRICK
COURT REPORTER : DCRP

This matter comes before this Court pursuant to Defendant’s Notice of Motion and
Motion to discovery responses, said motion being filed on December 13, 2019. Counsel for both

Parties were present for this hearing, as well as the Defendant. Based upon arguments of

“counsel, I have determined that the following order should be issued:

1. The Parties shall respond to the other Party’s discovery by March 23, 2020.

2. Any attorney’s fees relative to this motion shall be held in abeyance at this time.

Therefore, it is ORDERED that the Parties shall respond to the other Party’s
Interrogatories and Request for Production of Documents by March 23, 2020.

It is further ORDERED that any violation of this Order may result in a fine of up to
$1,500, 300 hours community service work, and/or one year imprisonment.

AND IT IS SO ORDERED THIS DAY OF APRIL, 2020.

Capps vs. Capps
2019-DR-26-1437



J Ag B. BROMELL-HOLMES

JUDGE OF THE FAMILY COURT
FOR THE FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

Capps vs. Capps
2019-DR-26-1437



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA IN THE FAMILY COURT OF THE

FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

COUNTY OF HORRY FILE NO.: 2019-DR-26-1437

Joseph Harold Capps, Jr.,

Plaintiff, NOTICE OF MOTION AND
MOTION TO COMP_EL ISCO\?ERY

V8, AND MEDICAL ﬂ,E’A,SES:, : :
Michelle Davis Capps, - 43:;‘:
£ad C?"i‘ :
. 5T
~ Defendant. = e 0

‘ c..J BJQ

TO THE PLAINTIFF, ABOVE NAMED: JOSEPH HAROLD CAPIg@wJK s

£
~ YOU WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the Defendant above-named, byand

through his undersigned attorney, will move before the Family Court in the Horry County
Courthouse, Conway, South Carolina, at such time as may be set, for the issuance of the
followidg OrdeFor an Order compelling the Plaintiff, pursvant to Rule 37, South Carolina Rules

of Civil Procedure, to comply with the Defendant, Michelle Davis Capps, with his Medical
Release requests, namely,

The grounds for this Motion being;

A. The Defendant, Michelle Davis Capps, through their attorney, served upon the
Plaintiff, through her attorney of record, Defendants’s Interrogatories to Plaintiff and

Defendant’s Request for Production of Documents to Plaintiff on October 1, 2019 (See

attached Exhibit 1). Also requested on that day were medical releases for Dr. John E. Rathbun
and Dr. James R. Vest.

2. Pussuant to Rule 37, South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure the Defendants

requests reasonable attorney’s fees and costs for bringing this Motion.

This Motion will be based upon the pleadings herein, applicable South Carolina statutory

and case law, and upon such affidavits, depositions, and testimony as may be attached hereto or
presented at the hearing on this Motion,



Deoemberl § , 2019



JULAAN DERRICK

Aftorney at Law
1422 Fourth Avenue
Conway, South Carolina 29526
' ' (843) 488-0881
P.0. Box 286 Fax: (843) 488-0884
Conway, SC 29526 N ' s N _ %&%&h
October 1, 2019
EMAIL AND MAIL
Anita Floyd Lee '
Attorney at Law
1115 Third Avenue = , o L

Conway, SC 29526 :

RE:  Joseph Harold Capps, Jr. vs. Michelle Davis Capps.
Filte No. 2019-DR-26-1437

Dear Anita,

Please find enclosed Defendant’s Interrogatories to Plaintiff, Defendant’s Request for
Production of Documenis to Plaintiff, along with Affidavit of Mailing.

Also find enclosed, Medical Releases for Dr. John Rathbun and Dr, James R. Vest,

With kind regards, I am

ID/rs
¢: Michelle Capps

bt 1



State of South Carolina _ IN THE FAMILY COURT OF THE
FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

County of Horry , FILENO. 2019-DR-26-1437
Joseph Harold Capps, Jr.,

- Plaintiff, DEFENDANT’S

' REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION
VS. OF DOCUMENTS TO PLAINTIE‘

Michelle Davis Capps,

_ Defendant.

TO HIS ATTORNEY, ANITA F. LEE:
YOU WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the Defendant, by and through the
undersigned attorney, hereby requests that you produce the documents requested herein below in

accordance with the Rules of Practice for the Family Courts, Rule 22, and the South Carolina

Rules of Civil Procedure.

1. Any and all documents, photographs, charts, statements, recordings, CD’s,
correspondence, Affidavits, written statements (whether signed or not) and any and all other
demonstrative evidence in the possession of Plaintiff or Plaintiff’ s counsel which relates to the
claim or defense of this action.

2. Your last four (4) pay stubs and/or proof of draws from your business. Further,
provide you income tax returns for 2015, 2016, 2017, and 2018.

3. All books, records or other evidence showing any fringe benefits to which you are
entitled and which are available to you from any business entity, including without limitation,

automobile expenses, travel expenses, personal living and entertainment expenses, life insurance,




bonuses, health, accident and hespitalization insurance,

4. A copy of all records, documents, pictures, plats, video and/or audio recordings, or any
other items which pertain to the issues of this case, the Plaintiff intends to introduce at the trial
of this case. Further, include all tape recordings of conversations between Plaintiff and children
and video/audio recordings from security cameras in his residenée whete the children are being
recorded and/or videotaped. Also, include records form Ring Home Security System where
children or 3™ Parties were recorded. These tapes should include any obtained by his wife as

well. Further, provide tape recordings and/or video recordings that you client obtained of my

- client-and/or children with 3™ Parties. Also; provide any tape recorded conversations between

you and Ken Smith, Hal Heidt, and Harold Brown.

5. Any and all medical records from any medical doctor or mental health professional
identified in responses in Interrogatories which you have seen in the last three (3) years.

6. Any and all medical records from any medical doctor ot mental health professional
identified in responses to Interrogatories which the minor child has seen in the last three (3)
years.

7. Printout from any and all phatmacies used to fill all your prescriptions for the last three
(3) years.

8. Evidence of any psychological tests that you have taken during the last three (3) years.

9. A financial declaration pursuant to the South Carolina Children Support Guidelines.

10.  Copies of any and all written reports of private investigators and computer technicians as
well as any recordings, pictures, and CD’s in your possession and which you intend to use as
evidence at the trial of this case.

11, Provide a copy of any/all financial statements/applications you have submitted to
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banks/lending institations, dealerships, etc. over the past three (3) yeaxs.

12. Obtain and produce a copy of your most recent Social Security Statement. In order

to fulfill this request, you may log on to the internet website hitp://Ww;ss_a..g@vlmysmtem&nﬂf and
then click on the link, “Need to request a statement?” and follow the directions.
13.  All information regarding any website, blog, and/or Internet page(s) rega.rding you, which
you prepared, or for which you have Jog-in credentiats (including but not limited to any social
networking website such as Facebook, Twitter, LinkedIn, Adult Friend Finder or similar sites),
provide:
a. - Acomplete copy of such site, blog, and/or page (which can be obtained, for
example, by accessing the “Download a copy of your Facebook data” option at
www.facebook.com); and
b. Any information necessary to access in-full any such site, blog, or page if
same is pot fully accessible from the location/address provided. By answering this
request, you consent to full access of such site, blog, or page by Defendant’s counsel
for purposes of this lawsuit.
14. Please provide your phone records for the past year, as well as Emily’s phone records.
15.  Provide information on the South Carolina Tuition Pre-Payment accounts for your children
for the past three (3) years. Please provide a copy of the statements showing the amounts in each
child’s account.
16. Provide all private investigator repoxts, tracking information, etc., that you have obtained in

regards to surveillance on the Defendant over the past three (3) years.



A.tto _ ey for the Defendant
142 4% Avenne
Cehway, SC 29526

October 1, 2019



State of South Carolina IN THE FAMILY COURT OF THE

FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

County of Horry FILENO. 2019-DR-26-1437

Joseph Harold Capps, Jr.,

Plaintiff,

1
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" TO THE PLAINTIFF ABOVE, JOSEPH HAROLD CAPPS, JR., AND HIS.
ATTORNEY, ANITA F. LEE:

YOU WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that you are hereby required to answer

in writing, under oath, within thirty (30) days after service hereof upon you, the following

I. ) Please list the names, addresses and telephone numbers of any persons whom the Plaintiff

proposes to call as a witness at the trial of the case. For each witness, please give a brief

summary of the testimony that witness is expected to give.

2. Please list the names, addresses and telephone numbers of any expert witnesses whom the

Plaintiff proposes to call as a witness at the trial of this case. For each expert witness identified,
please give a brief sﬁmmary of the testimony that expert witness is expected to give and list all
correspondence, notes, writings, documents, and other records of any nature or description which
you or ..anyone acting on your behalf has furnished to that expert witness. In addition, please set

forth any verbal history, background or other verbal information given to this witness by you or

anyone acting on your behalf.



3. Please state your gross and net income as recorded on state and federal income tax
returns for the past three (3) years, naming the state(s) where you have filed state income tax
returns.

4, List any and all documents, records, reports, diagrams, photographs, video tapes, audio
tapes, etc., which relate fo this case or that the Plaintiff has in his possession or which the
Plaintiff plans to introduce at trial.

5. State your current work schedule.

6. List all health care providers you have seen during the past three (3) years and state
particular diagnoses made by such health care providers. - — o
7. List the counselors, psychologists and/or psychiatrists or any other mental health
practitioner you have been treated by or met with over the past three (3) years, stating the dates
you met with each one. Also provide the name(s), address(es) and phone number(s) of these
individuals. List each and every doctor you have seen over the past three (3) years.

8. List each and every prescription drug you have been prescribed during the past three (3)
yeé:s and each and every prescription drug you are currently taking along with the dosage.
Specifically include any and all antidepressants you have been prescribed, stating dosages, and
what health care professional prescribed it

9. List the health care providers the child has seen during the past three (3) years and state
the particular diagnoses made by such health care providers. Provide the name(s), address(es),
phone number(s) and date(s) the child was seen.

10.  List the counselors, psychologists and/or psychiatrists or any other mental health

practitioner you have had the child to see or have been treated by over the past three (3) years,

stating the dates the child met with each one. Also provide the names, addresses and phone

2



numbers of these individuals. Further, if the child has been prescribed medicine, list the drug(s)
and the dosage(s).

11.  List any persons you have the minor child around on a regular basis and state whether
or not they have a criminal record. State their full name, address, and date of birth and phone
number.

12, State any difficulties your child is having and how you are equipped to deal with

these difficulties.

13.  Identify any specific occurrences that demonstrate that the best interests of the child

- would be best served by placement with-you. Identify the occurrence by date and-describe the
occurrence,

14,  List each and every financial institution that you have provided a financial statement to
over the pasf three (3) years. Include each bank/financial institution, where you have applied for
a note/mortgage in your name or in conjunction with someone else, or name of a LLC in which
you are a partner.

15.  List any business, dealership, or credit card company where you have provided an
mcome statement.

16.  List any out-of-town trips you have been on in the last four (4) years. State dates and
specific locations and who you were with on such trips.

17.  List bank/financial institution where the Plaintiff has “funds for their (children) college
tuition”, stating the account number and amount of funds in such accounts.

18.  List all private investigators hired by you over the past three (3) years, providing phone
numbers and address.

These Interrogatories shall be deemed to continue from the time of service, until
3



October 1, 2019

the time of trial of the action, so that information sought, which comes to the knowledge of
a party, or his representative or attorney, after original Answers to Interrogatories have

been submitted, shall be promptly transmitted to the other party.

/ Attornéy for the Defendant
1422/4™ Avenue
Corfway, SC 29526



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) IN THE FAMILY COURT
) FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
COUNTY OF HORRY )
)
Joseph Barold Capps, Jr., 3
o ' Plaintiff, ) AFFIDAVIT OF MAILING
)
VS, )}
)
_Michelle Davis Capps, i )
R ' Defendant. ) Docket No. 2019-DR-26-1437

Personally appeared Rhette D. Stanley, who states that he served the Plaintiff’s counsel
with Defendant’s Interrogatories to Plaintiff, Defendant’s Reguest for Production of Documents
to Plaintiff; Medical Releases, along with Affidavit of Mailing by mailing: .

(Chéci{ onej N o
14 First class mail and Email

13 Certified mail

| 2| restricted delivery

return receipt requested

in the United States Mail, with proper postage attached and receipt attached (if applicable), on
-October 1, 2019 (date) addressed as follows:
Anita F. Lee
1115 Third Avenue
Conway, SC 29526

Sworn to before me this
-Gf October, 2019,

fyCormnission expires: _{ |

SCCA 406 (12/20609)



AUTHORIZATION AND RELEASE FOR
MEDICAL/PHARMACY/MENTORING/COUNSELING RECORDS

To: Dr, John E. Rathbun, 997 US-17 Bus., Myrtle Beach, SC 29577

1 hereby authorize the designated records custodian for the above-named hospital, institution, form
or corporation (the “Provider") to release, upon presentation of this authorization, to Julaan
Derrick, Esquire, and any of its agents or designees, copies of any and-all recorded information
concerning, JOSEPH HOWARD CAPPS, JR., including by way of example, but not limited to
the following: :

All emergency contacts, familial contact information, medical records, physicians' records,
counseling notes and records, recommendations, surgeons’ records, echocardiograms,
cardiac catheterizations, x-rays. CAT scams, MRI films, photographs, and any other
radiological, nuclear medicine, or radiation therapy films, pathology materials, slides,
tissues, laboratory reports, discharge summaries, progress notes, consultations,

. _ prescriptions, pharmacy records, records of drug abuse and aleohol abuse, HIV/AIDS .
diagnosis or treatment, physicals and histories, nurses’ notes, patient intake forms, '
correspondence, social worker's records, insurance records, consent for treatment,
statements of account, bills, invoices, or any other papers concerning any treatment,
examination, periods or stays of hospitalization, confinement, diagnosis or other
information pertaining to and concerning JOSEPH HOWARD CAPPS, JR..

This release authorizes the Provider to release the entire, unredacted records, pursuant to 45 CFR §
164.508 (HIPPA Authorization Requirements for Release of Protected Health Information), 42

CFR Part 2 (Federal Requirements for Release of Alcohol and/or Drug Abuse Program Records)

and 38 CFR Part 1 (Release of HIV/AIDS, Sickle Cell Anemia, Drug Abuse, Alcoholism or
Alcohol Abuse Records by the Department of Veteran Affairs (the “VA")).

I understand that these medical records are confidential, I understand that by signing this
authorization I am allowing the release of any medical information requested to the agency or
person specified above, including any HIV/AIDS and sickle cell anemia diagnosis and treatment
records that are specifically protected by the VA and/or state law or regulations. Drug and alcohol
abuse information recoxds are specifically protected by federal and/or state regulations and by
signing this authorization I am also allowing the release of any drug and/or alcohol information
records to the agency or person specified above. I also understand that by signing this
authorization I am authorizing the release of pharmacy and preseription information and records
that may be specifically protected by state law or regulations.

I understand that I may revoke this authorization at any time as explained by the Provider in its
Notice of Privacy Practices, except to the extent that action as already been taken in reliance upon
this authorization and release of medical records. I also understand that [ have the right to refuse to
sign this authorization and release of medical records. You may not condition treatment, payment,
enrollment, or eligibility for benefits on whether this authorization is signed. You are hereby
released from any and all liability in connection with the disclosure of records, documents,
writings and physical evidence to the above firms.



This authorization is continuing in nature and is to be given full force and effect to release any and
all of the foregoing information learned or determined after the date hereof until the end of the
litigation referenced above. This authorization also inctudes the authority to copy and inspect any
and all such information. A scanued and emailed or fax copy of this autherization.may be

used in place of and with the same force and effect as the original,

Date:

.To.s.éph Harold Capijé, w

Social Security Nui;iber

Date of Birth

Sworn to before me this

day of September, 2019,

Notary Public of South Carolina

Printed Name of Notary:
My Comnission expites:.




AUTHORIZATION AND RELEASE FOR
MEDICAL/PHARMACY/MENTORING/COUNSELING RECORDS

To: Dr. James R. Vest: 1413 US-17 Bus., Surfside, SC 29575

I hereby authorize the designated records custodian for the above-named hospital, institution, form
or corporation (the “Provider”) to release, upon presentation of this authorization, to Julaan
Derrick, Esquire, and any of its agents or designees, copies of any and all recorded information
concerning, JOSEPH HOWARD CAPPS, JR., including by way of example, but not limited to
the following:

All emergency contacts, familial contact information, medical records, physicians' records,
counseling notes and records, recommendations, surgeons' records, echocardiograms, -
cardiac catheterizations, x-rays. CAT scams, MRI films, photographs, and any other
radiological, nuclear medicine, or radiation therapy films, pathology materials, slides,
tissues, laboratory reports, discharge summaries, progress notes, consultations,
prescriptions, pharmacy records, records of drug abuse and alcohol abuse, HIV/AIDS
diagnosis or treatment, physicals and histories, nurses’ notes, patient intake forms,
correspondence, social worker’s records, insurance records, consent for treatment,
statements of account, bills, invoices, or any other papers concermning any treatment,
examination, periods or stays of hospitalization, confinement, diagnosis or other
information pertaining to and conceming JOSEPH HOWARD CAPPS, JR..

This release authorizes the Provider to release the entire, unredacted records, pursuant to 45 CFR §
164.508 (HIPPA Authorization Requirements for Release of Protected Health Information), 42
CFR Part 2 (Federal Requirements for Release of Alcohol and/or Drug Abuse Program Records)

“and 38 CFR Part 1 (Release of HIV/AIDS, Sickle Cell Anemia, Drug Abuse, Alcoholism or

Alcohol Abuse Records by the Department of Veteran Affairs (the “VA™)).

I understand that these medical records are confidential. I understand that by signing this
authorization I am allowing the release of any medical information requested to the agency or
person specified above, including any HIV/AIDS and sickle cell anemia diagnosis and treatment
records that are specifically protected by the VA. and/or state law or regulations. Drug and alcohol
abuse information records are specifically protected by federal and/or state regulations and by
signing this authorization I am also allowing the release of any drug and/or alcohol information
records to the agency or person specified above. I also understand that by sigring this
authorization I am authorizing the release of pharmacy and prescription information and records
that may be specifically protected by state law or regulations.

I understand that I may revoke this authorization at any time as explained by the Provider in its
Notice of Privacy Practices, except to the extent that action as already been taken in reliance upon
this authorization and release of medical records. I also understand that I have the right to refuse to
sign this authorization and release of medical records. You may not condition treatment, payment,
enrollment, or eligibility for bencfits on whether this authorization is signed. You are hereby
released from any and all liability in connection with the disclosure of records, documents,
writings and physical evidence to the above firms.



This authorization is contimuing in natwre and is to be given full force and effect to release any and
all of the foregoing information learned or determined afier the date hereof until the end of the
litigation referenced above. This authorization also includes the authority to copy and inspect any
and all such information. A scanned and emailed or fax copy of this authorization may be
used in place of and w1th the same force and effect as the original.

Date:

T oseph Harold Capps, Jr. :

Soc1aISecu1‘1tyNumbcr T

Datc of Birth

Sworn to before me this
day of September, 2019.

Notary Public of South Carolina.
Printed Name of Notary:
My Commission expires:




JULAAN DERRICK

Attorney at Law
1422 4% Ave, (843) 488-0881
P.O. Box 286 Fax: (843) 488-0884
Conway, SC 29526 i jllaw. cony
December 16, 2019
VIA EMAIL ONLY
Anita F. Lee
1115 Third Avenue
Conway, SC 29526

RE: Michelle Davis Capps vs. Joseph Harold Capps
File No. 2014-DR-26-1563

Dear Anita:

Please find enclosed Notice of Motion and Motion to Compel Discovery. Please send me your
unavailable dates.

With kind regards, I am

‘Vogy truly yours,

JD/rs
Enclosure
¢: Michelle Davis Capps (via email)
Heather Cannon



{ D Written motion attached

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) IN THE FAMILY COURT
} FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
COUNTY OF HORRY )
)
Joseph Harold Capps, J1., ) MOTION AND ORDER INFORMATION
' ' ' Plaintiff, ) FORM AND COVERSHEET
Vs, ) ,
) =, B
Michelle Davis Capps, ) 98- =20
” “Defendant. ) Docket No.2019-DR-26-14375 0 Zig
, e e
Plaintiff’s Attorney: T Defendant’s Attorney: Orgpn ‘SM
Julaan Derrik, Bar No, 1653 ' , Bar No, fecﬂ';“ 3 = M
Address: Address: <y -
1422 4th Ave., Conway, SC 29526 1 wZo T
Phone: 843-488-0881Fax 843-488-0884 Phone: Fax e =
E-mail: rhette@jdilaw.comOther: J Ecmail: _ Other:

[CIRORM MOTION, NO HEARING REQUESTED (complete SECTIONS I and III)
'EJPROI‘O‘SLD ORI)ER/CONSENT ORDER (complete SECTIONS II and III)

VMDTI()N HEARING REQUESTED (attach written motion and complete SECTIONS I and. III)

SECTION I: Hearing Information

| Nature of Motion: Motion to Compel Hearing

Estimated Time Needed: 30 mins. Court Repories Needed: _'Y...ES![:] NO.

" SECTION II: Motion/Order Type

" JForm Motion/Order-
jove{or relef or acfony.

dfouif as set forth in the attached proposed order.

\, y December ’__, 2019
:jflgnalure of Almmay for E] Plamtlff /E Defendant _Date submitted

SECTION III: Motion Fee o

[]PAID—, QUNTS_ _
T7] Rule to Show Cause in Child or Spousal Support
[ EXEMPT: Rule to Show C Child or Spousal Supp
(check reason) [.] Domestic Abuse or Abuse and Neglect

[} Tndigent Status ] S1ate Agency v. Indigent Party
] Sexnally Violent Predator- Act:  [] Posi-Conviction Relief
] Motion for Stay in Bankruptcy
[] Motion for Publication | Motion for Execution (Rule 69, SCRCP)
[] Proposed order submitted at request of the court; or,
" reduced to writing from motion made in open court per judge’s instructions

| Eflecmd by 1/%

Name of Coutt Reporter:
"] Other:
_ “JUDGE'S SECTION
"I] Motion Fee to be paid upon filing of the attached | IUDGE CODE
-order.
l:_] Other; N Date:
' C1 'ERK"S VERIFICATION

Date Filed: £

MOTION FEE COLLECTED: $ A '

| 7] CONTESTED — AMOUNT DUE: §

SCCA 233F (12/2009)
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S it 020 Ex Parte Order Judge Holmes signe

Canon 1 - A judge shall uphold the integrity and independence of the judiciary.

Canon 2-A judge shall avoid impropriety and the appearance of impropriety in all
of the judges activities.

Canon 3-A judge shall perform the duties of judicial office impartially and
diligently. (2) A judge shall be faithful to the law and maintain professional
competence in it. (3) A judge shall require order and decorum in proceedings
before the judge. (4) A judge shall be patient, dignified and courteous to litigants

" and other with whom the judge deals and shall require similar conduct of lawyers

and others subject to the judge’s direction and control (5) A judge shall perform
judicial duties without bias or prejudice. A judge shail not by words or conduct
manifest bias or prejudice. (7) A judge shall accord to every person who has a
legal interest in a proceeding the right to be heard according to law. A judge shall
not permit or consider ex-parte communications or consider other
communications made to the judge outside the presence of the parties. (8) A
judge shall dispose of all judicial matters promptly, efficiently and fairly.

Exhibit #19-Includes Certificate of Service, Ex-Parte Order, Email to Julaan Derrick
from Anita Floyd's office

The following are issues that | have with Judge Holmes concerning her signing off on
this Ex-Parte Order. First, | was never served-while | haven't been able to find an official
violation to reference, it certainly cannot be ok. It was hand delivered to my attorney and
then emailed to my attorney.

On June 22,2020; my aftorney, Julaan Derrick was at the court house and happened to
be waitlng to speak WIth Judge Holmes' regardlng a separa‘te case when Anita Floyd
&xited her chambers. Even though' they should have notified her prior to their ex-parte
communlcation neither informed Julaan of. the Ex Parte Order that: Judge Holmes had.
just signed, This is extremely corrupt and shows ‘collusion, bias, impropriety and much
more!

Rule 5(b)(3), SCRCP,
requires any party providing a proposed order, proposed findings of fact or conclusions
of law, or proposed judgement or other paper to the court for its consideration in any



pending matter shall serve the same on all counsel of record at the same time and by
the same means'-. It is a violation of the Rules of Civil Procedure and potentially a
violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct to send the court an ex-parte request that
has not been provided to opposing counsel prior to submission!

My attorney and | were never offered an opportunity to respond. Obviously Judge
Holmes and Anita Floyd spoke about the merits of this case when she was requesting

thiat she sign off on the Ex-Parte Order-this is not ethical or legall

Canon3(g) of the SC Code of Judicial Conduct
A judge shall not initiate, permit, or consider ex parte communications, or consider
other communications made to the judge outside the presence of the parties concerning

a pending or impending proceeding-except for a)scheduling, administrative purposes or

emergencies that do not deal with the merits of the case. If this occurs the judge is
required to allow the other party to respond — we were never offered an opportunity to
respond.

Judge Holmes signed off on an Ex-Parte Order that did not provide us with a notice of
motion or show in any way how any injury, loss or damage was ‘going to occur if the ex
parte order was not granted. Further there was no summons or complaint included and
there was no hour of issuance stated.

Requests for Substantive Relief:

No temporary restraining order shall be granted without notice of motion for the order to
the adverse party unless it clearly appears from specific facts shown by affidavit or by a
verified complaint that immediate and irreparable injury, loss or damage will result to the
applicant before notice can be served and a hearing had. Further, every temporary
restraining order granted without notice shall be endorsed with the date and hour of
issuance: shall be filed forthwith 1 the clerk’s office and entered of record; shail be
served, together with 2 summons and complaint in the event no summons and
complaint have previously been served in the action.

Jiidge Holmes signed off on an Ex-Parte Order that.did not define the injury, state why it

s ireparable arid why the order was granted without notice nor does the order include
an expiration date; Even though this was during Covid there were no instructions or
orders handed down from the Supreme Court to éxcuse this judicial abuse of power.
Rule 4:

Requesting attorney shall define the injury and state why it is irreparable and why the
order was granted without notice; and shall expire by its terms within such time after
entry, not to exceed 10 days.in no way were the following 3 requirements met prior to

the Ex-Parte Order being granted:



None of the below criteria were met even though Judge Holmes signed off on it.

1) Ex-Parte relief cannot be granted unless it clearly appears from specific facts shown
by affidavit or by a verified complaint that immediate and irreparable injury, loss or
damage will resutt to the applicant before notice can be served and a hearing had

2) The Ex-Parte Order must define the injury and state why it is irreparable and why the
order was granted without nofice

3) The Ex-Parte Order must, by its own terms, expire within 10 days.
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
COUNTY OF HORRY

Joseph Harold Capps, Jr.,
Plaintiff,

..VS-

Michelle Davis Capps,
__Defendant.

COPRPY

IN THE FAMILY COURT OF THE
FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
Case Number: 2019-DR-26-1437

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Bridget ). Potter, as an employee of the law firm of Anita Floyd Lee, counsel

for the Plaintiff in the above-entitled matter, certify that I have on the 227 day of

June, 2020, via Hand Delivery, the Ex Parte Order, Order and Rule to Show Cause,

Motion Form, Motion in Support of Rule to Show Cause and Affidavit of Plaintiff in

Support of Rule to Show Cause to the party listed below:

To:

Julaan Derrick

1422 Fourth Avenue
Conway, SC 29526

Attorney for Plaintiff
1115 Third Avenue 3¢
Conway, SC 29526 o
(843) 248-3206 ]




STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ] IN THE FAMILY COURT OF THE
COUNTY OF HORRY ) FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
' ) Case Numher:; 2019-DR-26-1437
Joseph Harold Capps, Jr., ) = i
Plaintiff; ) L N
) EXPARTEORDER . 7% ., 7.,
Vs~ ) R
Michelle Davis Capps, } coL, L
Defendant. ) o
TO: DEFENDANT ABOVE NAMED AND HER ATTORNEY, JULAAN DERR.ICI{::._;} R
' o

BASED UPON the contents of the Affidavit in support of a Rule to Shﬂow Cause to
which this Ex Parte Order is attached, together with the attachments to the said Rule to

this Court for the protection of the minor child, E.C.,, who is 17 years of age, as well as for
the protection of Petitioner’s relationship with the minor child, which appears to have
deteriorated since this child began spending unsupervised time with Defendant.

This Court recognizes that the issuance of an ex parte order, by its very nature,
denies opposing party significant due process rights, Therefore, it hesitates to issue such
an Order absent specific facts shown by affidavit or by verified complaint that immediate
and irreparable injury, loss or damage will or may result before notice can be served and a
hearing had thereon. In this instance, Petitioner/Plaintiff was awarded custody of the
minor child based upon serious aliegations of alienation, said allegations being verified by
Dr. Davis Henderson pursuant to a Report which has heretofore been provided to this
Honorable Court, a copy of which is attached to this Ex Parte Order for the recollection and
review of the parties. Nonetheless, by way of letter dated April 3, 2020,
Defendant/Respondent has determined that the minor child should remain with her and
she has apparently refused the requests and demands of Plaintiff/Petitioner that the child
be returned to his care. Accordingly, it appears as though this Court needs to provide

immediate relief and guidance.
Therefore, it is

ORDERED, that Defendant shall return the minor child to Petitioner/Plaintiff, or

shall otherwise make sure that the minor child is returned to her father, the Petitioner

L@%\l\

herein; and it is further,



ORDERED, that based upon the nature of this Order, a hearing shall be held on July
2020, at . o'clock, ____.m.,, before the Honorable

, in the Family Courtroom # , or at such other place

as may be announced prior to the hearing, located on the second floor of the Horry County
Government and Justice Center, 1301 Second Avenue, Conway, South Carolina, to
determine whether this Ex Parte Order should continue in accordance with the prior Order

awarding custody to Plaintiff, or if zt:w[;\ culd be modified in any particulars:
IT IS SO ORDERED, this ~. day of June, 2020, at Conway, South Carolina.

S : Orn & HSreree

Th¥ Honorable Jan Bromel-Holmes
Resident Judge for the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

Fifteenth Judicial Circuit




From: rhette@idllaw.com &
Subject: FW: Capps vs. Capps-Filed Ex Parte Order and Crdet and RTSC
Date: June 22, 2020 at 5:26 PM
To: Michelie Capps mdaviscapps@gmail.com, cannonhm@hotmail.com, cguyton@sccoast.net

Please see attached Exparte Order that Ms. Lee filed.

From: bpotter@anitaftoydiaw.com <bpotter@an itafloydlaw.com>

Sent: Monday, June 22, 2020 3:56 PM

To: 'Julaan Derrick' <jdl@jdllaw.com>; 'Rhette’ <Rhette@jdliaw.com>; sage@jdliaw.com
Subject: Capps vs. Capps-Filed Ex Parte Order and Order and RTSC

Good afternoon.

Enclosed please find another clocked copy of the Fx Parte and Order and RTSC that I just
hand delivered to your office.

We will need to submit our unavailable dates to schedule the hearing in the above matter
once Krystle returns.

Thank you.

Bridget J. Potter, Legal Assistant

Anita Floyd Lee

1115 Third Avenue

Conway, SC 29526

843.248.3206

843.248.7173 FAX

Hours: M-Th 8:30 —5:00, Fr 8:30 -12:00

#%+CONFIDENTIAL COMMUNICATION*** The information contained in this message
may contain legally privileged and confidential information intended only for the use of the
individual or entity named above. If the reader of this message is not the intended recipient
you are hereby notified that any dissemination, distribution or duplication of this
transmission is strictly prohibited. If you have received this communication in error, please
notify us by telephone or email immediately and return the original message to us or destroy
all printed and electronic copies. Nothing in this transmission is intended to be an electronic
signature nor to constitute an agreement of any kind under applicable law unless otherwise
expressly indicated. Intentional interception or dissemipation of electronic mail not
belonging to you may violate federal or state law.

L RDE

SKM_C554e200
62215490.pdf




Canon 1 - A judge shall uphold the integrity and independence of the judiciary.

Canon 2-A judge shall avoid impropriety and the appearance of impropriety in all
of the judges activities.

Canon 3-A judge shall perform the duties of judicial office impartially and
diligently. {2) A judge shall be faithful to the law and maintain professional
competence in it. {4) A judge shall be patient, dignified and courteous to litigants
and other with whom the judge deals and shall require similar conduct of lawyers
and others subject to the judge’s direction and control (5) A judge shall perform
judicial duties without bias or prejudice. A judge shall not by words or conduct
manifest bias or prejudice. (9) A judge shall not, while a proceeding is pending or
impending in any court, make an public comment that might reasonably be
expected to affect its outcome or impair its fairness or make any nonpublic
comment that might substantially interfere with a fair trial or hearing

Exhibit #ZO-IIncludes 06-28-20192 Order from the Supreme Court re: Duties of Family
Court Chief Judges for Administrative Purposes, Request for Hearing, email from me to
Greg Forman, email from Judge Holmes notifying everyone that the hearing had been
continued, email to Hal offering to help repair his relationship with the girls. Interesting
that on the same day he sent a settlement offer asking for Emily to sign documentation
to emancipate from him and for both girls to sign away any legal claims to him, my

attorney’s response to the settlement offer

It is hard to envision a scenario where ex-parte conversation and coliusion were not
going on between Judge Holmes and Anita Floyd for this to happen. Judge Holmes did
not even cite a good and sufficient legal cause for the continuance. Even though Covid
was going on | am not aware of any orders from the Supreme Court that negated the
ones issued on 06-28-2019. All of the needed information regarding this is found in the
exhibit.
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SC Judicial Branch ' 8/12/19, 8:56 PM

2019-06-28-01
The Supreme Court of South Carolina

Re: Duties of Family Court Chief Judges for Administrative Purposes

ORDER

The Ordar dated Novernbar 21, 2012, setting forth tha authority of family court judges designated as chief judges for administrative purpoeas is amended to read as
follows:

Pursuant to Article V, Section 4 of the South Carolina Canstituiion and S. C. Code Ann, §63-3-20,

{T IS ORDERED that the authority of a family court judge dasigrated as a chiaf judge for administrative purposes shall include, but not be limited to, the following
administrative purposas and acts;

1, To call, or cause lo be called, meetings of the county bar associations within the cireuit for the purpose of preparing trial
rostera and for such other purposes as they shall deem necessary. [n any circuit with two chief judges for administrative
purposes, each chief judge may call, or cause fo be called, these meetings for the county for which he or she has been
designated as chief judgs.

2 To set an ABC Trial Roster for all terms of family court and designate which presiding judge shall hear such triai roster or

~——rasiers. All contested "A" cases set for three or more hours are to be backed up by a ‘B¥ case and a "C" case. !f the "A" case

goes to trial, the "B" and "C" cases are to be continued and rescheduled as an "A" case. If any of the "A", "B", or "C" cases
settie, the presiding judge shall conduct a hearing to approve the settlement and dispose of the case(s) before commencing the
contested case. In any circuit with two chief judges for administrative purposes, each chief judge shall set the trial rosters and
designate which presiding judge shall hear the irial roster or rosters for the county for which he or she has been designated as
chief judge.

3.To establish ABC Trial Rosters that equitably assign cases to each presiding judge in all instances where multiple judges are
presiding over concurrent terms of famiy court.

4. To review the list of proposed cases submitted by DSS Child Protective Services for the development of and inclusion on the
tria! roster. A status conference for a matter on the list of proposed cases or trial roster may be scheduled at any time,

5. ‘To review the list of proposed Juvenile cases submited by the Department of Juvenile Justice or the Solicitor's Office for the
development of and inclusion on the trial roster. A status conference for a matter on the list of proposed cases or trial roster
may be scheduled at any time.

6. To hold all temporary hearings within four weeks of the request for such hearing being filed. To ensure that this timeiine is
met, the chief Judge for administrative purposes, with the assistance of the docketing clerk, shall monitor the scheduling of these
matters. In all temporary hearings allotied fifteen minutes, each party shall be limited to sight pages of affidavits, excluding
proposed parenting plans, financial declarations, attorneys' fees affidavits, and attachments or exhibits offerad only as verification
of information in the affidavits. Parties wishing 1o exceed the fifteen-minute limit must reguest additionat time from the
scheduling clerk. Any temporary hearing requiring more than thirty minutes must be deemed complex upon application to the
chief judge.

7. To equitably apportion a multi-county term among the designated counties.

8. To asaist the clerk of court in fulfiling his or her responsibility pursuant to §, C, Cade Ann. §14-17-210 to assign courirooms
and offices to the presiding circuit and family cour! judges.

9. To assure where practicable that family court convenes each day of a term within the guidelines specified by the Chief
Justice. In any circuit with two chief judges for adminisirative purposes, each chief judge shall be responsible for the county for
which he or she has been designated as chief judge.

10. To coordinate the activities of the family court with other affected persons and agencies 1o ensure cooperation and effective
judicial sarvice. In any circuit with two chief judges for administrative purposes, each chief judge shall coordinate the activities of
the family court for the county for which he or she has been designated as chief judge.

11, To direct the clerks of court and presiding judges to keep and maintain such records as deemed necessary, upon the
approval of the Chief Justice, of the disposition of cases during each term of family court. To help increase the reliability of
caseload information, regularly review the lists of pending cases in the records maintained by the clerks of court with the data
collected and reported by the South Carolina Judicial Branch and bring any discrepancies to the atiention of the clerks of court
so that the records may be reconciled,

12. To grant continuances when requested by counsel or self-represented litigants for good and sufficient legal cause stated in
writing prior to the commencement of any lerm of court.

https:/iwww.sccourts.org/courtOrders/displayOrder.cfm?orderNo=2018-06-28-01 Page 1 of



SC Judicial Branch 9/12/19, B:56 PM

13. To resolve any scheduling and other administrative problems which arise in conducting the terms of family court.

14. To ensure that all matters that arise during the weeks designated as "in chambers" are heard within the timeframes set by
statute or rule. :

15. To consider requests o be relieved of appointments to serve as counsel or guardian ad litem for indigents pursuanj fo Rule
B0B(f)(3). SCACR.

16. To perform such other administrative duties as shall be ass'igned from time to time by the Chief Justice.

17. Except as specifically authorized herein, no rule affecting the operation of the courts shall be adopted without prior approval
of the Chief Justice,

IT 18 FURTHER ORDERED that when a chief judge for administralive purposes has a conflict in a matter or proceeding and is
tharaby preavented from performing these duties in a matter or proceeding reserved to the chief judge for administrative
purposes, the foliowing procedures shall be followed:

a. In those circuits with only one chief administrative judge, the matter or proceeding shall be referred to the Chief Justice for
assignment to a chief administrative judge of an adjeining circuit fo administer

b. In those circuits with two chief administrative judges, the matter or proceading shall be referred to the other chief
administrative judge to administer. If the other chief administrative judge is also disqualified, the matter or proceeding shall be
referred to the Chief Justice for assignment to a chief administrative judge of an adjoining circuit to administer.

c. Should the chief administrative judge(s) in the circuit and those in the adjoining circuits be disqualified, the matter or
proceeding shall be referred fo the Chief Justice for assignment to a chief administrative judge of another circuit to administer.

{T IS FURTHER ORDERED that if & trial or hearing has commanced end the judpe is unable to proceed, the chief judge for administrative purposes shall aesign the trial
or hearing to a successer judge. If the chief administrative judge has a conflict and is thereby preventad from perfarming this duty, the matter shall be referred to the
Chief Justica to assign a successor judge. The successor judge may procead with the tial or hearing upon certifying familiarity with the racard and determining that the
proceadings may be completed without prejudice fo the parties. The successor judge shall at tha request of a party recall any witnass whose testimony is material and
disputed and who |s avaliable to testity without undue burden. A successor judge may provide for the recall of any witness.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this Ordar shall remain in sffact until amended or rescinded by Order of the Chiaf Justice.

Dopald W, Beatty
] Chief Justice of South Carolina
Columbia, South Carolina
June 28, 219

hitps:/www.sccourts.arg/courtOrders/displayQrder.cfm?orderNo=2019-06-28-01 o Page 2 of 2



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) IN THE FAMILY COURT

) —JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
COUNTY OF HORRY )
)

JOSEPH HAROLD CAPPS, JR., _ ) REQUEST FOR HEARING
' ' Plaintiff, )
V8. )
)
_MICHELLE DAVIS CAPPS, _ )

o S Defendant, ) Docket No. 2019-DR-26-1437

Plaintiff’s Attorney: Julaan Derrick
Mailing Address: 1422 Fourth Avenue, Conway, SC 29526
Telephone: (843)488-0881 ext. ____ Fax: (843)488-0884
Email: © Terri@jdilaw.com

Defendant’s Attorney:Anita Floyd Lee - -
Mailing Address: 1115 Third Avenue, Conway, SC 29526
Telephone: (843)248-3206 ext, _____ Fax:

Email: bpotter@anitafioydlaw.com

—

(Guardian ad Litem: Heather Cannon
Mailing Address: 1421 Third Avenue, Conway, SC 29526
Telephone: (843)488-2426 ext. ____ Fax:

Email: cguyton@sccoast.net

Type of Hearing: 2nd Temporary Hearing via Submission
Time Needed: 30 minutes

Dates and Times Unavailable:

Child Custody at Issue: [X] Yes ] No
Are Other Issues Contested Yes [ 1No If yes, explain:

[f yes to either above, submit a mediation report.

Comments and Issues:

Hearing Requested by: Julaan Derrick Date: 7/24/20
For: [] Plaintiff [X] Defendant

****Section below to be completed by Clerk of Court, ****
The hearing in this matter is scheduled for 12th day of August 2020,at 9:30 (time)

Xa.m./[_Jp.m., Courtroom via Submission, before the Honorable James McGee for 30 minutes
(length of time}.

SCCA 410 (12/2009)



From: Michelle Capps {[mailto:mdaviscapps@gmail.com]
Sent: Wednesday, August 12, 2020 7:00 PM

To: Gregory Forman <attorney@gregoryforman.com>; Julaan
<jdi@id!law.com>

Subject: Capps

Greg-

| wanted to get your advice on any possible options for recourse on a

the GAL & counselor were both in support of me getting custody
retumed. Anita realized we had their support and sent me and Julaan
a “settlement offer” - requesting Emily emancipate herself and that
both of our daughter's sign documentation agreeing to not pursue any
future legal action against Hal and that they basicaily were releasing
him from any financial support - they also requested that the appeal
and coilege support cases be dropped along with some other items.
Of course, we did not agree. Anita then requested a phone conference
to be scheduled between her, Julaan and Judge Holmes, she is the
administrative judge at this time. A phone conference was scheduled
for this past Monday, 8/10 at 12:00. Anita/Hal were upset that even
though they had filed the Ex-Parte and RTSC(requesting 5+ days)
against me when we filed for a temporary custody hearing it was
scheduled rather quickly, due to only needing a very small amount of
time, and they still have not been given a date. My regaining custody
basically nullifies their claims. Julaan is not aware of any law

or precedent that would provide that one hearing is not able to take
place prior to the other. Even though a phone conference or WebEx
meeting had been scheduled, Judge Holmes just sent out the
following email, which of course, gave Julaan no ability to express her
beliefs or ask any questions etc.:






and have positive things to say. | honestly was so hopeful that not-only wouid these feelings last, but

From: Michelle Capps <mdaviscapps@gmail.com>
Date: Fri, Jul 31, 2020 at 1:51 PM

Subject: Emily

To: Hal <halman26{@acl.com>

Hal-
Hope that you are well,

After Emily returned home | saw such an improvement in her attitude and relationship with you. She
genuinely was enjoying her time with you, and she would lock forward fo dinners that y’all had
planned and spending time with you. When you would bring her back she would be in a good mood

that they would go stronger and possibly even bridge over o you reaching out fo Haley Kathryn.
Obviously, all of this progress was halted when you filed the Ex Parte Order and RTSC. | know that
you are aware that Emily feels that you lied to her and that you don't genuinely care about having a
relationship with her, that you are using her to harm me and that everything that you have done to
Haley Kathryn will inevitably be done to her as well. | want you to know that | am doing everything |
can to counter these thoughts and emotions with her. | encourage her to reach out to Tamara so that
she can process her emotions/ feelings with her, and everyday | ask her to respond/ reach out to
you. She is 17 years old now and it is a difficult age for many reasons. Neither of us can any longer
force or make her do anything. This transition into her young adulthood isn't easy. She is going to
make mistakes, and she is going fo make bad choices. | want both of our daughters to know that
they are loved and supported by both of their parents. | constantly try to think about what | couid
possibly do fo help this situation. One thing that | have come up with is that if you would agree, |
would be willing to meet with you and Emily together. You could pick the place/ time that worked for
you. I think that if Emily could see us on the same page, being respectful and cordial to each other it
could possibly go a long way with her. | am not naive in thinking that we could change her feelings
about what has happened in the past, but | am hopeful that we could help her to care enough about
frying again to have a relationship with you. College applications open up tomorrow, and Emily will
begin applying to colleges and making pians for moving on before we know it. Even though her
senior year is going to be very different than what we had envisioned., 1 still want it to be the

best ever for her. In order for that to happen, she needs to have a positive relationship with her
father. She needs to feel your love and support.

| hope that you will agree with my offer, and | want you to know that this exiends to Haley Kathryn as
well. Take some time fo think about it and let me know your thoughts.

M



ANITA R. FLOYD

A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION
Telephone: (843) 248-3206
Facsimile; (843) 248-7173
1115 Third Avenue P. O. Box 1482
Conway, SC 28526 Conway, SC 29528-1482

July 29, 2020

Via E-Mail and U.S. Mail

Ms. Julaan Derrick

Conway, South Carolina 29526
idl@jdllaw.com

Re: Capps vs. Capps
Dear Julaan:

After an event of last week, my client and his wife have realized that Michelle
cannot and will not change, regardless of how many experts tell her she is wrong, or {ry
to help her overcome the pathology that has created this alienation of the children from
their father. Hal Heidt had a good handle on the situation, but Michelle left him the
moment he confronted her. She was not honest with Helen Bayne, the counselor she
was to see for alienation, yet who had no idea of many of Michelle's antics.

Likewise, Ken Smith was Michelle’s choice - until he confronted her and tried to
address why the children were so alienated from their father. Most recently, Julia
Castillo has indicated that Michelie refused to attend the Court Ordered counseling with
her, and Julia provided a copy of a letter from you that your client was not going to
attend the counseling that had been Court Ordered.

Dr. Capps has 2 Rules pending, and | have expressed my belief that if Michelle is
found in Contempt of Court, she will most probably be sentenced fo a term of
imprisonment, and that given her blatant refusal to even attend the Court Ordered
counseling, | thought the sentence may be months rather than days. Despite your
proclamations in Court, vindication is not now, nor has it ever been, my client’'s motive.
He divorced Michelle, not the children, and although Michelle expressed that if Hal
didn’'t want her he couldn’t have the children, he did not think Michelle would be able to
destroy the relationship he had developed and nurtured from the time Haley Katheryn
and Emily were born until the time he divorced Michelle. However, he was wrong.

Whether Michelle will acknowledge this or not, the facts will show and the experts
will agree that Emily and her dad were re-establishing their relationship when Michelle
was not allowed any unsupervised contact with Emily (notwithstanding that Michelle
disregarded the “no contact” aspect of the order). However, the relationship plummeted
to a new low after the supervision aspect of Emily’s contact with her mother was lifted.
pe. 1

Capps vs. Capps
Offer to Settle




In fact, she has gone from solo and family trips with Hal and his wife Sherri, to once
again refusing to spend time with her dad. | believe it is de facto contempt, though that
would be for the Court to decide.

As | am sure you know, Emily did go back to Dr. Capps' house after Court on
July 8™ she went straight up to her room, packed up most of her clothes which Michelle
had alleged were already at Michelle’s house, and then she walked out and said she
was not going to stay with Dr. Capps.

Over the course of the last few weeks, Dr. Capps and Sherri have prayed about
this; they have discussed the situation with trusted friends and family; and they have
decided that the next step — seeking Michelle’s imprisonment — is not going undo the
alienation which Michelle has caused.

Although he is not sure what Michelle has “won”, he does concede that if she
accepts the following offer, she will never be held accountable for her actions: '

1. Emily wants to live with her mother, and she does not want to follow the
Court's Order. Accordingly, she should be emancipated. That way, she will
not have fo worry about living with her father or even about seeing him; and
Michelle will have what she wants which is for Emily to live with her. If Emily
wants to see Dr. Capps, she can contact him at her pleasure, and he wili
always be available.

2. Dr. Capps will release Haley Katheryn's SC Prepaid College account, and
she can do with it what she wants. Dr. Capps will not be financially obligated
to provide anything further for Haley Katheryn, though if Haley Katheryn ever
needs anything, she can contact her dad at her pleasure.

3. As Haley Katheryn is an adult, and Emily will be emancipated, there is no
reason to address custody any furiher.

4. Plaintiff will not seek prorated child support from Defendant (as this was
reserved at the initial custody hearing); he will not seek further attorney’s fees
from Defendant.

5. Defendant shall be responsible for all outstanding fees and costs to all
experts as well as to the Guardian ad litem.

8. All pending actions in all courts (appellate and trial court) shall be dismissed
by both parties, and each will pay his/her own attorney’s fees.

7. If the children need anything, they can contact their dad and they will discuss
with Dr. Capps directly whatever the issue may be. Finances will be between
the children and their father, with NO interference by Defendant.

pe. 2
Capps vs. Capps
Offer to Settle




8. There will be no lawsuits brought by the children, and they will both sign this
document showing that it is their desire to be treated as adults so that they
cannot be bound by any court order.

9. Currently, in the Marital Settlement Agreement, Section (b) “Insurance”
provides that Dr. Capps is to maintain a $1,000,000 insurance policy with
Defendant as beneficiary, and that Defendant has the option of purchasing up
to an additional $1,000,000 of life insurance on Plaintiff at her expense. This
provision of the Agreement will be modified to provide that neither party will
be allowed insurance on the life of the other.

Dr. Capps believes that Michelle is pathological and histrionic, and that she is
obsessed with him and what he does. He knows she has asked both children
to take pictures of what is in his house, and she has misrepresented herself

life.

Dr. and Mrs. Capps are actually leaving the neighborhood as soon as they
can, as they do not think they are safe with the Defendant so close, and they
hope that if distance is provided, perhaps Michelle wilt stop the very unhealthy
obsession she has with them.

Please review this with your client and let me know if we can have a global

settlement of all issues according to the terms of his offer.

CC.

pe. 3

Sincerely,

Anita F. Lee

Heather M. Cannon
Julia Castillo
Tamara Willard
Gregory Foreman

Capps vs. Capps
Offer to Settle




JULAAN DERRICK
Attorney at Law
1422 Fourth Avenue
Conway, South Carolina 29526

P.O. Box 286
(843)488-0881 Conway, SC 29526
Fax: (843) 488-0884

August 7, 2020

Via Einail Only
Anita L. Floyd

1115 Third Avenue
Conway, SC 29526

RE: Joseph Harold Capps, Jr. vs. Michelle Davis Capps
Case No.: 2019-DR-26-1437

L]

Dear Anita,

My client has no idea what the “event of last week” was that convinced your client “Michelle
cannot change.” Further, Hal Heidt (Hal’s buddy, Facebook friend and patient) did not have a
“cood handle” on anything. He simply was Hal’s number one witness, who offered as evidence an
illegally obtained recording that occurred in his office, allegedly without his knowledge or consent,
prior to the Final Order being signed. Further, when I requested a copy of his records, he refused 1o
send e anything, Could it be that no records exist?

In regards to Ken Smith, his clinical records, billing statements and testimony do not match. Iis
notes describe behavior with HK in a session when she was not present, due to getting her senior
pictures made. He described issues with both girls in session when both were out of town on their
mission trips and could not have been in a session. He further described how sad Hal was that the
girls refused to spend any time during Thanksgiving with him. In fact, the girls spent Thanksgiving
with their father and his family and had an en_}gyablc day. Michelle never was his patient and he
never confronted her about the children being alienated from their father. Further, Ken Smith
continued working with your client and both of the girls until we went to court. Your client
obtained an affidavit from Ken Smith to support the Ex Parte Order, which was totally frandulent.
In his affidavit he stated that in July 2018, Hal and both girls discussed the statements in your



client’s affidavit supporting his desire for Michelle to be imprisoned and for the girls to both go to
foster cate. He stated that both of the girls were fine with their father’s requests of the court and
they never brought it up again. In May 2019, after Emily and HK both had actually became aware
of your client’s requests, Emily spoke to her father and explained how his requests to put her and
K in foster care and her mother in prison had greatly upset her and caused her to not feel safe
being with him that weekend. In his affidavit, Ken Smith, inferred that this emotional outburst must
have been Michelle's doing, since they had already addressed this issue in July 2018. Hal has
recently confessed to Tamara Willard and Emily that the subject of his requesting the court to put
the children in foster care was never discussed with Ken Smith and the gitls. Since this monumental
“discussion” was never referenced in any of Ken Smith’s clinical notes it makes sense that it actually
never took place.

~ Inregards to Julia Castillo, it was obvious from the beginning, where her loyalties lied. She
would make statements about Emily’s behavior at Hal’s residence, when clearly she would not have
been there to witness such, and was only repeating what Hal told her. Also, Julia would include Hal
on her texts with Michelle but would clearly have texts with Hal that Michelle was never copied on.
Further, Julia was the one who did not show up for the last counseling session with Michelle, and
never called to reschedule. Julia NEVER even mentioned co-parenting sessions for almost an entire
year and not until after Emily had remained at horme with Michelle. It was never important to Julia
when Michelle was having ridiculously limited time with Emily, nor was it important to Julia not to
share false statements of Michelle’s with Hal.

With Hal’s permission, Emnily remained at home with Michelle beginning in March. During this
time Emily and her father would frequently go out to supper and text and call each other. Your
client had no problem returning Emily back to Michelle’s after they had been out. Hal allowed
Emily to come over to his house and pack up her clothes and personal items on several occasions to
take back to Michelle’s. Further, your client even packed up rmore of her things and brought themn
over to her at Michelle’s house. Emily did not have to take a bunch of stuff back to Michelle’s on
July 6th, as the vast majority of all of her clothes and personal items, were already there. Your
client’s behavior clearly demonstrated his approval of Emily living with Michelle,

Your client’s relationship with Emily is at a “new low” because of him being more interested in
incarcerating Michelle than having a relationship with Emily. This is something that he promised
Emily that he would not do. This action devastated Emily and proved to her, yet again, that her
father hates her mother more than he loves her. There is no “de facto™ conternpt on my client’s part,
just a very bad decision on your client’s part to obtain an Ex Parte Order without notifying the
opposing counsel and “blind siding™ all of the parties involved, especially Emily.




Seeking Michelle’s financial ruin and imprisonment has in fact lead to your client’s
estrangement from both of his daughters. His main goal has been to harm Michelle, not have a
relationship with his children. Even Dr. Henderson did not call it “alienation” and he based his
opinion on false information from. your client about Michelle interfering with his relationships with
his daughters, when he was the one who did not exercise his visitation.

In a six day contempt hearing, Judge Bromell- Hoimes only found Michelle in contempt for one
incident involving the children, which was when Michelle told the girls to record their father’s
explosive and frightening behavior at a restaurant. This is same time he stole HK's phone and lied
to two police officers about it. My client is paying $40,000 in alimony reductions for this Incident,
along with 2 other minute issues. One of which is notifying bim that due to her being included in
the Equifax data breach and having to put overrides on all of her accounts, he was no longer going
to be able 1o deposit her support checks into her account. According to your client, there was no
other way for him to get the checks to her. Since then, I have had to write you because recently he
somehow found a way to put the checks in her mailbox, something that he couldn’t possibly do the
last time we were in court.

My client is not concerned about returning to court. Further, it has become abundantly clear,
what your client’s motivations truly are. He wants Michelle in jail and broke. He has little, to no
regard, for the emotional well being of his children, On many occasions you have stated that your
client divorced my client, not his children. In actuality, my client is the one who divorced your
client. My client retained an attorney in April of 2012, T believe that you weren’t retained until nine
months after that, While your client did initially show up to the courthouse, once he realized all of
the evidence proving his adultery, he snuck out. My client divorced him by herself, and did so
with pleasure. Your offer to have Bmily emancipated is exactly that, a request to divorce his child.
Therefore, my client will respond to your offer as foliows:

1) Emily will not be emancipated. Your client will not shuck his responsibilities by refusing to
financially provide for her until she graduates from High School.

2) Hal had no right to ever block or deny HK her SCTPP account. [ wrote to you sometime back
and asked you to address this with him. Also, I warned you that an action could be filed, butI was
hopeful that Michelle would be satisfied if HK could receive these funds. This fell on deaf ears as
did HK s direct pleas to her father. His response to her request for her funds was hateful and upset
her greatly. Thercfore, his offer that if she ever needs anything, she could contact him, we all know

~doesn’t work. Greg Forman has already filed an action for college support.

3} Custody of Emily will be returned to Michelle.
4y Child support; Your client cannot get something he did not ask for. More specifically, he stated
he was not seeking child support. I am sure he did this so he would not have to disclose his




Your client will pay child support to Michelle, back to the date Emily was allowed to move back
home, with his permission. I need an updated financial declaration from your client, or you can get
me the information that I requested through the discovery. If I do not receive this information by
August 10th, I plan to file a Motion to Compel.

5) Costs- Your client brought this action and he alone will be responsible for her attorney fees
($29,202) along with the expert fees ($3,500 Davis Henderson, $2,300 Tamara Willard, $658.80, to
La Toya Simmons, $2,500 to Helen Wheeler, and $2,400 to Julia Castillo) and the balance of the
Guardian ad Litem foes. Michelle lost $2,000 in taxes. She paid for Mission trips while he had her
which costs $1,400.

6} All pending actions will remain open. However, if your client will reimburse Michelle for the
monies she lost on the Rule Action ($40,000), the counseling fees and costs refated fo this action
($16,378.80) along with $29,202 in attorney fees, she will agree to settle this custody issue.

7) The children contacting their father for anything that they need does not work. It has already
been tried. Your client has already written off HK and refused to reinstate her SCTPP plan when
she spoke with him.

8) The children will not sign documentation to waive any lawsuits.

9} Life Insurance: This is actually a $2 million dollar life insurance policy. One million is designated
with Michelie solely as the beneficiary and the other $1 million is to be designated solely to HK and
Emily as the beneficiaries. Michelle, nor the children, will waive being named as the beneficiaries of
this policy. In fact, you client needs to provide immediate proof to Michelle that he still has this
policy and that there has been no changes made to the beneficiary. My client did not represent being
the current spouse. She told the insurance comparny her name, which is stilf Capps. Further, in this
policy she is listed as the “ex-spouse”, representing herself as someone who is not supposed to be
included in this policy would not have helped her to get the information that she sought. Further,
your client needs to immediately provide Michelle with a complete account history for both of the
Roth IRA accounts that they set up for their daughters, including any recent contributions and
balances. Your client needs to provide access to Michelle so that she is able to check on both the
life insurance policy and the Roth IRA accounts.

My client has not requested friends and neighbors to surveil your client. However, your client
did approach a friend of Michelle’s, in a very accusatory manner, regarding the affidavit that she
provided her at the temporary hearing. Your client did this in the presence of many others,

During the course of this action my client has had a tracker placed on her car, and obtained
evidence on her cell phone and home computer of it being hacked. She was excluded from medical
decisions concerning Emily and was not notified when Emily was diagnosed with a Major
Depressive Disorder along with suicidal ideation, after your client obtained custody. She further
was not included on the decision to place Emily on an antidepressant or birth control.



Coincidentally, Michelle and HK. were both dropped as patients of Dr Bibb, on the exact same day
that Judge Buchanan continued Hal’s temporary custody of Emily, This is the same office where
Hal’s current wife is employed and this was done without any nolice or explanation to my client.
Further, the exact same day, the exact letter that was sent to Michelle and HK was also sent to a
friend of Michelle’s dismissing her from Hal’s dentel practice. Hal blocked Michelle on Emily’s
school accounts and made false statements to Emily’s school regarding Michelie. Hal has slandered
and defamed Michelle and his daughters to anyone in this community who would listen to him. The
fact that he attempts to call himself a victim is laughable. He has attempted to sell his house on
many occasions before, and more recently did not allow Emily in the house because he was doing
some work on it.

1 is totally ridiculous that your client claims he-does not feel “safe” in the same neighborhood.
Actually, it demonstrates your clients narcissistic personality to believe, that Michelle is obsessed
with him. He has initiated 2 contempt actions and a custody action over the past four years and this
has cost Michelle well over $100,000.00+ that she does not have. I believe that it is your client’s
realization that he will never have Michelle again that has created his obsession with her; his desire
to punish her for this by financially breaking her and trying to put her in jail is what has been fueling
his legal actions.

We hope that the parties will be able to agree to these terms and end this nightmare custody
dispute once and for all. While I can appreciate that the thought of having to reimburse Michelie for
her attorney fees and costs/ fees ete. associated with this case is not appealing, would remind you
that going forward those costs/fees are only poing to increase greatly. We believe that this whole
action was frivolous and brought by fraudulent means. We have no doubt that any judge would
come to the same realizations and after looking at the shocking discrepancies in their incotoes,
would recognize the purposeful abuse thet has taken place and grant most of Michelle’s fees, costs,
expenses to her. If we end up having to go to {rial, Michelle will be bringing in Dr. Richard
Warshak, the nation’s foremost expert on Parental Alienation and Realistic Estrangement. While
bringing him all the way from Texas will be quite costly, it will be worth having him shut down this
nonsense once and for all. Before you respond please look at his website: www, Warshak.com I
have also attached one of his recent publications: When Evaluators Get it Wrong: False Positive
IDs and Parental Alienation.

parentalalienationregearch.com ) PDI » 2019warshak

Please discuss these terms with your client and get in touch with me as soon as possible. We need
fo seftle this matter if we can. Emily deserves to have a happy and stress free senior year. She 1s an

intelligent, and kind hearted young lady and she does not deserve being caught upin a continued



jegal battle at her age. I believe the fact that emancipation is your client’s answer is, in fact, proof
of who Emily needs to be with.

With kind regards, I am
Very truly yours,
e Derrick
JD:rs
client

Heather Cannon
Tamara Willard
Latoya Simmons
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ici i tion for C i ismisse
Canon 1 - A judge shall uphold the integrity and independence of the judiciary.

Canon 2-A judge shall avoid impropriety and the appearance of impropriety in all
of the judges activities.

Canon 3-A judge shall perform the duties of judicial office impartially and
diligently. (2) A judge shall be faithful to the law and maintain professional
competence in it. (4) A judge shall be patient, dignified and courteous to litigants

~ and other with whom the judge deals and shall require similar conduct of lawyers

and others subject to the judge’s direction and control (5} A judge shall perform

judicial duties without bias or prejudice. A judge shall not by words or conduct

manifest bias or prejudice. (9) A judge shall not, while a proceeding is pending or

impending in any court, make an public comment that might reasonably be

expected to affect its outcome or impair its fairness or make any nonpublic

comment that might substantially interfere with a fair trial or hearing.

D. Disciplinary Responsibilities

2) A judge who receives information indicating a substantial likelihood that. A

lawyer has committed a violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct contained

in Rule 407, SCACR, should take appropriate action. A judge having knowledge

that a lawyer has committed a violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct that

raises a substantial question to the fawyer’s honesty, trustworthiness or fithess

as a lawyer in other respects shall inform the appropriate authority.

E. Disqualification

1) A judge shall disqualify himself in a proceeding in which the judge’s
impartiality might reasonably be questioned a) the judge has a personal bias
or prejudice concerning a party or party’s lawyer.

* By now | believe that | have given enough examples of obvious misconduct that was
witnessed, encouraged and colluded with by Judge Holmes. | further believe she is in
violation of not reporting Anita Floyd for extreme violations of Professional
Misconduct.



* When Judge Holmes took on this college support case | was in an active appeal
against her. | believe that she absolutely should have recused herself so as not to
continue with her appearance of impropriety and bias. One of my claims was how she
never required Hal to abide by the Rules of Court and comply with Rule 20, SCFCR
and require him to file a Financial Declaration - which she also never did for any
motion or hearing regarding this case as well.

* 1 did not purchase a franscript for this hearing as | was not able to afford an appeal.

* | filed this college support case on 7/30/20 - if this had been addressed in our MAA
and divorce settlement why did this go on so long-why hadn't that been referenced in
any affidavits, motions or even in Hal's November 2, 2021, Motion for Dismissal? This
November 2, 2021, hearing was a prime example of corruption, collusion, and was a
total ambush. Horrific display of legal, financial and-judicial abuse.

To help keep things straight | will do a basic timeline for this case:

July 30, 2020 - | filed the action for college support

July 31, 2020 - Hal sent a letter to offer settlement on our custody case in which he
requested our youngest legally emancipate from him and both daughters sign
documents to sever any legal ties and financial responsibilities for college support or
anything else from Hal.

September 25, 2020 - Hearing for the motion for temporary relief - Hal once again did
not file a financial declaration and made no mention of college support or any of his
financial responsibilities for the girls’ education already being settled.

September 25, 2020 - Hal files an 81 page Answer/Counterclaim where again not one
thing is referenced to college support or any of his financial responsibilities for the girls’
education already being settied in our final agreement.

September 25, 2020 - Hal files his Affidavit where again not one thing is referenced to
college support or any of his financial responsibilities for the girls’ education already
being settled. Further he claims that he offered to provide payment for college to our
oldest daughter if she would go to counseling - she had already been in college for over
a year at this time and told her that she was not welcome in his house or office and cut
off her health insurance.

September 25, 2020 - Hearing for Temporary Support was denied by Judge Holmes
October 5, 2020 - we filed the Reply to Hal's Counterclaim requesting an Order for it to
be dismissed

October 5, 2020 - Hal fited Defendant’'s Responses



October 29, 2021 - My affidavit in return for Hal’s motion for a protective order and to
dismiss

November 1, 2021 - My return for Hai's motion for a protective order and to dismiss
November 2, 2021 - Hal's 14 page affidavit to block me from his financials and to
dismiss the college support case. No exhibits or references to his request for counseiing

- with Haley Kathryn nor is one thing referenced to college support or any of his financial

responsibilities for the girls’ education already being settled in our final order.
November 2, 2021 - Hearing for the motion to block me from Hal’s financials and to
dismiss my case for college support. Judge Holmes did not make a ruling. We
expressed how out of order this hearing was- we had not even requested Hal's
financials and this should have just been brought up at the hearing. We literally had
Mediation scheduled the next day! - S

November 3, 2021 - Mediation with Melissa Frazier - once again not one thing is
referenced to college support or any of his financial responsibilities for the girls’
education already being settled.

November 12, 2020 - Filed - Final Order denying motion to request Hal to contribute to
Haley Kathryn's college expenses on a temporary basis

December 13, 2021 - Judge Homes issues her ruling and dismisses the case-asks

Anita Floyd to draft the Final Order
March 9, 2022 - Final Order filed for Dismissal of coliege support

Exhibit #21 - Includes copy of the bank note, copy of our Marital Asset Addendum, Text
from Haley Kathryn when he blocked the release of her SC Tuition Prepayment Plan,
Haley Kathryn’s Estimated Cost of Attendance at Honors College at USC, My 9/25/2020
Affidavit for Temporary Relief for College Support, 9/25/2020 Order for no Temporary
Support, 10/29/2020 My Affidavit, 11/1/2020 My Return, 11/2/2020 Hal's Affidavit,
3/15/2021 Hal's Mction to Dismiss, Emails regarding issues with final order that were
never adhered to, 3/9/2022 Final Order Dismissing the case.

Fven though | can refute every issue cited in her ruling that is not the purpose of
this complaint. | will provide some additional information on a few key points:
1) The SCTPP was set up in 2003 — the amount paid into them was from both of us.

During our divorce in 2014 the remaining balance was settled just like any other



3)

5)

outstanding debts we had-Hal agreed to pay the remaining balance and any monies/
assets that | received were offset by the debts that he agreed to take on. | took
LESS so that he would cover any outstanding debt. So again-both SCTPP accounts
were contributed to equally by both of us. The only thing our MAA references is that
he agreed to pay the remaining balance of the plans and | took less assets for him
to do so. If we had any forewarning of this claim | could have easily gotten affidavits
from my divorce attorney, George Hearn and my forensic accountant Jeff Kinard but
again, this was an ambush.

There is no case law that requires the girls to bring forward this action or be a party

to this case! | have not attempted to present any statements by either of the giris so

no hearsay

While we were married we always knew that we would need a lot more money to
pay the difference in tuition and what the girls would need for overall college
expenses. For over 10 years we were paying around $35k per month for the loan for
the dental practice. Instead of paying intc a 529 account we chose to focus on
paying down the practice loan. That is why even after we were separated in 2012, |
agreed to sign off on helping Hal to refinance the practice loan. Our house was in
my name and was needed for collateral for the new loan. By refinancing 1 literaily
saved Hal over $200k + in interest payments and the practice loan was paid off in
June of 2018 instead of 2020. Haley Kathryn graduated from high school in 2019
and Hal persuaded me to help him refinance by promising fo use the exira $35k he
would now have each month in disposable income to provide whatever the girls
needed for college and graduate school. He promised me that they could go to any
college they could get in to and could take part in any activity — sorority, study
abroad-whatever they could qualify for he would be able to pay for.

Why does Judge Holmes request for Anita to submit the exhibits that support her
ruling - in the beginning paragraph she states that she has fully reviewed the file and
all its submissions - again this shows extreme bias.

One of the greatest frustrations | have experienced throughout all this judicial,
financial and legal abuse is how false statements get placed in Final Orders and

then they appear to be true, and | am stuck with them fo deal with. On the bottom of



8)

9

the 1t page of Judge Holmes ruling the last sentence states.... Due to documented
alienation by the mother as determined in Court orders... glad she at least
acknowledged only the orders show it.

The 2nd page-1st paragraph where she references public policy and life’s lessons. ..
has no grounds and is just too much! Her constant negative put downs and slander
of my daughter’s is beyond biased.

The email that is referenced on page 2 of the ruling has never once been
authenticated or validated. Judge Holmes arrogantiy speaks on this with full
conviction when it should not even be up for discussion or even referenced. She

should not be basing her ruling on things that have never been testified to and at the

~ very least authenticated. | feel that this is another extreme example of biased judicial

behavior. She shouid not be manipulating this email and using words like conspiring
and untruthful when she has no context for what if anything occurred. Again, this
email was attached to some part of one of their motions in the college support case
— never testified to or authenticated or made available for cross examination.

How in the world can she claim that the courts hands are tied as to the
truth as to what amount if any is needed by the girls above and beyond the
prepaid tuition?It is basic math-if the cost of attendance is $34k and the
prepaid tuition covers $12k — there is a great and obvious discrepancy and
a definite need. Further, she cites that there is no evidence of my paying
for any of Haley Kathryn's college expenses but it is clearly displayed in my
9/25/2020 Affidavit for Temporary Relief

[ find it slanderous for Judge Holmes to state on the bottom of page 3 that this
lawsuit is yet another attempt by me to continue litigation with Hal. This motion
hearing wasn't even necessary-we had not even requested his financials. This could
have been brought up at trial. What this is-is another attempt to hurt me financially. |
am certain that Anita and Judge Holmes have had ex-parte communication on all of
this and worked together to come up with this ridiculous claim that we addressed

Hal's college responsibilities in our divorce settiement



In closing, for years Judge Holmes has weaponized her court room, abused the
judicial and legal process, allowed, encouraged and colluded with legal professional
misconduct, violated countless judicial canons, allowed slanderous lies and
misinformation to be weaponized against me and my daughters and placed on the
record and in final orders. She was a willing participant in my post separation abuse by
allowing legal, financial and emotional abuse to be perpetrated against me and my
daughters for years. This behavior of hers caused me to have to drain my savings, my
retirement plan, max out my credit cards and pull all of the equity out of my house in an
attempt to protect myself and my daughters. After all of her slanderous lies about me |
guess it is time that | told the truth about her. It is my belief that she not only not be
vetted and deemed acceptable by the JMSC for another 6 vear term but that she is
removed immediately from the bench. She is a judicial predator and is a danger to the
families of Horry County.



Exhibit
#21
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROCLINA )} IN THE FAMILY COURT
) FOR THE FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL
COUNTY OF HORRY ) CIRCUIT
)
MICHELLE DAVIS CAPPS, ) CASE NO: 2020-DR-26-1440
)
Plaintifi{s), ) AFFIDAVIT OF MICHELLE DAVIS
) CAPPS IN SUPPORT OF MOTION
V. ) FOR TEMPORARY RELIEF
)
JOSEPH HAROLD CAPPS, JR., )
)
Defendant(s). )
)

 The éfﬁant, after bemg duly sworn, depaééé and says as follows:

I am the Plaintiff in this case and the ex-husband of the Defendant. We are the parents of
two children, HKC, born May 11, 2001, and EHC, born April 11, 2003.

HK.C is currently a sophomore at University of South Carolina.

HK.C is making good progress at USC. A copy of her transeript showing her first year
grades is attached hereto as Exhibit A. Her freshman year she received mostly A’s and a
few B+'s,

The expected parental contribution for HKC for the 2020-21 school year is $21,711. See
Exhibit B.

The Defendant has established a South Carolina Tuition Prepayment Pro.gram‘ Some
documents | have demonstrating this are attached hereto as Exhibit C.

As per our July 22, 2014 final order of separate maintenance in case 2014-DR-26-1563,
the Defendant agreed to be responsible for his listed debts. Two of those debts were the
debts for our daughter’s college education, specifically the funding of their pre-paid
toition plans. See July 22, 2014 final order.

I believe the Defendant has the abilify to contribute towards HKC’s 2020-21 school year



expenses. [ believe he should be ordered to do so.

8. I further believe he should be required to reimburse me what I’ve paid USC so far for
HKC’s 2020-21 school year so far. I have paid for HKC’s rent of $1,398. See Exhibit D.
I have paid HKC’s parking pass of $400. See Exhibit E. I have paid HKC’s tuition of
$7,669. See Exhibit F. I would ask that he be required to reimburse me this $9,467.

9. 'have incurred attorney’s fees and costs to bring this action. I believe the Defendant
should pay those fees and costs.

. FURTHER AFFIANT SAYETH NOT!

MICHELLE DAVIS CAPPS

Sworn and Subscribed before nie

o in . ’ : —
this % Dayof _S = Yeed - 7200 (D

-

NOTARY PUBLIC FOR SOUTH CARQLINA
My Commission Expires: 1/ I g frer-
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Academic Transcript

(184380345 Haley K. Capps
&8 This is nat an official transcript, Courses which are in progress may also be Sep 16, 2020 03:26 pm
included on this transeript.
Transfer Credit institution Credit Transcript Totals  Courses in Frogress
Transcript Data
STUDENT INFORMATION
Nsms : Haley K, Copps
Sirth Dats: 1 1-MAY
Student Typm _Cortinuing
Curricuium Information
Curvant Frogram
Dagres: Bachelor 6f Arts
Colingn: Colleqe of Arts and Soignces
Campus: USC Columibla
Major: Political Science
Major Concentration: No Concentration
Minory Jowrnalisso/Mass
’ Communications
Sacondary
Digras; Ko Degree
Colinge:; Addittonal Mejor(s)
Campis: USC Columbia
™ajfor: English
=2 Transcript typi:ADVS Advising is NOT Official ***
TRANSFER CREDIT ACCEPTED BY INSTITUTION <fop-
Spring  Advanced Placement Exem
bl
Subject Course Tide Grades Credit Quality Points R
Houre
GEOM 210 Peopie, Placas & Environments CR 3.000 GO0

Attempt Famsedd Eamed GPA Quality GPA
Hiours Hours Hours Hours Points

Currant Term: 0.020 0.000 3.000 0.000 0.00 0.000

kb T A



tUnopfcial Transcop

Spring  Advanced Piacement Bxam
2017
Sobject Courss Title
ENGL 101 Critical Reading & Compesition
ENGL 102 Rhetoric and Composition
HIST 1 Bur Clvrhncient -Mid 17th
Cent
HIST 102 Eur Clv: From Mid 17th
Century
Attampt Passed
Hours  Hours
Corrart Tarm: : 0000 - g.000
Unofficial Transcript
Sprimg  Advanced Placemert: Exam
3R
Subject Course Title
HisT 111 WS History to 1865
HIsT 112 LS Histary since 1865
Agtempt Passed
Nours  Hours
Current Tarm: 0.000 0040
Unofizial Transcript
Spring Advanced Pacement Exam
o pIH
Subjact Course Title
ECON )] Principles of Micraeconomicg
MATH 141 Caleutus 1
MATH 142 Catoolus IT
POLT 201 American National
Govarnment
Atteampt Passed
Hours Hours
Curwatrt Terms o000 4.000
\nofciad Tranacrpt
Fall Horry-Georgetown Tech Colf
2017%:
Subject Course Tite
SPAN 109 Beginning Spanish 1

Attampt Paxsad

Grade Credit
Hours
CR 1000
CR 3000
R 3400
R 3000
Earrisd GPRA
Hours Hours
12,000 o000
. Grade Credit
Hours
ca 3.000
R 3.000
Earned GPA
Hours Hours
8.000 0.000
Grade Cradit
Hours
CR 3.000
CcR 4.000
R 4600
R 3.000
Earnad GPA
Hours Hours
14,4000 4.00d
Grade Cradit
Hours
A_TR 4,000
Earmmd GPA

Quality Points

Quality GRA
Pointe
0.00 -

Quality Points

Quality GPA
Bointe

0.06

Quality Points

Quulity GPA
Pointa

.00

Quality Points

Quality GPA

0.0
0.00
6.00

o.00

0.005

.00
.00

0.000

.40
0.00
0.00
0.00

0.000

0.00



Current Terms

Unafficial Transeript

Spring  Hory-Georgetown Tech Coll

2018

Hours Hours

Columbia

Hours Hours Points
4.000 4.000 4.000

09.000 4.00

Subject Course Title Grada Cradit  Quility Points
Hours
WUSC 110 Introdudtion 10 MUSH: ATR 3005
SPAN 110 Beqinning Spanish 11 A_TR 4,000
Atempt Passed Earmed GPA Quallty GPFA
Hours  Hours Hows Hours Points
Currant Term: 7.000 7.000 T7.000 0.000 0.0t
Undffictal Transctint
Fall Hotry-Geangetown Tech Coll
20418;
Subject Course Tite Grade Credit Quality Points
L o , - B , Hours
SPCH 149 Public Commumication A_TR 3.000
Attampt Besasd Earned GPA Quality GPA
Hours Hours Hours Hours Points
Carrant Tarm: 3.000 3.000 3.000 0.000 0.00
Unaficia! Transeript
INSTITUTION CREDIT  -Tap-
Teri: Fall 2019
Collegat Coliege of Arts and Sciences
Major: Political Soence
Student Type: New Frashman
Aundamic Standings Gaad Standing
Additions! Standing: Dean's List
Subject Course Campus level Title Grade Credit Quality Start
Houre Points and
Evd
Dutes
ENGL 287 use uG American Literature A 4,000 12.00
Columbia
PG 101 UsC UG Intro to Global Pelitics B+ 31.000 10.50
Columbia
SCHE 118 usc uG Destriptive A 4.000 18.00
Columbia Astrondmy
SCHC 1151 UsC uG Descriptive NG 0.000 0.00
Columbia Astronomy Lab
SCHC 321 usC ug HNRS: American B+ 3.000 i0.30
Columbia Empice: Bolitics,
Culturs amd Soclety
SCHC 91 usc UG Proseminar A 2,000 E.00

0000

.00
0.00

0.009

0.0%

€000

R cEU
Contact

Hours



UNIY 101 usc uG

Columbia
Cyrrent Tarm:
Cumulativa:
Unafficig! Transeript

Yermg: Spring 2020

Collage:

Magor:

Student Typs:

Academle Standing:

Additlons! Stendlieg: —

Subject Course Campus Level

ENGL 288 usc UG
- - Columbin

ENGL 350 UsC UG
Columbia

JOUR N usc uG
Columbia

POLI 437 usc UG
Columbia

Ly 483 usc uG
Columbia

Corrant Tarm:

Cowrnulative:

Unaffisial Transcrpl

Term: Sommer 2020

Colisga:

Major:

Stadent Typa:

Academic Standing:

Last Academic Standting:

Subject Courss Csmpus Leval

JOUR 101 usc 4]
Cotumbia

SPAN 122 usc uG
Columbia

HNRS: The Student in@ A S.000 1200
the Univarsity
Attempt Passmi Fwned GPA
Hours  Hours Hours Hours
18000 18000 TRO00 180600
WO 18000 15000 18000
Coltege of Arts angt Sclences
Patitical Sclence
Centinuing
Good Standing
President’s List/Duan's List -
Title Grade  Cradit Quality
Hours Pointe
English Uiterature A 3.000 12.00
Creative Writing A $.850 12.00
HNRS: Writing for A 3.000 12.00
Mpgs Communications
Int’l Refations of Latin A 3,000 1260
Armier
Middle East Politics A 3000 12.00
Attempt Passed Esmwd GPA
Hours  Hours Hows Hours
15.000 15,000 18.000 15.000
33000 33000 33000 Ad0dd
Coltege of Arts and Sclances
Political Science
Continuing
Good Standing
Good Standing
Title Grade Credit  Qunlity
Hours Points
Media arnd Society A 1000 1200
Basic Proficiency in A 3.000 12.00
Sparnisn
Attempt Passed Earned GPA

Hours

Hours Hours Hours

Quality GPA
Points
89.60 am
£9.00 2,633
Start R CEU
und Contact
End Hours
Dates
Quality GPA
Points
&0.00 4.000
125.00 3508
Start R CEU
and Contact
End Hours
Dates
Quality GPA

Points



Current Term: 6,000 8.000 8.000 #.000 24,00 4.000
Camulative: 39.000 39.000 30,0406 35.000 158.80 asn

Urofiicial Transcript
TRANSCRIPY TOTALS (UNDERGRADUATE)  -Top-

Attampt Passed Earnad GPA Quality GPA
Hours Hours Houwrz Hours Polnis

Total Institution: 38000 39.000 3%.000 30.000 153.060 3.023

Yot} Yransfer: 14,000 14,000 41,0041 n.and 0.00 0.000

Orvarath: 53,000 53.000 68.000 40.000 153,80 1623
Lintficisl Trangerim

~—CCURSES IN PROGRESS - Top- - - -

Ferm: Fall 2020

Collaga: College of Arts and Sciences
Mujor: Political Stience
__Student Typar , Continuing .
Subject Course Campue Lavel Title Credit Hourn Start s
End Datas
ENGL a7 usc ua Introduction to fheonc 3.000
Cotumbis
ENVR 104 usc UG 1ntro ko the Environment 3000
Cotumbia
ENVR 141k usc UG Intra 1o the Envirgnmant Lab 1.000
Columisa
POLT 363 usc UG Southern Politics 0
Columbia
SCHC 392 usc WG HNRS: Podensting In the Public A.000
Columbia tnterest: Addrassiag Food
Iresscurity in SC
SCHC 450 usc UG HNRS: Hawthorne and Henry 1.000
Colymbia Jamas: Gender, Ramance and
Reafism
Unofficisl Transaript

Financiat Aid Eligibility Meru
Lum

RELEASE: 8.7.1 : SITE MAP



University of South Carcling - Columbia

Haley Kathryn Capps, (184380345

s e s

G 14

i

i

-

i

pad

Expected Family Contribution

mmmmmm,pmmaymmmyﬁme
fokowing:

Parent Phus Fedsral Loar
(1% Interext rats)

507 yr

Based on FAFSA 21,711 1 yr
As calculsted by the lnstution valng information mported on the FAFSA or to your instifution.
Basad on Institufional Mathotlology ) fyr
| User by most private inwiitutions ko addition to FAFBA.
Total Cost of Attendance 2020-2081
Gn Campus Residence O Gampus Residence
Tulior: and fass $14,263
—{ Housing and meals $10,062
Books and suppliss $1.250
Transportation $2.118
Cithat education cosls $3,400
Eififiitd Gout 6f Apindance A3 Iy
Scholarship and Grant Options
Scholarstiips and Grants arm conskiened "Gilt” aid - no fepayment is neaded. 7
Schelarships Grasits
Merit-Bxzad Scholerships Nond-Based Grant Akd
Scholarships from your schoo! $5,000 Fedaral Pell Grants $0
Sscholarsiips from your siste $7.500 Instifutions) Grants 30
Crihar scholarships 2 1 Siale Granis 50
Empiloyat Paid Tultion Benafits N/A Othar forms of grant aid $0
| Totat Schotarships $12,500 / yr Tots! Grants $0 1 yr
College Costs You Will Be Required to Pay
Net Conts $1B523 /yr
| {Cost of attendante minis total grants andt acholarshipe)
Loan and Work Options to Pay the Net Costs o You
You must rapay foans, plus [nteramt and fens,
rL.t:rsn Opticng® Work Qptions
Faderai Direct Subsidized Loan 50/yr Wark-study 07y
(046 intersst rate) {Faderal, state, or instilutionaly
Federal Cimect Unsubsidized Loan $6,500 f yt Hours Par Weak 0/wk
(2.75% intaresi rate) Other Canvpus Job NIA
Ww 307 ye Total Work Options $0 !yt
Institutional Loan $0/yr - :
(HIAY Eor More lnfommusion
Otter Aidt That Must Be Repaid $0/yr Universky of South Garoling - Golumbia

1244 Blossom Street, Sulte 200
Qolumbia, SO 25208
Talephone: {B03) 777-8134
E-mail: uscfaldsc. adu

P




tTut-l Loan Qptions

$6,500 / yr

J




* Loan Amounts h Critier Potendial Education Bmnsdiis 1
Note that the smounts Bsted are the masdmum avaiable to you ?
you ana sllowed snd encoursged to borow less than the maimun

« American Opportunity Tax Crexiit; Parents of studenis may qualify
to recsive up 1o 52,500 by ciaiming the American Opporhmiity Tax Credil

amount, To laam ahout kan repayment cholees and work out your on thelr tax rstum diring the follewing calendar yenr,
Federal Loan monthly :

» Milltary andfor Natlonil Service Benefits

If you have a Fediral Direct Linsubsidized Loan and are a
graduaie or profassional student, the interest rate or that
unsubsidized loan is currently 4.3%,

Glossary

Cost of Altendanocs {COA): mnw-mn(mmmnmmmﬂips)ﬂmnwﬂmmmgammwmmmmzi school year.
COA inchides kitlon gnd fena; housing and mesls: and allowances for books, suppkes, transportation, loan fees, and dependent care. li siso inchides
' and . , Such 85 an sfowsnce for the rental of purchase of a puter; costs refated to a disability; mnd

misteltaneous L pecsonnl reasonRbie
mmmmmmm.rwmmmmmmmhm,m COAIncludes htion ant feas; an alowance for bosks, supplies, and

ﬂmddhﬁfn.mlmmm -Aﬁnw&?ﬁﬁm&mM gl?\;m iy nimdml.ﬁdtywarn b will . Mmﬂw
o your id { . Thia le pot Bie amoiot of money your family will heve to pay
coege, nor is it the amount of faders student sid you will recshe.

meommgmmmmmmm«wmmmwnmmmmmnﬂmam
: .mmmm«nwmhmmnlﬁummmmmmmmmmmmum

- iRt supensaR
worker and the amount he or she eame cannet sxcerd ther tolal amount swsrdid by the schivol for the avward pawr. Tie avalability of work-gludy jobs varies

by sohool.

Girants and Scholarships: Student atd funde that do net have to be repaid. Grants are often naed-based, while cchulinhips ara usually mesit-hesed.
Mwm“nmbnkputwﬂowwﬂﬂ.hmﬂ,mﬁﬂwﬁmwwm:umnhr.

mmrmmmmhmﬁdwmmemhmwwnmwhmammwmmmmmm
mm.t—'mIm.wmm-mhmmmmmmmmm.wwmm. wnd Perent
PLUS Lonre. You can fid more information about federal loxns at Studentiid.gov.

Direct Subsidizad Loan: Loaivs thet The (1.5, Wﬂ%ﬁmmﬂwﬂsﬂmﬁﬁemﬁh%dhﬂhﬂﬁmmwmﬁmm
mﬂuuhwmhmmd(mmeﬂmmamwmm.mdm: peried of deferment {a poatponement of lom payinentt),

Diuctumm-mmmwmhmﬂﬂawmthmMWﬂpuhdmlfywnhwndmmﬂwmmwhﬂe
mmhmMMﬁmmmmamm.mhMﬂm(mmmmﬁbcupihllzed(ﬁmtis.ywr
intarsst will ba sdded to the principal amount of your lowti).

Parent Pius Loan: Alosn m&mwmawmmmmmmmuwwwmmmm
regardiess of the loan stafus.

Private Losn: Anonfedesl [oan mada by s lender such as a bank, credit union, state agency, or tehool,

Net Cost: Anuﬁmﬂlumemﬂmmmnmmmuhﬂﬁmmmmyhaqivmywbmmarpumﬂotﬂuamdmtlu

- witeil a pariiculer scrost, Not price s detsrmined by iaking the Butitrion's oot of stendsnce and sutdracting any grants and scholarships for which the
| sttidant may be sligible.

For mors information visit hitow:stdantaicd. Qog.
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

D DRAWER V1778
|C 221
TEL (803} TM-ZI0E

CGRADY L, PATTERSON. SR,
STATE TREASURER

Jamanxy 19, 2004

Joseph H. Capps, It
7G5 Jasmine Avemie

‘Myrtie Beach, 5C 29577

Beneficiiry Namet Haley K. Cappe ' I
Aceoant Number 5030097773

Treur Joseph Copps:

. Welmmmammwmnnmmmmm Your spplication has been processed, and your beneficisry is

now 8 quatified participast in the Progrum. We sppraciste your participation and are esges 1o assist you in prepaying for
your beneficiary's college tuition.

HwymmﬂmﬂﬁnrmmmmMmpuyhylmmmi:minewinbemilndmyoupﬁmwﬂnpaymﬂdmm
of March 1, 2004, Ifmchmmmwmﬂymmmmnmmmducmm Automatic Withdrawal Anthorization
fotm prior to Jaomacy ls,m,yonwﬂlmiwalemr'ﬁumusmmatwiﬂaﬂnmhﬂommbmkmwmmbcgin

affer Jaxmery 15th or you selected to make monthly payments using couposs, you will receive 2 coupwan ook prior to your
first payment due date of March 1, 2004. In order to avoid a late payment peualty, your lp sum payieat of your first
mhhrpuymmtmmtmchmbylheﬁmdneofm I,im,mgudlmofwhmﬁnrmtymunmﬁcwhhdmmm
hawbunuubli:hedwyonbnwmoeivedmiﬁmiceormmbwk.

mmmwmmymkwmwm@dumm&mm form mnsr be noade i writing to
mmnﬁmmmmmﬁcﬁmmmmm.Awmwmmemh 1,

2004,kmﬁmwwmmmﬁumm.Pmm&mﬁergmmmAmmmmon
making other changes w0 your accopnt.

WcmMMmMMmmﬁwﬁngamk:mﬂmebmﬂcm.Mmfmm
i atier i the Sonth Caroling Tuition P ¢ Prog

Sincerely,

Offica of State Treasurer = Post Office Drawer 11778 « Calumbis, South Carolina 28211

1 -GS&-?SC-GR@ {Toll-Free EWM!:W] » Fax 1-800-519-4852 '
s voda .\r i



Jamuary 19, 2004

Pian Information

Joseph H. Capps, It
705 Jasmine Avenue

Myrtle Beach, 8C 29577

Bepsficiary Yoformation
BCTPP Account Number:

Haley K. Capps
7045 Jasmine Avenue
Myrtls Beach, SC 29577

Birth Date:
Social Security Number:
Projected Enrollment Year:

Payment Information

Tuition Prepayment Contract:
Payment Asmount:
Nurnber of Payments;

OFEICE _OF STATE TREASURER

GRADY L. BATTERSON, IR
STATE TREAKIRER.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

PO. DRAWER 11773
BC 2931
1EL.. (3033 734 0L

130 WADE HAMFTON OFFICE BULDING
COLUMBIA,

5C 29201

PAYMENT SCHEDULE
Fall 2003 ENROLLMENT

Kﬂdadﬂfo( o

(ARed acted
Fo ot a_z:»#ea{
2019

4 Year College/University
Custom Monthly

$189.79

185

Office of State Traagurer « Post Office Drawar 11778 Columbia, South Carolina 20211
1-888-78C-BRAD (Toll-Froe Statewids) » Fax 1-800-519-4852



AHMUAL STATEMENT OF ACLOUHT

$38,025.29
; Paymerts §14,870.74 \
T —— — N eacty Pryott tscoont: " 50.00 som}
Projectwd Collmge Entrancs Year: 211 Balance Rsmalring: $28,156.55 $0.00
i /Qé &{Mkﬁt,& Paymants Racedved: S12,819.26 | [Lake Foes Do 50:00
Enrly Fayof T Disooumt: 40,00 | {NSF Faes Doe: §0.00
Other Admminisirathva Fees Dus: $0.0a
Prufected Collage Entranca Yeurs 2017 Balance Remsining: $23,791.89 | |Totad Faea Dus: 20.00
Product Type: 4 Year Coilage/Univareity vt Avefinbin: —
; *Contributions for Tax Yeur 2008:  52,177.48
w m mﬂ Untiversity Semastacs: B0 | I*FAFSA Reporiing Velus: $13,094.72

For a s, please ondfne using the Account” ok &t www.scgrad -

1:888972.4723 fin Col MF—MN%WL g *® org, or el tollfres
“Tisls total am avchcdiog aty ewrly o SCTPP o e 1
2008 30 prior to ~ 2009 (a5 alicwable by e o e Tt e dndd, Saction 59-4-100] vmmmmetmé
cinlin thix amiumit 45w tax deduction on Lire 43 of tha SC 1040 Long Formn wnd on Une 38 on the Schadule HR. quarttions sbout your
mmh‘hﬁiammmMMMWWMW,GAwwSCWMW. SCYPF staff canot
exTr FAFSA valts reprastnty your SCTPP ncoountisy “refond vaiue™ &5 of the sttament date. Naw L requires the refund vaiie of 529 siate

mmummummm Froe Application for Federal Student Ald [PAFSA). Ga to wive.FAPSA_nd. gov/bera i for
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

OFEICE QF STATE TREASURER

mum]ﬂ. PO, DRAWER 11778
KFTATR TREASURER &C 29814

TEL. (803} 734-20E

Tamry 19, 2004

Joseph H. Capps, Ir

705 Jagmine Aveone
Myrtks Boack, SC 29577
BencfiaryName:  Emity . Capps - | -
Account Nanbers “Rada ched

Desr Joseph Crpps.

o Wemmmumcmmmmwmmm Ymnupplimﬁouhnsbmpmemd. snd your beneficiary is

— gasw o qualified perticipant in the Program. We appreciste your participation and are cager to assiat you in prepaying for
your beneficiary's collegs tuition. o - o '

Mmmmmmwm includingmyduwnpaym:mamumwnmy have chosen to mail in with
..... : yummlhmﬁfmmpkm call the program office MMEDIATELY at 18881724121, extension 1.

Emmmﬂmﬂtﬁmymmwdmpaybﬂmpmminwiuwﬂlhemaﬁedwyuupﬂmmmcpaymemdnndnte
MI,W.KmmmmMymmmM=mwwwmwmmm
forrn prior to Jumiry lﬁ.m.mwﬂlmcﬁwalm frorn us stating that withdrawls ﬁumyw:blnkucoountwiﬂbegin
on March l,zm.mmmﬁ:wimm&hmcam&mmwwdmmbmymﬁwmmn&mmﬁum
dnﬁutd:yofmhmnﬁmnﬁlymwmum is paid in full. If your Antomatic Wi&drnwﬂmmmmﬁmfnmwmaivud
afiex Jammary xsmwmmm-mmmwmm youﬁ'illreceivenconpmbnckpﬁnrw your
ﬁmtpaymdmbhuimmh l.m.hmdnrtoavﬂidalntcpaymmtpmﬂty,ymlm sum paynent or your first
mn&i?puymmm:unhmbymndm:hmofmh 1, 2004, regardless ufwheﬂietornntynurmmnmicwimdnwals
havebunmhﬁshudmywlmwmivedmhmimcmmpmm

mmqwmmﬁm?xymms&a&lh&ommudginﬂulewmanﬂmemullnmfmmmstbemadainwﬂﬁngm
ﬁnhnmmuﬂimandmwiwdpﬁnrmﬂwﬁmwmmdwdm.AwinyaurPaynmrScmdnitnﬁchmh1;
m.nmmwmwwamm.pmm&mmmmmmmMMm
mmwmmm

Sincerely,
_______ Grady L. I
- State Treamerss

Office of State Treasurer * Post Office Drawer 11778 = columbia, South Caroling 20211
{-8h8-7SC-GRAD (T oll-Free Statewlde) » Fax 4801051 9-4852



STATE OF S0UTH CAROLIMA

OFFICE QF STATE T&EASURE&

GRADY L. PATTERSON. JR. ATPEER P DRAWGR 11778
EYAIE TREASORER AT TEL. ($0%) 342101
118 WAL BAMTTON CRFICE BNLDING
COLLMTLA, 5 29301

Jamiary 19, 2004 PAYMENT SCHEDULE

Fall 2003 ENROLLMENT
Piaa Information
Joseph H. Capps, Jr
SCIPP Ascount Namber  rdaded
Emily H. Capps
Birth Date: Rad ncked,
Socinl Security Number: Rod acled
Projected Earoliment Yeart: 2021
Tuition Prepayment Contract: 4 Year College/University
Payment Option: Custom Monthly
Payment Amount: $174.81
Number of Payments. 209

Office of State Treasurer « Post Office Dewwor 11778 » Columbia, South Carolina 28211
1-888-7SC-GRAD (Toli-Froe Statewide) « Fax 1-300.519-4652
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From: M@mmiﬂmm
Subject: FPayment Confirmation for Michalia
Dats: Seplember 3, 2020 at 12:35 PM

To: mdaviscapps@gmall.com

AUTHORIZATION CODE

Keodaede

PAYMENT TYPE
aCheck x 1661

PAYMENT NUMBER

Kedacied
PAYMENT DATE
Sep 03, 2020 12:35 PM EDT

PURCHASE SUMMARY
Peymerit Amount

Memo:Septembar Rent

Capps tor SR t Columbia

Payment Receipt
htips:/INAREN re sidempartal.com/

gl ot Columbia

Michelle Capps
Unit: - G

“._Rlé{ﬂid-t’j

$624.00

© Shown on Statement as: SRS Colurnbia ‘
This payreent was processed by Entrata. inc. on behalf of The IR Golumbia.

. CHARGES PAID

Date
Description
Amount
Amount Paid

Sap 01, 2020
RENT
§574.00
$579.00

GVL > NC D



e T T T T O U U

Date Sep 01, 2020

Deascription UTILAMEN
Armount $45.00
Amount Paid $45.00
Total $624.00-
Click here to lagin Resident Portal
- Contact GigIlly = Columbia st QANPINIREMININr refund pokcy.
- Plexsa retain for your records.

ReSIdentF’mtal

Py rert with yGur o
Drosn'e et paying rant
ng

I this emai) not displaying comectly?
Vigw 1.in vour hrowser
You are racolving this email becatise you have opied to receive notifications via email.



L84

Here is your paymert racalpt:

Name: Michelle Davis Capps
Paymenl Amount.
Payment # 1452287414
Payment Type: eCheck
Fayment Date: 02:12 pm: EOT on 08/0112020
Propery: GG
Uni % .

$7174.00

B/1/20, 2:13 PM

Appears On Statement  PaymenmtAmount  Convenlence Foe Amount
siningmutsiinmiie $0.00

Thank you for your payment Please telam this receip! fof your records

oot/ G rasicantporial.comrasident, portalf7maduleca, .ayment,_confirmationkismava, in_ohecklist=is_smail natification_ sent=1

Page Tof 1



| THE

AT COLUMBLA

+ _09/03/2020
B ) $624.00
""" st
» 09/01/2020
Utility/amenity Fee
$45.00
$624.00
« 08/01/2020
Housing Instaliment Rate
$579.00
$579.00
- 08/01/2020
§774.00

$0.00




08/01/2020

Housing Installment Rate

$579.00
$774.00
08/01/2020
Utility/amenity Fee
$45.00
o - $195.00
0712412020 _ ’
Starting Balance
- $150.00

$150.00




C Parklng Services - Payment Recaipt 87520, 10:33 PM

Due to COVID-18, ALL parking permits for the
fall semester WILL BE MAILED to the address
that you select. Permits WILL NOT be sold in
our office. Please allow enough time 1o
receive your mailed permit bafare you return
to campus.

Payment Receipt

Your tronvsaction is compiate. Please prim the page for your Gonis,

Purchasad items
qiv Typa Deagription Amiovend

8G - Blowaom 54 Garage Saident / Fall Samoetsr (121BGAMN 0B/1872020 -
1230220

Vadic ot chbons DI /2000 - 12731755010
1 Parmit Tk WA b (mallert 102 $400.00
UBG STUDENT B0V fils
D0 G Bt

Golumbiz, BG FR2ME-0112
E -~ R Vil for vehictegs NRLTTS, N6, Jeap . .
Tolal Pald: $400.00
Transaction Summary

CC Feosipt Mumber 2020085000239
Poymant Method  Visa
Paymant Date  Q&/0S/2000 10:33:29 PM

1501 Perfiston Street, Columisia, SC 2208 + 303-777-51860 » pa

) & Univarsty of South Carolina Board of Trdstses

ipssifuscymps L hosted com/crirecsipl.aspk ThaskerGuid 288 Taa-BELb-4354 3420 -0B0EALA4AID1 Apay ranritContirmed Page 10of 1

s d b



7120, 300 PV

(i84380345 Hatey K. Capps
Jul 17, 2020 02:58 pm

Slillng Statement as of Jul
17, 2620

@ Raview datall transactions on your account, including current and uture balance tofals Tor the selacted terrn and
oiher terms,

Te prind your bili, ploase choose print from your brywser: Print > Page Selup and check the box rext fo "Prin tmage&
" and Backgrounds® in order 1o print imagys, Recommanded browsers are: Firefox and Safad. —

2DROUE Fall 2020 Frint Tern Detall
Dexcription Item Data Charge Paymant Balance
COL Hanors College Frofp Fee $575.00
COL UG Praof of Insursnce £1,074.00
COL Tethnology Fee $200.00
COL Enviranment Lab Fea s210.00
COL UG Regident Tuition £8,144 00
Ne Tarim Sulance $8.143.00
Nat Balance for Other Terms: $0.00
Accounit atanca: £8,343.00

“# Review Authorized Financial Aid on your acenunt and the expecied paymant for the geleciad tarm. To view tindncial
aid for anather tarm, ghoose the “Salect Another Tean” ink at the battom of the page.

Authorited Financial Aid as of Jul 17, 2020

Description Expactad Paymant dalance

5C Paimatto Fellows Schip §3,750.00

Dearsy Schotarship §1,500.00

SC Honers Callege Scholarship §500.00

PRESIOENTAL Scholars Schip $500.00
Authorized Finandai Ald Balsnce; -$8,250.00

Account Balarce net of Authorired Financisl ald:  %$1,803.060

htips: fesb.onecarsling sc.edu/BANP/bwskoace. B BeiniBiilTarm

GJ,L R



20, 269 PM

Q84380245 Hatey K. Capps
Jut 17, 2020 02:58 pm

Billing Statement as of Jul
17, 2020

Sy flitrarg REANc L

F Review detail ransactiens on your account, including cument and future balance totais for the selected term and
ofher terms,

and Backgrounds™ in order to print imagss. Recommended browsers are: Firefox and Ssfar.

202005 Summar 2020 Print Term Detail

Dazcription Item Data Charga Paymant Balance
COl. Tachnelogy Fewe $102.00
COL Languane Lab Fee $130.00
COL UG fesident Nilkion $3.072.00
Web Echeck $1,325.00
COL 529 Savings Han Payment $8,344.00
Fed Direct Linsubsidized 10an $1.978.00
Nat Term Balance -38,344.00

mat Balanos for Other Tarms:  $94.487.00
Account Safance: $8,142 80

“F No Authorized Financial Aid exists on your record for the selectad term. Glick here to find aut more information
Autharized Financial Ald as of Jul 17, 2020
Account Esiance net of Authorized Financial Ald:  $8.143.00

Mo panding transaclinns exist ot your racord fae the selected term.

l Salact Anothar Torm

https:/fssb.onncaroling. s¢.edu/BARP/bwskaace.P_PrintBill Term Paga 1 of



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
COUNTY OF HORRY

Michelle Davis Capps,
Plaintiff,

~VS-

Joseph Harold Capps, Jr.,
Defendant.

S M S e S S 3, . ;

)

TO:  PLAINTIFF ABOVE-NAMED AND HER ATTORNEY GREGORY FORMAN:

YOU ARE HEREBY SUMMONED and required to respond to the-Answer and

(r~ N
IN THE FAMILY COURT ro&ﬂ@ U \Lf

FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
Case Number: 2020-DR-26-1440

SUMMONS ST

,.:J
—

U

B e !

Counterclaim a copy Ufwhichﬂisr hereby servédﬁupon j}ouiand to serve a copy orfyour

response on the subscriber at her address, Anita Floyd Lee, 1115 Third Avenue,

- Conway, South Carolina, 29526, within thirty (30) days after service hereof, =

exclusive of the day of such service, and if you fail to answer the Answer and

Counterclaim within the time aforesaid, the Defendant in this action will apply to the

Court for the relief demanded in the Answer and Counterclaim.

September& 2020

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT

Bt 2.

Anitﬂyd fee
Bar Nu. 2044

1115 Third Avenue

Conway, SC 29526

Telephone: (843) 248-3206
Facsimile: {843} 248-7173
E-mail: afloyd@anitafloydlaw.com




IN THE FAMILY COURT OF THE

STATE OF SOUTH CARCGLINA )
COUNTY OF HORRY ) FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
) Case Number: 2020-DR-26-1440
Michetle Davis Capps, ]
Plaintiff, } ANSWER AND COUNTERCLAIM —
} ; - .'.—“E; -
-Vs- ) P J
) EE .
Joseph Harold Capps, Jr, ) . S 4
-3

Defendgnt. )

TO: PLAINTIFF ABOVE NAMED AND HER ATTORNEY GREGORY 5. FORMAN

DEFENDANT WOULD RESPOND TO PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT AS FOLLOWS:

Response to Complaint
Defendant denies all allegations contained in Plaintiff s Complaint except as are

1.
hereinafter admitted, qualified or otherwise explained.
“9 Defendant admits the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 and 2 of Plaintiff's
complaint.
3. Regarding the allegations contained in paragraph 3 of Plaintiff's Complaint,
Defendant admits that the parties are divorced from one another and that they have
two children together: HK, who is legally emancipated, and E, who is 17 years of
age.
4. Defendant has no knowledge, information or belief regarding the allegations
contained in paragraph 4, though he admits that HK was planning on attending
college in 2019-2020 and he has no reason to doubt that she has returned to college.
5. Regarding the allegations contained in paragraph 5 of Plaintiff's Complaint,
Defendant would show that E is a senior in high school.
6. Defendant admits the allegations contained in paragraphs 6 and 7 of Plaintiff's
Complaint.
7 Defendant denied the allegations contained in paragraph 8 of Plaintiff's Complaint.
8. Defendant admits the allegations contained in paragraph 9 of Plaintiff's Complaint,
though with limitations.
9. Defendant denies the allegations contained in paragraph 10 of Plaintiff’s Complaint. —
U
&
a
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10. Defendant has no knowledge, information of belief regarding the allegations

contained in paragraph 11 of Plaintiff's Complaint.

11. Defendant adamantly denies the allegations contained in paragraph 12 of Plaintiff's

Complaint.

Reiteration

AND FOR A COUNTERCLAIM

12. Defendant reiterates each and every allegation contained hereinabove the same as if

repeated verbatim herein.

Emancipation
13. Defendant prays for an order emancipating the parties’ youngest daughter E. In

support of his réquest, he would show the following:

d.

Defendant was awarded ex parte custody of this chiid on about June 17,
2019: and that order was ratified later that same month. From that time
until March, Defendant and E worked on their relationship and it improved
dramatically. However, in March, 2020, Defendant allowed the minor child -

to guarantine for two weeks with Plaintiff based upon the contact he had had

with patients. At the conclusion of the quarantine, the minor child refused to
return home. Further, Plaintiff has indicated an inability to force E to return

to Defendant’s household.

A prior Order of this Court provides that "Father shall participate in
counseling with Tamara Willard and the minor child as Tamara Willard
requests and the focus of that counseling shall be mending the relationship
with him and [E]".

[See page 5, paragraph 6 of Order dated September 24, 2019, case number:

2019-DR-26-1431, copy attached as EXHIBIT "A”].
E is aware of this order though she has refused to attend counseling despite

requests of both Defendant and Tamara Willlard [See EXHIBIT “B"].

E refuses to abide by any of Defendant’s requests or demands, though she
feels empowered to speak to Defendant with disrespect and disdain. She
dictates what she will and what she will not do; she demands concessions for
anything that is requested of her, and thus far the only request made of her
was to (i) return home, which she refused; and (ii) attend counseling, which

she has refused to do [See ExHIBIT “C"].

As is evident from the exhibit “C”, E has accused Defendant of unconscionable
behavior, and none of what she expressed is accurate, as is easily verified by
the various counselors who have been involved in this matter; however, the

tone and content express Es belief that she is an adult.
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e, Aftera RTSC hearing on july 6, 2029, E returned to Defendant’s home with 3
empty bags and collected clothes and other items which had been left at
Defendant’s home, though she has claimed directly and through Plaintiff that
when she went to Plaintiff's home in March, she took all of her clothes with

her.

E demanded a new phone and has accused Defendant of having “spyware” on

her phone (Defendant had 360 on her phone so that he would know where
she was). E purchased a new phone and she has refused to provide

Defendant with a telephone number.

Most recently, E. has removed Defendant from the school portal whlch
~ enabled him to seeher grades as well as her testing scores. -

14. Regardless of the alienation issues, E is now 17 years of age and she clearly believes
she is on parity with Defendant. She has falsely accused Defendant of "gaslighting”
‘her with Ken Smith, though this is easily refuted. She has refused to attend
counseling, and she canditions everything that is requested of her by Defendant

upon something she desires financially or personally.

15. The relationship between Defendant and E plummeted when E returned to the toxic

environment offered by Plaintiff. In fact, Plaintiff s continued alienation is
evidenced by her emails with HK [See EXHIBIT“D"] and by her instituting this action.

However, E has chosen to take the role of an adult, and she should thus enjoy the

hurdens as well as the benefits of adultheood.

16. Accordingly, for the reasons noted herein and as will be presented at the trial of this

matter, Defendant prays for an Order emancipating E so that she will not be

tethered to the burdens of a father/child relationship. He prays for this relief

pendente lite and permanently.
17. Upon information and belief, in the event the minor child is deemed not to be a
candidate for emancipation, then in that event, Defendant prays for an Order
holding Plaintiff fully accountable for the minor child not returning to the home of
the custodial parent, especially given the language of the current Order which

basically prohibits Plaintiff from having unsupervised contact with the child absent

the consent of the professionals.
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Life Insurance
18. Currently, Plaintiff has the ability to maintain life insurance on Defendant for up to

$2,000,000. However, Plaintiff's hatred is evidenced through her alienation tactics,
and Defendant is concerned for his life as long as Plaintiff is able to benefit to the
current extent provided.

19. At the time of the parties’ divorce, Defendant was extremely generous to Plaintiff in
the hopes that Plaintiff would co-parent with him in a positive manner. However,
Plaintiff has fully alienated the parties’ children, and their hatred of him and their
vitriol toward him are nothing more than them parroting their mother.

20. Upon information and belief, Plaintiffs mental heaith has been on a downward
spiral since the parties’ divorce, and upon information and belief these issues are a
substantial and material change of circumstances which would enable this

Honorable Court to review and modify the amount of life insurance which Plaintiff

can receive as a result of Defendant’s demise.” -
21. Upon further information and belief, the failure to modify this provision could result
in Defendant’s untimely demise, as a result of which he prays for an order modifying
the amount of life insurance Plaintiff can receive at Defendant’s death to an amount
which will protect her only to the extent of the funds she currently receives.

Defendant prays for this relief pendente lite and permanently.

Attorney’s Fees
272. Defendant would show that this action should never have been filed. Repeatedly,

Defendant has expressed that college funds will be discussed between him and the
children. However, the children have refused to attend counseling, which is
desperately needed in order to address the alienation which has been noted by
numerous professionals, including counselors whom Plaintiff sought out during the
parties’ separation and divorce, and also by a court-ordered psychologist, Dr. Davis
Henderson.

23. Nonetheless, Plaintiff maintains that everyone is wrong, and she instituted this

action in which she had clearly involved the children, as verified by the attached

Exhibit “D".
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24, In addition, Defendant has ar all times expressed to HK that he was willing to turn
over the college funds, though she had to also start communicating with him, with
the assistance of counseling. Accordingly, the ability to access the funds have at all

times been in the hands of the children, though Plaintiff seeks to interfere through

this lawsuit.
25. Further, as Plaintiff has not provided any financial assistance, upon information and

belief, she has no standing to seek the relief in regards to HK, and she is premature

seeking the funds on behalf of E.
26. For the reasons noted herein and as will be presented at the trial of this matter,

- ,, Defendant prays for an order awarding unto him all attorney’s fees and costs as he

has incurred and will incur in this matter. He prays for this relief pendente lite and

permanently.
- ~WHEREFORE, having fully responded to Plaintiff's-Complaint, and having—

Counterclaimed thereto, Defendant prays for an Order dismissing Plaintiff's Complaint,

with costs; and awarding unto him the following relief based upon the Counterclaim he has

filed:

(a) Emancipating the minor child E based upon Plaintiff's alienation which has
empowered the said minor child to believe she is on parity with Defendant in all
regards, or in the alternative holding Plaintiff accountable for the minor child
residing with her and refusing to return to the home of the custodial parent;

(b} Modifying the amount of life insurance which Plaintiff can maintain for her
benefit in the event of Defendant’s death;

(c) Attorney’s fees and costs; and
(d} Such other and further relief as this Honorable Court may deem just and proper.

ully,Submitted,

Anita F. Bar #2044)
1115 T
Conway, SC 29526

Phone:843.248.3206
Fax: 843.248.7173

Emait: afloyd@anitalloydlaw.com

September 24, 2020
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) IN THE FAMILY COURT FOR THE
COUNTY OF HORRY ) FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
) Case Number: 2020-DR-26-1440
Michelle Davis Capps, )
Plaintiff, ) _
) VERIFICATION
-V§- )
)
Joseph Harold Capps, Jr., )
Defendant. )
PERSONALLY APPEARED BEFORE ME, Joseph Harold Capps, jr., who being duly

sworn and deposed, states that he has read and understands the forgoing Answer and

Counterclaim and knows it to be true, except as to matters and things therein alleged upon

information and belief, and as to those matters and things, he believes them to be true.

(o phret Cyp

Kseph Harold Capps, Jr.

SWORN TO AND SUBSCRIBED before me

this 233 _day of Se 2020.
ﬁ)ﬂ/ﬂ‘ %;//){ (LS.)

Notary Pudlic for Sotth Caroljna

My Commission Expires: o ZV[?»[ZC& 7
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA INTHE FAMILY COURT OF THE

)
) FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
COUNTY OF HORRY ) CASE NO.: 2019-DR-26-1437
)
JOSEPH HAROLD CAPPS, JR., )
)
PLAINTIFF, )
)
VS, ) TEMPORARY ORDER=2 .
) (NOT ENDING AC’:’HQN)" =
MICHELLE DA VIS CAPPS, ) Bl 82 =
) SR ﬁ‘{-q
DEFENDANT. ) 2
) U 3
] i_;_? 5
HEARING DATE: AUGUST 8, 2019
PRESIDING JUDGE: MELISSA J. BUCKLHANNO%J

PLAINITFF'S ATTORNEY: ANITAF. LEE
DEFENDANT'S ATTORNEY: JULAANDERRICK
GUARIDAN AD LITEM: HEATHER M, CANNON
COURT REPORTER: BOBBIE FISHER
This matter came before me on motion of the Plaintiff seeking certain temporary
relief, A hearing was held on August 8, 2019, Present at the time of the hearing was the
Plaintiff and his attorney as well as the Defendant and her attorney. The Guardian ad
Litem was present on behalf of the minor child.  Prior to the call of the case, a status
conference was held. At the call of the case, the Court explained that this hearing was set
for the purpose of allowing the Guardian to come before the Court afier doing an initial
investigation to give a recommendation about custody and visitation or time shared with
the child. That was initially the only reason that the hearing was scheduled and at the
time it was set for 15 minutes. The Court further explained thal subsequent to that, a
Rule to Show Cause was filed and scheduled for 1 hour. The Court opined that there was
not sufficient time to hear the Rule to Show Cause nor was there sufficient time to hear

the second Motion for Temporary Relief that was filed by the Defendant. The Cour
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apps vs. Capps

conclude as follows: -

found thet e Cuadien Bro o nor bae sufteinn Gme 0 review he Jarge amownt of

mformation in the case 16 give & recamimendaiion ai this ume. The Coun explained that
there were strong concemns aboul alienation and strong concerns about the parents noi
participating as they should. Further, under the circumstances the Court understood the

need of the Guardian for additional 1ime. Therefere, the hearing as it relates 1o the

recormunendation of the Guardian ad Litem is continued. The Rule to Show Cause

scheduled for today shall also be continued and rescheduled as that does not have an

impact on custody.

As 10 the remaining issues discussed in the status conference, I hereby find and

The parties shall participate in an alienation evaluation with Dr. Davis
Henderson. The Guardian will make contact with Dr. Henderson to set
that up. Each party will be responsible for one half of the fees associated
therewith as both parties have participated in the issues between them
getiing to this level. The issue of fees may be revisited at a final hearing.
2. Each party shall provide to the Guardian ad Litem a copy of all tex:
messages and email exchanges between themselves, and each other and
the children, as there are concerns that she has not been given the
complete thread of text messages and emails but rather the parties have
picked through and chosen what they have given her. Further, these shal)
be in dated order,
Cusiody shall remain as previously ordered at the first Temporary Hearing

and no hearing shall be held 1o modify custody prior to the Guardian being
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eveluation beig comviene.

As o the supervised visitaton reguirement, this Court is very concerned
with lifting the supervision restriction between the minor child and her
Mother as there are some things that cannot be explained away while she
was in her mother’s care. If the supervision requirement is lifted and all of
: a sudden the child retwmns to the opinion that she doesn’t want o see her
T " Father and that she is scared of him then this Court will look to the

Mother. This Court opines that the Mother has treated the children as her

_friends and not her daughters in that she has shared with them entirely too_

much, because the children know enlirefy too much, and they were noi
with their Father. The only people that knew what was going on in the
courtroom were the adults who were sitting in it, so the children had to
hear 1t from someone that was in the Courtroom. The only exception to
this would be the time that Judge Jan Bromell Holmes required the
children to come to Court during a Rule to Show Cause hearing between
the parents. She did this t¢ explain to the children directly the importance
of following a court order and the ramifications of violating a court order.
This Court holds Mother responsible for a lot of what ihe children know
aboul the specifics of the case between the parties as they lived with her
during this time and no1 with the Father. As for the Father, this Court does

nat belteve that it is all someone else’s fault that he doesn’t have &

relationship with the minor child as he had court ordered protections that

Page 3 of &
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VR L rend s sarliton waciiy ol dhings, with Lis childies s e
e iar A goes ot b dime and cid ool exercise his visitation as
allowed. There is a 16-year-old child that wants to mend her relationship
with her father and that means that he needs to step up to the plate. There
is enough damage done with this 16 year that the he is going to have to do
his part. This Court opines that if It heard al] of the evidence the child
would be taken away from both of them and neither party would see her.
However, this Court recognizes that there is a }6-year-0ld that loves her
mother and, for whatever reason, has problems with her father. She has
expressed to her Guardian and her counselor that she wants to rebuild a
relationship with her father. This Court has a Guardian ad Litem who has
a 16-year-old ward expressing 10 her that she wants some unsupervised
time with her mother. However, the Guardian has not expressed that the
mother can be trusted to behave herself when she sees her. Therefore, this
Couwrt instructs the Guardian ad Litem to have a long conversation with
Tamara Willard about the siatus conference. Once Ms. Willard is willing,
and believes it is in the best interest of the minor child 1o lift the
supervision requirement, then the requirement shall be lifted. This Court
is not comfortable retuming the child to her mother free and clear as these
children have been coached io believe they are in control of the situation.
Further, this Court is not going to have a situation where the child refuses

to go 1o the Father, the Father cannot force the child out of the car and the

Mother witi not.  Once Tamara Willard advises that the supervision

Page ¢ of § :
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‘Femporary Crder {Nol Ending Action) ;
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Case No.: 2019-DR-26-1437

G L ThE o eitdal oo oieid shad petify e Juees
At suiciime, the Madis shatl jrave two days of visitation per week o
five howrs each cay of unsupervised time uatil the matter is brought back

before the Conrt. This visitation is to be scheduled around the miinor

child’s school and work schedule and to be mutually agreed upon by the
Father and Mother with the input of the minor child.

The Guardian ad Litem shell speak with the 18 year old and explain to her
that she will be treated as the adult that she is in regard to discussing this
litigation with the minor child and this Court will restrain her being around
her younger sister if she proves to be a detriment to her. She is considered
a third party adult and she is restrained from making disparaging remarks
in the presence of her sistei.  Further, the Guardian and Tamara Willard
are to have a conversation with the minor child and explain to her that she
has a responsibility to direct others who make disparaging remarks in front
of her to refrain from doing so. While the issues in this case may not be
her fault, she is old enough 1o understand why she is in this situation and
what her role is in repairing relationships. Once these conversations have
been: had, the minor child may go to Columbia with her mother to move
her sister to college. The parties shall communicate the departure and
return times and those parameiers shall be followed.

The Father shall participate in counseling with Tamara Willard and the
minor child as Tamara Willard requests and the focus of that counseling
shall be mending the relationship with him and ihe minor child,
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Famil vonasenng with sone Tastulic shall begin immediaely,

5. Al of the 1erms of the Temporary Order 1ot specifically modified herein

shall remain in full force in effect.

9. The issue of attorney’s fees and costs shall be held in abeyance.

NOW, THEREFORE, it is hereby ordered that the ruling of the Court, as set

forth in its entirety above, is hereby approved, merged into, and made the Temporary

Order of this Court.

if
Date: September »O F 2019,
Conway, South Carolina

1pps vs. Capps
:mporzry Order (Not Ending Action)
tse No.: 2019-DR-26-1437

ANDIT IS SO ORDERED.

“F

; e
V4 ~
A L

Melissa J. I,iﬁlckhaqrfo y
Presiding Family Cofirt Judge
Fifteenth Judiciqi ircuit
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ANITA R. FLOYD

A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION
Telephone: (843) 248-3206
Facsimile: (843) 248-7173
P. O. Box 1482

1115 Third Avenue
Conway, SC 29526 Conway, 5C 20528-1482

September 18, 2020

Via E-Mail and U.S. Mail

Ms. Julaan Derrick
Conway, South Carolina 28526

jdl@jdllaw.com
Re: Capps vs. Capps

Dear Julaan:
~J-understand that Emily is not attending counseling-as-the Cour’thasw@rde-redf,

For your and her recollection, | am attaching herewith a copy of the Order from last

August, which notes that “The Father shall participate in counseling with Tamara Willard
and the minor child as Tamara Willard requests and the focus of that counseling shall

be mending the relationship with him and the minor child”.

Unfortunately, | understand that Emily has been only once or twice since the July

6t hearing, and that she has refused to return. | do not befieve that either Emily or
Michelle have the authority to terminate the counseling, or otherwise to set the terms or

conditions, or the limitations upon which the counseling will take place.

| understand that Ms. Willard has attempted to schedule additional sessions, to
no avail, thus this letter asking that your client immediately resume this counseling, as is

required.
| realize that school has started and that Emily participates in cross-country.

However, this will not prose a problem because Ms. Willard's last appointment is at
6:00PM, well after practice for Emily will have ended.

Additionally, the Court Order also provides that "Family counseling with Julia
Castillo shall begin immediately”. It appears as though you may have suggested that

your client is not going to attend this counseling. Accordingly, | am enclosing a copy of
the Order so that you can double-check what is required of the parties and the minor

child.

In kind regards, | am

Capps vs. Capps

pe. 1
Offer to Settle
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AFL/bjp
(Enclosure: Order following Aug.8,
ce: Heather M. Cannon
Julia Castilio
Tamara Willard

pe. 4

Sincerely Yours,

s/
Anita F. Lee

2019 hearing)

Capps vs. Capps
Offer to Settle




From: Emity Capps <ecappsb040@amail.com>
To: HAL CAPPS <halmanzZ8@aoi.com>

Sent: Tue, Sep 22, 2020 7:17 pm

Subject: Re: Hello

What kind of father did you think you were going to be if [ was emancipated from you fike you wanted?
We have worked on our relationship and gone to counseling for years, and it has never once made a
difference. | was trapped al your house for @ months and you never once cared to have a relationship
with me. This is my senior year, and | deserve to enjoy it the best | can. It's crazy to do the same thing
over and over and think that we're gonna get any different outcome. If you want to have a relationship
with me then you need to get your own therapist, find oul what desp-rooted issue you have that causes
you to act this way towards me and Hk, and start working on change. Once that happens, I'm sure that
there would be a huge difference in your actions towards Hk and |, and | would be happy 1o join you in a

counseling session or go to dinner.

On Sun, Sep 20, 2020 at 10:00 PM HAL CAPPS <halman26@aol com> wrote:

| flove you! We need to talk and work on us. | miss you. You need a dad and | am always here for you.
Good night.

Sent from my iPhone
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From: Emily Capps <ecappsbf40@gmail.com>

To: halman26@aol com; tamarawillard <tamarawillard@aol.con >

Sent: Tue, Sep 8, 2020 10:48 pm

Subject: Fwd:

Since you valued being able to put spyware on my phone instead of having a way lo communicate with
me I've kept my word and gotten a phone on my own. Please feel free to stop paying for the service

because the phone is completely broken. If you would give me my Appie ID and password for that phone,
| realty would like to have all of my pictures back. I'd ! be happy to retumn it to you after you give me the

Apple ID and password.

Until you get help for constantly tying, breaking promises, creating chaos, not having your actions match
your words, nol being able to accept responsibility for your horrible and abusive behavior, pretending that
you can't understand how your actions are what has destroyed your relationship with your daughters, not
being able to understand that when you fie and tell ppl thal we refused to stay with you for 2 years even
though you never once came to pick us up and would always tell me no when | asked to come over or
stay with you,-when you lied to the judge and-didn't care that we were at-risk of being sent to DJJ
because of your lies, not our actions. When you tried to get us put in foster care, when you lied to
everyone and said that we talked aboul it with Dr. Smith, you literally looked me in the eyes so many
times and tried to convince me that we had talked to him about it and then you finally admitted lo me and
Tamara that you knew we never talked to him about foster care and acted like it was no big deal thal you
had been gaslighting me for over a year. When you called the police and lied to them, not only did you not

- provide anything for HK-for-college but-you blocked her college account that was-set up to-pay-her tuition--

and you literally told HK that she wasn't welcome at your house or in your office. She was home for over 6
months and you didn't try to speak to her or see her once even though | begged you to reach out to her.
Now you want me to emancipate myself and there are so many other horrible things that you have done.
Because of these and other actions | have realized that untit you get help for yourself nothing is ever
going to be able to get betfer between us. These behaviors are not anywhere near normal; they are
abusive. Your words mean nothing to me and your actions have consequences, | only care about your
actions. Whoever told you that irying to get us put in foster care was a good idea and that you should

have me emancipated shoutd be cut out of your life.

1 want you to know that I have told all of my friends that you wanted me to emancipate myself and sign
away any legal and financial rights and I'm pretly sure that they have all told their parents. That idea is
literally so crazy to normal families. You stole my junior year from me and put me in hell. | deserve to
have a good senior year. | hope that Tamara will be able to help you find someone 1o help you and that
someday you will be befter. When [ read things like the email below and | know the-iruth and all that you
have done to me and HK, all of the things that you have done to harm us, it titerally makes me so angry
and proves to me how messed up you really are. When you continue to do horribie things but then try to
send nice texts | know that it is anly for you to be able to use in court to try to make yourself fook like a

victim.

f reatly do love you but | just can't do this anymore. Please get help and if not please just leave me alone.

mmmmmmeen Forwarded message ---------
From: HAL CAPPS <halman26@aol.com>
Date: Mon, Sep 7, 2020 al 1:24 PM

Subject:
Ta: Emily Capps <ecapps5C40@gmail.com>

Hey sweethear, ['ve sent you several messages and tried to call. Piease talk to me. I'm your dad and |
love you.

What day this week can we go 1o counseling? Can we go eat dinner afterwards? We could go shopping
at the mall for school clothes. |love and miss you!



Based on FAFSA

Brsed on instiutiona! iethodolopgy
i Used by mosl privale insitutions in addition o FAFSA

$21,711 / yr

As calculated by the institution using information reporied on the FAFSA or to your institutior.

{yr

Qn Cempus Residentce

Off Campus Resldence

Tuition and fees 314,263
_Housing and meals 7 $10.092
Becks and supplies $1.250
Transporiation $2,118
Qther education costs $3.400
 Estimated Cosf of Qttqndarig ) $31,123 /yr J
Schelarship and Grant Qptions
Scholarships and Grants are considered "Gift" aid - na repayment is needed,
ferit-Based Scholarships Need-Based Grani Aid
Scholarships from your schnot £5,000 Faderal Pell Grants 30
Scholarships from your state $7.500 Institutional Grants $0
Other scholarships §0 State Grants $0
Employer Paid Tuilion Benefils WIA, Other forms of grant aid %0
Total Scholarships $12500/yr - Total Grants $0 1 yr
Coubino Ulomae N o ey e P I
Net Costs $18,623 /yr
{Cost of attendance minus total grants end scholarships)
Loan and Work Options to Pay the Net Costs to You
‘You miust repay loans, plus interest and fees.
Federal Direcl Subsidized Loan §0/yr Work-study $0 4 yr
(0% interest rate) (Federal, state, or insiitutional)
Federal Direct Unsubsidized Loan 86,500 / yr Haours Per Week 0/ wk
(2.75% interest raie}
Other Campus Job N/A
- Private Loan $0 /yr
(NIR) Total Work Options $0/yr y
Institutional Loan 80/ yr s
(N/A) pMore Information
Other Aid That Must Be Repaid 50 7yr University of Scuth Cerolina - Columbia

In addition to the ipans above, parents may also apply for the
following.

Parent Plus Federal Loan 50 /yr

04 intarse! rafe)

1244 Blossom Sireed, Suite 200
Columbia, SC 20208
Telephone: (803) 777-8134
E-mail: uscfaid@sc edu




r T R
 Loan Ameunts | j Other Patential Education Benefiis
Note thal the amounts listed are the maximum available fo you 7 {. American Opportunity Tax Credit; Parents or students moy qualily
you are aliowed and encouraged 10 borrow less than the maximum lo receive up 1o §2,50C by ciaiming the American Opportunity Tax Credit
amount Jo iearn aboyl josn repayment choices and work out your on their tax relum guring the following calendar year

Fedsral Loan manthiy payment, go lo;
« Miiltary andior National Service Benefits

bitps./studentaid. ed govirepay-loans/understand/plans
» " ‘.fi
( N
HNext steps [ Customized information from University of South Caroling -
’ Columbia

If you have a Federal Direct Unsubsidized Loan and are a
praduate or professlons! student, ihe interest rate on that

unsubsidized loan is currently 4.3%. e

Gost of Attendance (COA}J: The total ameunt (not in¢luding grants and scholarships) that it wifl cast you to go to schicol during the 2020-21 school year.
COA inciudes tuition and fees; housing and maais; and aliowances for books, supplies, ransportation, loan fees, and dependent care. It also inciudes
purchase of & personal computer; costs related to a disability: and reasonable

| miscellaneous and personal expenses, such as an altowance for the rental of 1
1 costs for eligible study-ebroad programs. For students atlending tess than haif-time, the COA includes tuition and fees; an allowance for books, supplies, and

trensportation, and dependent care expenses.

Expected Family Contribution: Anumber used by your schoal to caiculate the amount of federal student aid you ate eligible to receive. it is based bn the
finandial informatian previded in your Free Application for Federal student Aid {FAFSA). This is not the amouni of money your family will have to pay for

collepe, nor is it the amount of federat student aid you will receive.

Federal Work-Study: A federal student aid program that provides part-ime employment while the studenl Is enrofled in schaol to help pay his or het
education expenses, The student must seek ouf and apply for work-study jobs at his or her school. The studer! wilt be paid directly {or the hours he or she
works Bnd the amount he or she earns cannot exceed the tolaf amount awarded by the school for the award year. The avaitabflity of work-study jobs varies

by gchool.
Grants and Scholarships: Student ald funds that do nol have to be repaid. Grans are often need-based, while scholarships sre usually mearit-based.
Occasionatly you might have to pay back part or all of a grant if, for example, you withdraw from scheol before finishing 2 semester.

L.oans: Bomrowed money thal must be repaid with interest. Leans from the federal government typicalty have & lower interest rate than loans from private
tenders. Federal loans, isted from most advantageous to ieast advantageous, are called Direct Subsidized Loans, Direct Unsubsidized Loans, and Parenl

PLUS Leans. You can find more information about federal loans at StudentAid.gov.
Direct Subsidized Loan: Loans that The U.S. Department of Education pays the interest on while you7re in school at least half-time, far the first six
months after you leave school (referred fo as a grace peried™), and during a period of deferment (8 postponement of loan paymenis).

Direct Unsubsldized Loan: Loans thal the borrower is responsible for paying the interest on during ail petiods. If you choose not 1o pay the interest while
you are in schoal and during grace periods and deferment or forbearance periads, your interest will accrue {accurulale) and be capitalized (that is, your

interest wili be added to the principal amourt of your loan).
Parent Pius Loan: A loan avaiiable to the parente of dependent undergraduate students for which the borrower is fully responsible for paying the inferest
regardiess of the foan status.

Private Loan: A nonfederal toan made by a lender such as a bank, credit union, stste agency, or school.

Ket Cost: An eslimate of the actual cost that a student and his or her femily need to pay in & given year to cover education expenses for the student to
attend a particufar school. Net price is determined by taking the institution’s cos! of attendance and subfracting any grants and scholarships for which the

student may be sligible.

For more information visii hitips fistudentaid.qov.




STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
COUNTY OF HORRY
MICHELLE DAVIS CAPPS,
Plaintiff(s),
V.
JOSEPH HAROLD CAPPS, JR.,

Defendant(s).

Date of Hearing:
Presiding Judge:
Attorney for Plaintiff:
Attomey for Defendant:
Court Reporter

T I i i i T g W e

IN THE FAMILY COURT
FOR THE FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL
CIRCUIT

CASE NO: 2020-DR-26-1440

ORDER FROM PLAINTIF¥’S
MOTION FOR TEMPORARY RELIEF

“September 25,2020 L s :

The Honorable Jan B, Bromgll Holmffs
Gregory Forman =y ‘
Anita Floyd Lee _ ;_ SR

DCRP 2

-7

ot

This matter came before me on the 25“’ day of September, 2020, on the Plaintiff’s motion

for temporary relief. Appearing at the hearing were both parties with their respective atiorneys,

Afier reviewing the pleadings, the motion and return, and the parties’ affidavits, this court issues

the following order:

1. The Plaintiff's request that the Defendant contribute to HKC’s college expenses on a

temporary basis is denied. Each of these college expense cases are fact specific. The

funds for college are available for the eldest child on behalf of the Defendant Father. The

eldest child is not a party to the action and has engaged in direct communication with the

Father concerning the issue. She has not submitted an affidavit as to her request to the

Father io pay any amount and because she is not a party to this action is not subjected to

cross examination as to her communication with her Father concerning her request or her

efforts made in paying for college, obtaining a job or applying for loans. The Father

included in his affidavit the discussion with the eldest child. On a temporary basis, the



Court will not grant any relief.

2. Both parties’ requests for temporary fees and costs are held in abeyance.

3. As the Defendant’s request for dismissal was not before the court, the court did not
address it.
IT IS SO ORDERED!

Oxoun B HelmeX

THE HONORABLE JAN B. BROMELL HOLMES
PRESIDING JUDGE, FAMILY COURT

Georggtdﬁ, Sqyth Carolina
Ot 2 2020




STATE OF SQUTI1 CAROLINA ) INTHEFAMILY COURT
) FOR THE FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL
COUNTY OF HORRY }  CIRCUTT
)
MICHELLE DAVIS CAPPS, )  CASENO: 2020-DR-26- 1440
}
Plainti ({s), ) AFFIDAVIT OF MICHELLE DAVIS
)  CAPPSIN OPPOSITION TO
V. )  DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR A
)} PROTECTIVE. ORDER AND TO
JOSEPH HAROLD CAPPS, JR., )  DISMISS
)
Defendani(s). )
}

1.

The affixnt, after being duly sworn, deposes snd sayy as follows:

[ am the Plaintiff in the above captioned action. The Defendant is my ex-husband. We
have two adult children topather, HKC, who is a funior at the Hogors Collcpe nt the
University of South Carolina and EHC, who is a [reshman at the Honors Collegeat

Clemson Univensity.

Throughout our post-divoree litigation, the Defendant has refused to make any requinsg
fimancial disclosures, despite the clear wandate of fiting a financial declzration any Limc
financial issues arc raised. 1find this court’s continued willingness to allow the
Defondant Lo defy the clear rules 10 be inexplicable und this motion is yet another attempt
10 dely the rules. That said, if the Defendant is willing 10 stipulate that he is not secking
fees from me in this case, that he has the ability to pay all of my fecs, and that he has the
ability 10 pay ull college support that might be authorized under current case law without
contribution from me, [ would be willing o not have him provide any financial
disclosyre in this case. QOtherwise, | belicve fimancial disclosure is mandated,

Further, 1 find the Defendant’s motion for a protective order inexplicable and waste of
judicial resources. There has not been a motioa 1o compe] such financial disclosure and
this request could have been raised al trisl. Instend, my attorncy was required to prepare
for and atiend this hearing.

The Defendant requests this protective order based on claims that I have alicnated him
from our children. [ would note that only onc order has found me in contempt on that
issue and that order is currently on appeal. The rulc to show cause the Defendant




9.

10.

references in paragraph two of his motion resulted m a finding that T was not in contempt.
‘The Defendant raises numerous claims that 1 have used his fmancial condition to alicnate
him from our children. While | vehemently deny these allepations, they are not a basis
for a protective order, especially when the children are now emancipated. To the extent
he is using his clzims of alienation to justify not providing callege support for our
children, he is basically forcing me to have the children tostify at trinl as to why they urc
alicnated from him. 1 would note that when he obtalned sple custody of our younger
daughter, along with an order prohibiting me from contacting her, my daghter lived with
him for nine months but retuaned to me at ape sixteen with his Bcit corment. He had nine
monihs to develop a good relationship with ber without any interference from me but
didn't That foilureis his, S o
I furiber note that the Defendant's motion demands I ba responsible for all his fecs while
at the: same time be refuses 1 supply the financial disclosurc pecessary for s court to
properly examine the appropriale antomey fee factors. The Defendant has repeatedly uscd

bis refusal to provide financial disclosure s a sword and a ehield, us he did in the order

on appeal. The court needs to stop allowing him to do this.

I would further note that this action would nol have been necessary if the Defendant hiad
mercly agreed 10 pay for our daughicrs' college educationy according Lo the approprinte
college suppon fastors. It look my filing this action to even get him (o releasc our alder
daughtcr’s pre-paid eollepe mition fumds.

1 would nol object to a protective order preventing me from Fharmg eny of the
Defendant’s linancial information with our adult children.

This mater is not made moot mercly bocanse the Defendant tumed over the his pre-paid
college luition fimds to HKC. My complant did not limit the Defendant™s contribution
to those funds and [ am seeking retmbursemcnt for funds I already provided for our
daughters® college expenses. Further, my complaint sought contribution for both of our
children snd sought attormey”™s fees and costs. This action is not mool

1 have standing 1o bring this action. There am numerous reportad appeliate decisions in
which a parcut has brought a collepe reimburscment claim on behalf of an adnlt child
To defeat the Defendant’s standing defense would require our children to bocome parties

2



H.

o thix action. The Defendant has madc myriad (I believe falsc) allegations that I have
attzmpted to alienate the children from him. 11 had our davghters join me as parties to
this action, it would simply bolster the Defendant’s claim of alienation. Rather, this
sardling defense shows the Defendant's willingness to be the cause of his own alicnation
from them.

There was no cunrent demasnd for financial disclosure from the Defendant. This
prolective order demand is not only counter to South Carolina procedural rules, it could
have bocn mised in 2 motion at the start of tial, ) belicve the Defendant’s motion for a
protective order was unneocssary and premature, and mercly designed to foreclose the
mediation thal is sct for the day after this hearing.

12, I'have incurred attorney’s fics for defending this motion. | would ask that the Defendant
pay my fees for defending this motion.
FURTHER AFFIANT SAYETII NOTI
R — B A Mu,u Q'-u-:o QQ_..PPQ; ) — e
MIL ELLE DAVIS CAPPS
Sworm and Subscribed before me

this 30 Deyor pdfen 20adf




STATE QOF SOUTH CAROLINA ) IN THE FAMILY COURT
) FOR THE FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL
COUNTY OF HORRY ) CIRCUIT
)
MICHELLE DAVIS CAPPS, ) CASE NO: 2020-DR-26-1440
)
Plaintiff(s), ) PLAINTIFF’S RETURN TO
) DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR A
v, ) PROTECTIVE ORDER AND TO
) DISMISS
JOSEPH HAROLD CAPPS, JR., )
)
Defendant(s). )
)

_ The Plaintiff, by and through her undersigned attorney, returns the Defendant’s motion

for a protective order and to dismiss as follows:

1.

E\J

W ”'75{5, SCFCR Tl:us E(;uﬁ‘s inexplicable and rei:veeﬁad refusal to force the Defendant to

The Defendant’s motion is yet another attempt to evade the explicit requirements of Rule

comply with this rule should not be repeated.

If the Defendaﬁt is willing to stipulate that: 1) he is fulling capable of paying 100% of the
children’s educational expenses, net of work study, grants, and student loans; 2) that he is
not seeking contribution from the Plaintiff towards these expenses; 3) that he is not
seeking attorney’s fees and costs from me in this matter; and 4) that he has the ability to
pay 100% of the Defendant’s fees and costs from this case, then his income information
is not needed. Otherwise, he should be required to provide this information. There is no
basis for the Defendant’s requested relief otherwise as his financial condition would
remain relevant,

This matter is not made moot merely because the Defendant turned over the his pre-paid
college tuition funds to the parties’ oldest child. The Plaintiff’s complaint did not limit

the Defendant’s contribution to those funds. The Plaintiff's complaint sought



contribution for both of the parties® children—the youngest of whom is at the Honors
College at Clemson University. The Defendant seeks reimbursement of fund she has
already contributed to the children’s college expenses. The Plaintiff’s complaint sought
attorney’s fees and costs. This action is not moot.

The Plaintiff's action should not be dismissed due to her alleged lack of standing to bring
an action for college support an behalf of her adult children, The Defendant did not raise
any Rule 19 or Rule 12(h), SCRCP defenses in his answer and counterclaim. Pursuant to
Rule 1?@)(2), SCRCP, he has waived the defense of standing or failure to join an
indispensable party because he did not raise these defenses in his ans#rer and
counterclaim.

Further, the Defendant’s standing argument iy disingeniuous. “On one hand, he claims that— —
this action was brought solely to alienate him from the parties’ children, On the other

hand, he claims the action should be dismissed because the Plaintiff did not join the

parties® children as parties. It is the Defendant, though his litigation posture, who has
attempted to force the involvement of the parties’ children.

Further, the Defendant’s motion to dismiss should be denied as case law is clear thata

parent is not required to join an adult child to a case in order to seek college support for

that child and that a parent has standing to bring such an action on behalf of an adult

child. The Supreme Court case reviving the right to seek college support, McLeod v,

Starnes, 396 §.C. 647, 723 S.E.2d 198 (2012), shows a parent seeking college support for

her child without that child being made a party. Further, the child was not a party to the

action in Risinger v. Risinger, 273 8.C. 36, 253 S.E.2d 652 (1979) or Hughes v. Hughes,

280 S.C. 388, 313 S.E.2d 32 (Ct.App.1984). The Defendant does not cite any authority

2



for his claim that a parent lacks standirig to bring a college support action on behalf of an

adult child.
7. The Plaintiff has incurred fees and costs to defend this motion and believes the

Defendant should be required to pay her fees and costs for this motion.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED

%1/ g
GREGORY 5. FORMAN, ESQUIRE
- Attorney for Plaintiff(s)
171 Church Street, Suite 160
Charleston, SC 29401

(843) 720-3749
(843) 614-5086 (fax)

B — - attorney(@greporyforman.com - -

Charleston, South Carolina

November 1, 2021
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA IN THE FAMILY COURT

FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
COPRPY

)
)
COUNTY OF HORRY )
)
)
) MOTION AND ORDER INFORMATION
)
)
)
)
)

Michelle Davis Capps,

Plaintiff, FORM AND COVERSHEET
Vs,
Joseph Harold Capps, Jr.,
Defendant, Docket No. 2020-DR-26-1440
Plaintiff’s Attorney: Defendant’s Attorney:
Gregory S, Foreman, Bar No. Anita Floyd Lee, Bar No, 2044
Address: Address:
1115 Third Avenue, Conway, SC 29526
Phone: Fax Phone: 843-248-3206 FaxB843-248-7173
E-mail: Other: B E-mail; afloyd @anitafioydtaw.comOther-
XIMOTION HEARING REQUESTED (attach written motion and complete SECTIONS [ and IIY)
[_JFORM MOTION, NO HEARING REQUESTED (complete SECTIONS I and I1I)
[(JPROPOSED ORDER/CONSENT ORDER {complete SECTIONS II and 1II)

SECTION I: Hearing Information
Nature of Motion: Motion -
— Court Reporier Needed: [XIYES/ ] NO

Estimated Time Needed: 30 mins, -
SECTION I1: Motion/Order Type

DdWritten motion attached

[ JForm Motion/Order _
I hereby move for relief or action by the court as set forth in the attached proposed order.

Fox 3oy =

Signature of Attornéy for |_] Plaintiff /[X) Defendant Date submitted =~ "7 !
SECTION III: Motion Fee I
[X] PAID — AMOUNT: $ =
[V EXEMPT: [ ] Rule to Show Cause in Child or Spousal Support ST, 7
(check reason) [ ] Domestic Abuse or Abuse and Neglect : -~
[ ]Indigent Status  [] State Agency v. Indigent Party

[] Sexually Violent Predator Act [ ] Post-Conviction Reljef

(] Motion for Stay in Bankruptcy
[] Motion for Publication  [] Motion for Execution (Rule 69, SCRCP)

[ Proposed order submitted at request of the court; or,
reduced to writing from motion made in open court per judge’s instructions

Name of Court Reporter:

[ ] Other:
JUDGE'’S SECTION
[ Motion Fee to be paid upon filing of the attached | JUDGE CODE
order.
[ ] Other: Date:
CLERK’S VERIFICATION

Collected by: \{“ Date Filed: "6 %!
MOTION FEE COLLECTED: % .

CONTESTED - AMOUNT DUE: $

SCCA 233F (12/2009)




IN THE FAMILY COURT OF THE

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA )
COUNTY OF HORRY } FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
) Case Number: 2020-DR-26-1440 2
Michelle Davis Capps, } S 'f _
Plaintiff, j) MOTION - ;j h f_'“’_]
-vs- ) S
) t - '._—_-J
Joseph Harold Capps, Jr., ) '
Defendant. )

)
PLAINTIFF ABOVE-NAMED AND HER ATTORNEY, GREGORY S. FOREMAN

TO:
YOU WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE, that on the tenth day after service hereof, or as

sooﬁ thereafter as 'mé'y be heard,ﬂDefé'ndant abéve-named will mo@e before”thris Honorablie
Court for an Order relieving him of any obligation to provide his personal financial
information to-Plaintiff; or in the alternative, that he be allowed to provide this information -
under seal, for the Court’s eyes only, as Plaintiff has shown through words and actions that
she should not be entitled to this information. Specificaily, Defendant submits that this
action was filed for no reason but to further her alienation of the children and also for
purposes of obtaining financial information to which she would never have otherwise been
entitled. Accordingly, ifDefenda.nt is required to provide Plaintiff with information related
to his financial status, Plaintiff effectively benefits from her own malfeasance. Under the
prevailing facts and circumstances, your Defendant submits that his request is appropriate
and should be granted, for the reasons noted hereinbelow as well as for the reasons as will

be presented at the time of this motion hearing:

1. The parties separated from one another nearly 10 years ago, and they entered into

an Agreement in 2014 which provided for custody and visitation, as well as for pre-

paid college tuition (See attached EXHIBIT "A").

o !
1| Page
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Capps vs. Capps
Motion
Case Number: 2020-DR-26-1440



2. Since the issuance of the Order approving the parties’ agreement, Defendant has
been forced to file two prior Rules to Show Cause based upon Plaintiff's alienation
tactics (See attached EXHIBIT “B” and EXHiBIT "C ), and a third Rule to Show Cause is
currently pending. Plaintiff was held in contempt of court and sanctions were
issued against her following the Rules which have thus far been presented (See
attached Exumisrt “D” and ExHiBIT “E").

3. Asis evident, Plaintiff used, inter alia, financial issues in her successful efforts to

alienate the children from your Defendant. Among other things, Plaintiff did the

following:
a. She told the children that your Defendant loved money more than heloved
them; and '

b. She toid the children that Defendant had kicked them out of their house; and

c. _She directed the children on many occasions to try and entice Defendantinto

purchasing expensive gifts for her, including one particular occasion when
Defendant had taken the children on a family vacation; and

d. She called Defendant "deadbeat” in front of the children on numerous
occasions, notwithstanding that his alimony and child support amounted to
$14,000, and notwithstanding that Plaintiff was in her early 40’s and
obtained her Master’s Degree during the marriage though she refused to
obtain gainful employment before or after the parties’ divorce; and

She encouraged the children to record encounters with Defendant [See
Exhibit 2 to Affidavit in Support of Ex Parte Order filed June 17, 2019, in case

number 2019-DR-26-1437]; and

f. She encouraged the parties’ youngest child to take pictures of Defendant’s
financial records on about july 19, 2017, or in the alternative, her actions led

this child to believe that engaging in such behavior was acceptable; and

She allowed the parties’ oldest child to believe that Defendant was obligated
to purchase a vehicle for her, going so far as to fabricate a story that she and
Defendant had discussed the circumstances under which this vehicle would
be purchased, notwithstanding that this child was a pre-teen at the time of
separation, and the suggestion was ludicrous [See Exhibit 3 to Affidavit in
Support of Ex Parte Order filed June 17, 2019, in case number 2019-DR-26-

1437]; and

2| Page
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Motion
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h. She encouraged, planned, and then accompanied the parties’ oldest child to
visit expensive colleges and universities outside the State of South Carolina,
notwithstanding her knowledge that Defendant had a pre-paid in-state
college plan and had expressed his decision not to contribute more than the
cost of a publicly supported in-state institution, thereby enabling the child to
believe that Defendant was responsible for the cost of any university she

chose to attend;

She expressed or implied through words or actions that Defendant owed the
parties’ children unlimited financial support during their college careers, as a
resuit of which the oldest child felt empowered to demand of Defendant his

hank statements and tax returns so that she (the child} could determine
whether Defendant was able to pay for this child to attend the college of her

choice. - - =

4. Regarding the parties’ oldest child, after Plaintiff began encouraging her to look into

expensive out-of-state colleges and universities, and after Defendant refused to

purchasea vehicle for thischild due to-behavioral issues, this child began spewing -
hatred not only toward Defendant, but also toward his lawyer as well as the Judge
who had heard the two Rules to Show Cause (See attached EXHIBIT “F").

5. Although Plaintiff vehemently denied her alienation of the children, the attached
affidavit from Hal Heidt, dated June 7, 2019, verifies that at the time of separation,
this child and her father were not alienated {See attached EXHIBIT “G").

However, as our Appellate Courts have determined, alienation is not the result of
one act alone. It is a process that involves the failure to foster “a feeling of
affections” between the children and the alienated parent over an extended period
of time; it is the result of one parent repeatedly hampering the free and natural
development of a child’s love and respect for the other parent. See Noojin v. Nogjin,

4178.C.300 316, 789 S.E.2d 769 {S.C App. 2016).
6. Plaintiff was very insidious: Through words and actions, she systematically

undermined Defendant to the children, she interfered with his visitationona
regular basis, and she constantly complained about Defendant’s failure to provide
for them financially. Ultimately, Plaintiff and the children were so enmeshed in
regards to their relationships with Defendant that the parent/child relationship
3| Page
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between Defendant and the children was not merely damaged, but destroyed,
Furthermore, any person with whom Defendant developed a relationship -
including Defendant’s wife - experienced the same loathing from the children, as
has been proven in two prior Rules to Show Cause,

This Court has determined on two separate occasions that Plaintiff has engaged in
egregious patterns of alienation, and she has used Defendant’s income as one of her
primary weapons. In the event she is provided verification of Defendant’s income,

she will have increased the weapons in her arsenal, and Defendant prays that this

not be allowed.

. On several occasions, Plaintiff has demanded information related to Defendant's -

husiness income as well as his net income. She has attempted to obtain his tax
returns and the children have parroted her to such an extent that the eldest felt

entitled to demand tax returns and bank statements, and the youngest felt entitled

to take pictures of financial documents that were in a closed briefcase. This

entitlement could only have been the result of either direct instructions from
Plaintiff (i.e., as she did on july 17, 2017 when she instructed the children to record
him), or an entitlement that arose as a result of Plaintiff's constant communications
with the children regarding Defendant’s income and assets. .

The Courts abhor alienation, as is evident from their repeated holdings that the
primary caregiver is the gatekeeper of the children’s emotions; and as such the
primary caregiver is charged with encouraging affections between children and the
non-primary parent, and is further expected to engage in no actions which would
hamper the natural development of a child’s love and respect for the other parent.
It has been determined through tWo separate court orders that Plaintiff has shirked
her duties and her obligations in these regards, and Defendant prays that this
Honorable Court be proactive in its protection against further alienation actions and

that it thus deny Plaintiff access to any information relative to Defendant’s income,

assets or worth.
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Based upon the foregoing, and for additional reasons as will be presented at the
time of this motion hearing, Defendant requests that he be relieved of any obligation to
produce evidence of his income or his financial worth, or in the alternative, that he be
allowed to present this information under seal. Defendant affirmatively acknowledges that
he is capable of satisfying his attorney’s fees and costs, notwithstanding that he believes
Plaintiff should be responsible for same, as he believes the evidence and the facts and the
history supports the conclusion that Plaintiff has instituted this action for only two reasons,
neither of which should be condoned by this Honorable Court: (1) to further interfere in

the relationship between Defendant and his children; and (2) to obtain information relative

to Defendant’s income, assets, and worth.

YOU WILL PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE, that on the date and time herein
indicated, or to be indicated, Defendant will move before this Honorable Court for an Order

awarding unto him attorney’s fees and costs based upon the mere filing of this action. This

motion is based upon the following:

10. Plaintiff instituted this action under the guise of obtaining access to college funds for
the parties’ children. However, as has been established, Plaintiff disregarded
Defendant’s requests and demands regarding this issue (See attached ExuiBiT “H"),
notwithstanding that the parties’ child had reached the age of 18 and had repeatedly
proclaimed to Defendant that she was an “adult”, and notwithstanding that

Defendant had clearly expressed to Plaintiff that the issue was between him and the

child [See EXHIBIT "H"].
11. Upon information and belief, Plaintiff's actions verify that despite the ages of the

parties’ children, her alienation tactics continue. As a practical matter, the Court
Order which addressed college funds did not specify when the funds in issue would

be turned over to the children. Further, the child had reached the age of 18 and was

5| Page
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thus an adult, yet she was not a party to this lawsuit. Accordingly, Plaintiff had no
standing to institute the within action, though she nonetheless filed a Complaint
seeking to have this Honorable Court modify an existing Order and force him to turn
over a fund to which she has no claim, and has never had any claim.

12. Defendant submits that Plaintiff's actions were intended to block and thwart his
efforts to have an adult conversation and understanding with his adult daughter.
Plaintiff's filing suggests a passive-aggressive approach designed to sabotage
Defendant’s efforts to re-establish a relationship with his daughter, and was
designed to undermine your Defendant to this child. Additionally, Plaintiff’s filing of
the within action confirms that she, as the controlling agent, has been encouraging

this campaign against Defendant, notwithstanding that her success is evident from

the attached Exhibit “F".
13. Plaintiff has accomplished nothing from the within action but to widen the chasm

""" which she has heretofore created through her “loyalty bind” with the parties’
children, whereby they were never allowed to simultaneously enjoy both parents.

Stated otherwise,

Mother's behavior “triangulat{ed] the children, creating an
alignment between one parent and the children, and creating
toxic circumstances to increase the likelihood that they will reject

the other parent.
Nogiin v. Noojin, 417 S.C. at 317, 788 S.E. 2d at 778

14. This action should never have been filed, and Defendant submits that Plaintiff

should be held responsible for all fees and costs as he has incurred in this matter, as
well as what he may incur pending and through the final hearing.

15. Defendant acknowledges that his income is sufficient to pay his own attorney's fees
and costs. However, that should not relieve Plaintiff of her obligation to compensate
Defendant for his fees and costs, as Plaintiff's actions verify that this case was
merely another effort for her to alienate the children, as well as an attempt to gain

access to personal financial information to which she should not be entitled.
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16. Additionally, public policy should demand that Plaintiff accept full responsibility for
all fees and costs reilated to this action; otherwise, parents who have chosen not to
become financially independent will or may feel empowered to bring repeated
actions against the "payor ex-spouse” for no reason but to harass and harangue, or
as a subterfuge for an unstated motive - i.e, as in this situation where a lawsuit was
instigated in an effort to gain access to Plaintiff's financial status.

YOU WILL PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE, that on the date and time herein

indicated, or to be indicated, Defendant will move before this Honorable Court for an Order

dismissing Plaintiff's Complaint. This motion is based upon the following:

17. For the reasons set forth above, Plaintiff does not have standing to institute the

within action.
18. Further, after Plaintiff instituted the within action, the oldest child's hatred toward

Defendant became palpable, as a result of which Defendant decided to turn over to

her the pre-paid college tuition funds, thereby making the subject of Plaintiff's

action moot.

WHEREFORE, Defendant prays that this Honorable Court consider his motion, and
that it consider Plaintiff's prior actions, and that it then dismiss Plaintiff's Complaint; that it

relieve him of the obligation to reveal to Plaintiff his income or his worth; and that further,

it require Plaintiff to fully compensate Defendant for the attorney's fees and costs as he has

incurred in this matter.
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180 MOVE, this 15 day of March, 2021.

Respectfully Submitted,

Anita F. Lee (SC Bar #2044)

1115 3rd Avenue (P.0. Box 1482)
Conway, South Carclina 29526 (29528)
Phone: 843.248.3206

Fax: 843.248.7173

Email: afloyd@anitafloydlaw.com
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State of South Cavolina
The Family Court of the Fifteenth FJudicial Civeuit

Post Office Drawer 479
Jan B. Bromell Holmes 401 Cleland Street, Suite 238
Judge Georgefown, SC 29442

Phone: (B843) 545-3035
Fax: (843) 545-3264
jholmessc@sccourts.org

December 13, 2021

Attorney Gregory Samuel Forman
Via email; attorney@garegoryforman.com

Attorney Anita-Floyd-Lee - — — — e — —— =
Via email: afloyd@anitafloydlaw.com

RE: Michelle Davis Capps vs. Joseph Harold Capps, Jr.
C/A# 2020-DR-26-1440

Good Morning All:

The Court has now had an opportunity to fully review the file and all submissions
by the parties in its entirety and finds and concludes that this action should be dismissed
in its entirety, with both parties being responsible for payment of their attorney fees. | am
directing Mrs. Lee to prepare the order. Include the history of litigation between the
parties as documented in court orders as well as the alienation issue concerning the
children. Also note that during the parties’ marriage and subsequent divorce, prepaid
college tuition was addressed by agreement of the parties in the marital asset addendum.

Include all exhibits submitied to the Court that supports this ruling as well as
differentiate how the facts in this case are distinguishable from case law in McLeod v.
Starnes: the partiés in the case at hand addressed prepaid college expenses at the time
of the divorce as well as set aside an amount for college tuition to be maintained/paid by
the Defendant, the parties did not do so in the McLeod case; the father and adult child in
the MclLeod case were not estranged and actually communicated with respect to the
Father’s payment of certain expenses, in spite of the Father reneging on his agreement,
the Father and aduit child in the case at hand are estranged due to documented-alienation
by the Mother as determined in Court orders. Father attempted to repair the relationship




with the adult child by asking her to go to counseling with him and he would in turn pay
the college expenses rather than supporting Father’s efforts, Mother alleges that she paid
college expenses and in turn filed this action seeking to have the Court order Father to
reimburse her for the alleged college expenses that she paid. The very act undermines
and disrespects the Father's authority and further alienates the adult child from her
Father. Public policy and life’s lessons teaches children, whether they are minors or adults
to “honor their parents”. It is not public policy to acquiesce in a child’s lack of respect for
a parent and yet order the parent to give into the desires or wishes of a child that
disrespects or disobeys him.

The eldest child was emancipated at the time this action was filed and now the
younger child is emancipated as well due to the passage of time. Neither child has
requested nor has been listed as a party to this action in Plaintiff's request to seek
reimbursement of college expenses from the Defendant. Neither child has submitted an
affidavit to the Court stating that they in fact have outstanding college expenses that they

- are requesting that Defendant pay. The children are extremely mature and have engaged

in questionable inappropriate communication with the father as well as has been
disrespectful to him through social media or direct contact such that Plaintiff should not
act as a buffer to shield them from what is required by case law to be presented to the
Court. Furthermore, the children are adults and any statements presented by Plaintiff on

their behalf-is—hearsay, not subjected to—cross-examination. Plaintiff-has engaged-in -

communication with the eldest child as submitted in Plaintiffs “Exhibit C* and also
submitted as Defendant's “Exhibit G" of which is an email sent from Plaintiff to the eldest
child encouraging her to “Please contact the Financial Aid office and request a copy of
our EFC sheetsfform PRIOR TO ME SUBMITTING THE CHANGE OF
CIRCUMSTANCES INFO.., This is really important b/c | want to have the highest level of
need possible for your dad to be responsible for.” This statement in and of itself indicates
disingenuousness and lack of credibility on the part of Plaintiff in her efforts to illicit and/or
gain as much money possible from the Defendant, regardiess of whether the money is
necessary for the child/children’s tuition. It is also disturbing in that Plaintiff is conspiring
with the parties’ adult child to be untruthful about the amount of funds, if any, needed for
college expenses. Please include the language from the Order issued as a result of the
hearing held September 25, 2020 entitled "Order from Plaintiffs Motion for Temporary
Relief dated October 29, 2020 and filed November 12, 2020. The Court indicated the
necessity of the eldest adult child being made a party to the action as the funds for college
were available and the eldest adult child and Defendant Father engaged in discussions
with respect to same, but yet no affidavit was presented on her behalf, nor is she a party
to this action, she did not appear at either hearing, is not subjected to cross examination
by the Court as to her communication with her father concerning her Mother’s request or
her efforts made in paying for college, obtaining a job, or applying for student loans, etc.
Plaintiff through her attorney has taken the position that the aduit child/children are not
necessary parties to the action and/or they haven't decided whether they will be called as
a witness concerning Plaintiff's request for reimbursement of college expenses. Case
law is specific as to what one must show in Risinger:



(1) The characteristics of the child indicate that he or she will benefit from college;
and,

(2) The child demonstrates the ability to do well, or at least make satisfactory grades;
and,

(3) The child cannot otherwise go to college; and,

{4) The parent has the financial ability to pay for such an education.

The Family Court judge must apply these four factors when determining whether one or
both, of the parents, should be required to contribute to college expenses. The additional
factor in McLeod requires the court to factor that parents who would have otherwise paid
for their children’s college expenses, but for the divorce, should be required to pay for
college. In considering this factor, the Court notes that during the parties' marriage, the
Defendant created through the South Carolina Tuition Prepayment Program accounts for
each of the now adult children of the parties: the total purchase price was $74,646.44 with
the divided amount $36,611.15 for Haley K. Capps and $38,035.29 for Emily H. Capps.

The parties agreed that Defendant in the divorce action would continue contributing to

these accounts and he has done so. Thus, the parties agreed as married parents of the
children that this amount would be set aside for the children's education. The Plaintiff .
attempts in this action to recoup funds that she has paid towards the eldest child college
expenses. The Court finds that she is not exempt from aiso contributing to the children's

college expenses because she would have done so as well as a married spouse. She
has monthly income of $10,500 as a result of alimony paid to her by Defendant which
totals a gross amount of $126,000.00. However, she has continued her efforts to have
the Court require the Defendant to file a financial declaration with the Court for the
purpose of her obtaining his current monthly income, expenses, assets and debts. The
Court's hands are tied as to the truth of the matter as to what amount, if any, is needed
by the adult child/children for payment of their college tuition by either parent above and
beyond the prepaid college tuition account provided by the Defendant as the adult
children are not parties to this action and have not supplied the Court with any testimony
as to any actual outstanding college expenses. As referenced in the exhibit provided to
the Court, it is Plaintiff's desire to have Defendant pay the highest need possible. ltis the
Court’s position that due to the facts and circumstances of this particular case, the adult
children are necessary parties in this matter. The fact that they have not been asked to
verify through affidavit, appeared at any hearings or be named as parties to this action to
provide actual amount of college expenses creates a rebuttable presumption that there
is no request on their behalf: that this is yet another attempt by Plaintiff o continue
litigation with the Defendant in an effort o have the court order him to submit a financial
declaration so that she is apprised of her ex-husband of nearly 8 years financial status
when in fact she is no longer privileged to his financial status. Please include language
from prior orders addressing Plaintiff's request for Defendant to file a financial declaration
in prior mafters.

The matter is dismissed and may be re-filed by the adult children if they believe
that they have college expenses that the Defendant shouid be required to pay above and
beyond the agreed amount set aside in the prepaid college tuition plan during the parties’
marriage and subsequent divorce in accordance to the established case law.



As stated, please include all language or submissions submitted to the Court that
supports the Court’s overall ruling that have not been included in this Memo.

Very truly yours,
Jan B, Bromell Hobmes

Family Court Judge
Fifteenth Judicial Circuit
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IN THE FAMILY COURT OF THE
- FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
Case Number: 2020-DR-26-1440

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
COUNTY OF HORRY

Michelle Davis Capps,
Plaintiff, AFFIDAVIT OF DEFENDANT

-vs-

Joseph Harold Capps, Jr.,
Defendant.
PERSONALLY APPEARED BEFORE ME THE UNDERSIGNED AFFIANT WHO BEING DULY

SWORN AND DEPOSED STATES AS FOLLOWS:

e i i S TR S Tl MU S X W Y W)

Litigation History
— “1. “Michelle and 1 had an unhappy marriage and a turmultuous divorce, [ filed three -

Rules against her, two of which resulted in my favor; and | filed an action for
custody and was granted that relief on an ex parte basis. That ex parte Order was

affirmed on_at least two subsequent occasions. All of my filings were based upon

Michelle's alienation.
2. Although Michelle claims there was only one time she was found in contempt, | must

respectfully disagree: In my first RTSC, Michelle not only had to pay $20,000 toward
my attorney’s fees, but she had to attend counseling to address her alienation
tactics. Thus, she acknowledged alienation and although I agreed not to pursue
further sanctions, my complaint was that she had alienated the children, and she
tacitly admitted this when she agreed to pay fees and get counseling.

3. Irefused to consider settlement of the second RTSC because she never complied
with the first one. In that action, the Court found clear alienation.

4. My third filing was for custody of our youngest daughter EC, and that is the relief |
was granted on an ex parte basis, By the time I filed for custody of EC, our oldest
daughter, with whom I had a great relationship prior to the separation, hated me.
She hated me, my attorney (whose name she should not have even known), and the
judge (alsoc whose name she should not have known}. In that action, a court

appoeinted expert in Charleston confirmed that Michelle had indeed alienated the

children.



5. My third Rule to Show Cause was based upon the Court’s order that Michelle was to

have no communication with EC, and almost immediately, | discovered that they
were in regular communication. Personally, I think the judge did not want to hold
Michelle in contempt because with her priors, she would have had to be sentenced
to jail and Judge Norton did not think that would accomplish anything. By way of
information: } ha.d ahsolute verification that the phones of EC and Michelle
connected for aver 20 minutes within two days of Michelle being told she could have
zero communication with our daughter. Michelie claimed that she did not know
how to turn her phone off but she literally put the phane face down and just ignored
the ringing; she never realized that when she was putting the phone down she must

have made a connection, but she "swore” she had no communication with EC,

. 'There is an app known as “WhatsApp”. It does not keep records of texts or of phone

calls except on the actual device. There is no detailed billing; there is no way to

~ prove communication unless you get the device itself AND if the texts and callsare

not deleted by the user. EC was deleting the texts as she went, as was Michelle. |
know they were communicating because Michelle would say something and then EC
would practically mimic her. What [ was dealing with was not coincidental, but |
could not prave this because of the App. All | had was the one 20 minutes
connection, and the judge said that | did not "prove” they had actually talked.
Michelle was not found in contempt, but attached is the Court’s reasoning when it
refused to award her attorney’s fees and costs. If anything, this supports my

supposition as to why there was no finding of contempt.

Factual History

8. Throughout our marriage, Michelle was money hungry and status conscious. This

was never more evident than her demands for virtually my entire salary when we
separated, plus for me to pay for a home we could barely afford when we bought it.
In context: 1am a dentist and at that time ] was working 10-12 hours a day. 1 made
a good living, but establishing a savings was virtually impossible with Michelle.
Further, Michelle got her Master's Degree during our marriage and at the time of our

separation she was barely 40 years’ old. However, she refused to get a job.

[



9. lagreed to pay an exorbitant amount of alimony with the hope that if she got
$10,500 per month, she would not alienate the children from me. | was wrong, as
history has shown, She expressed that if | did not want her, I could not have my
children. That is the only reason | stayed the last two years, during which time | was
miserable in my marriage. Point being that | knew Michelle would alienate the
children unless 1 was very proactive, which is why I agreed to alimony and child
support amount in the amount of $14,000 per month.

10. Michelle still used money to alienate the children:

a. She told them that | loved maney more than I loved them (which she denied

until | confronted her with a tape recording wherein she admitted it);

b. She told them that I had kicked them out oftheirwhrc;ﬁse, and 'the chii;ir;n
started telling me they were “uncomfortable” there without their mother;

¢. She once told our oldest HKC to tell me that for mother's day, she {HKC)
S —- wanted to get-Michelle a Louis Vuitton bag and unlimited-charging privileges-
at the Dunes Club [l had the text messages between Michelle and HKC];

d. She called me a deadbeat in front of them, actually going so far as to tell them
I'was nothing but a sperm donor;

e. She instructed them to take pictures of bank records and financial
documents; '

f  She told our oldest that she and | had discussed the kind of vehicle we would
buy for her {HKC), though Michelle and | pever. talked about getting HKC a
vehicle - in fact, HKC was only 11 when we separated;

g. Michelle took our oldest to NYC to look at expensive private colleges, and
then HKC wanted to see my financial records so she could determine
whether 1 conld pay for her to go there. What was really so absurd about this
is that Michelle knew 1 established in-state prepaid college tuition accounts
for our children so that their in-state tuition would be paid when they
graduated from high school. I went to Citade), and South Carolina has a great

selection of colleges.

11. The above are but a few examples of Michelle’s use of finances to alienate our
children. 1 do not believe Michelle should ever be entitled toc know what [ make or

what my bills are. The family court is a court of equity, and if Michelle has brought a



frivolous lawsuit, then she should not be allowed to use that lawsuit to gain access

to information to which she is otherwise not entitled.

Current Action
12.0n July 30, 2020, Michelle filed an action for college expenses on behalf of our oldest

daughter HKC who was 19 years old at the time, She did this for no reason but to
gain access to my financial information. This is evident from the following:

a. I'm not aware of anything Michelle has paid for HKC's college, so what is her
cause of action? She has no claim for reimbursement and HKC is an adult so
if she has student loans, she can come to me or she can pay them, or her
mother can pay them if she so chooses. Based upon the complaint, | have no
reason to believe that Michelle has paid any amount toward HKC's education.

" b. Even if Michelle has paid something but elected not to include it in her
complaint, she earns double the mean income in South Carolina, sosheisina
position to contribute financially for the children.

d. Itappears as though Michelle filed an action to medify a prior order that was
not subject to modification. | agreed when we finalized our separation to
maintain the college funds for the children, and I did. Nowhere did [ agree
when they would get those funds. That was deliberate on my part because |
knew Michelle. She filed the action for no reason but to gain access to my
financial information, and that is rewarding her for misusing the court

system.

13. Interestingly, in both of the Rules that I filed against Michelle, she tried to claim that
she was “entitled” to know my income since I had asked for attorney's fees and
costs. My attorney argued that the case law allows for compensatory fees and costs.
When Michelle agreed to pay $20,000 at the time of the first RTSC, she tacitly
acknowledged that fact. She nonetheless argued it at the second RTSC as well, and
she has appealed the order partially because she was required to reimburse me a

portion of my attorney’s fees.

Current Action as Applied to Facts of Case Number 2019-DR-26-1437
14. Right now, Michelle has an action filed on behalf of two children who are both

legally adults. Interestingly, even before EC was 18, she went to her mother’s home
and Michelle provided her housing rather than sending her home, notwithstanding a
court order requiring Micheile to stay away from EC. When 1 filed a RTSC against

4

¢._Michelle is seeking college funds, but ] have provided college funds.



Michelle, she said she needed a week for the Rule, That effectively continued the
Rule until after EC's 18% birthday. Michelle then claimed | had no cause of action
because EC had become an adult. What is the difference? If | cannot maintain a suit
against Michelle because the children are aduits, then why can she maintain a cause
of action under the same circumstances? Factually, Michelle is trying to make me do

something for an adult child, just like I was trying to keep an adult child away from a
toxic situation and parent.

Standing
15. How can Michelle bring an action to make me pay for our adult children’s college

when she hasn't paid for these costs? There is no indication that Michelle has done
~ anything substantial. Thus, why has she brought this action and what is her
interest?

16. The order approving our initial agreement was that I maintain previously
~— —@stablished funds. When | turn over those funds wastotally up tome-Thatorder — -
was not appealed and had been in existence for 6+ years before Michelle filed an

action which was nothing but an attempt to modify the order.

17. Michelle has interjected herself in every aspect of my relationship with our children.
If they need anything, they can come to me and ask. If I decide to accommodate
them, that is between me and them. If} tel] them “no”, that is my decision to make.
It may be their mother's fault that they were alienated, but as they and Michelle
have reminded me, they are now adults.

18. Michelle should not be allowed to continue her war in their names.

19. Likewise, as they are adults, they should not be allowed to hide behind their mother,

just as their mother should not be allowed to further obstruct my relationship with

them.

Family Dynamics
20.1 love my children more than life itself, but I will not be emotionally bullied by them.

Further, | do not think that Michelle should be allowed to abuse the courts’ process
for her own uses and purposes, [ do not blame our children for their mother’s

actions. However, they are adults, and if they want a relationship with me, and



everything that comes with that, then | am here for them when they choose to reach
out. Ta date, that has not happened.

21. By the same token, if my children do not want a relationship with me, they are
adults so | can no longer try and force that on them.

22. The Court is cognizant of what Michelle has done, and it is also very well aware that
the children have been brainwashed, even if the children do not recognize this.
However, as the Court has recognized in prior case law, a parent who is being
alienated often acquiesces when he/she should not, both in an effort to get along
with the alienating parent and also to appease the children’s concerns. Maybe [ was
wrong not to force them to come to my house every weekend when they were
younger and told me they weren't “comfortable” spending the night. However, |

could not just dismiss their concerns. Their concerns were not factually true, but it

was their reality at that time, as fed to them by their mother. Thus, 1 did the best |

could at that time, With the benefit Bfllindsight, there are thi'ng,iré I should have done

earlier, but unfortunately, the law in South Carolina is that  had no grounds for

custody until after the alienation had occurred.

23. It was important that the children not think | was forced to pay for their college
tuition. The Court recognized that Michelle had no grounds to modify the prior
order so it denied Michelle’s request to gain access to the tuition funds ] established,
and maintained. When it was appropriate, I turned over the funds to the children.
HKC is the owner of her fund, but has yet to even acknowledge that, though !
confirmed it was received by her. 1 still hold ownership to EC's account so that 1 can
monitor it, and she has full access to her college funds.

24, Michelle should have never filed an action, as she did not have the authority to

determine when | handed over the funds to the children. Further, the moment i

turned over the funds, Michelle’s complaint became stale,

Plaintiff’s Ability to Contribute
25. There is no indication that Michelle has contributed to the children’s college

education whatsoever. However, even if she has provided something, why shouldn’t
she? The average income in South Carolina is $63,020, Top earners in this state

earn $84,961. The median household income for South Carolina is $56,227 and the

6



26, Michelle has not standing to request the reliefin her complaint. Further, the relief

middle income for Horry County is $53,648 [See Attached ExuisiT “B"]. Michelle not
only has a Master's Degree, but she has alimony of $10,500 per month, or $126,000
annually, which is nearly 150% of the income of the top earners, and it is nearly
double the middle income for Horry County. As a practical matter, if Michelle did
not like my decisions of when to turn over the college funds, then Michelle could
have paid for college herself. After al}, she got her Master’s Degree during the
marriage and she claims to be a counselor or therapist, Between her ability to earn
an income and her alimony, she has the wherewithal to help provide for them. Why

does she think she should be exempt for providing for her own children?

which she has requested in stale. Finally, Michelle could have provided for the
children without any assistance if she had wanted to. Michelle is not their agent; she

has no claim for reimbursement; ] have paid the tuition. Most importantly, the

* recipients are adults, and they have yet to seek anything beyond what I have already

done.

Attorney’s Fees
27. I helieve | am entitled to have this matter dismissed for the reasons noted, and | also

ask that all of my attorney’s fees be reimbursed. This matter should never have

been brought.

Financial Information
28. Because this action should never have been brought, I ask that 1 be relieved of any

29,

obligation to provide a financial declaration. Further, ] ask that Michelle be held
accauntable for the frivolous action she filed.

| ask the Court to consider the reasons that this action was filed, and that it not
allow the process to be abused by filing frivolous actions just to gain information to
which the complainant is not otherwise entitled. Accordingly, if the Court believes
that this action will be sustained, then I ask for an interim award of at least $25,000,
as Michelle has provided nothing of substance to support her complaint. I further
ask that I be allowed to fiie my financial declaration under seal and for the eyes of

the Court ONLY. This is for my protectioh, the need for which has been shown

through Michelle’s actions for 10+ years.

7



FURTHER THE AFFIANT 5AITH NOT.

foéefah Harold Capps, ]rf

SWORN TO AND SUBSCRIBED before me
this day of November, 2021.

P e

Notary Pubitic for&buth Carplipa
—— = My commission expires: l‘?TB oL R, "*' ' ' -
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STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) IN THE FAMILY COURT OF THE
)

FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

COUNTY OF HORRY
CASE NUMBER: 2019-DR-26-1437
JOSEPH HAROLD CAPPS, IR. )
) _
Plaintiffs ) ORDER ADDRESSING DEFENDANT'S
vs. ) MOTION TO RECONSIDER
' )
MICHELLE DAVIS CAPPS )
) P ¥
Defendants ) faes . =2
i =
~) TR R S

THIS MATTER HAS COME BEFORE THE COURT addressing thabeféﬁdam—srr:]

Motion to Reconsider the denial of attomey's fees in defending two rules to ‘show. cauz:.
Courl by this order grants the motion but pursuani to correspondence from thg: défenddnt's

attorney indicating a hearing in the matter was not requested the court is lssumg this oﬁ!er <

without a hearing. w

The defendant first argues the Court failed to address the factor of the party's ability to
pay. The Court will address that factor now. While the plaintiff has income greater thanthe

defendant the evidence clearly show the defendant has the ability to pay. Defendant introduced
her financial declaration (Defendant's exhibit 1) which shows she has a gross monthly income of
$10,500.00 and therefore an annual income of $126,000.00. This clearly establishes the

defendant having the ability to pay her own fees.

Next the defendant argues fees should be awarded based on beneficial results in
successfully defending two rules to show cause. This Court found the basis for not holding the
defendant in contempt for her alleged contemptuous actions was the result of the plaintiff's delay
in seeking enforcement by acquiescing to the minor child's wishes. The defendant failed and
refused to refurn the minor child fo the plaintiff who had custody by Court order. The Court
docs not find the defendant credible and was convinced the minor's wishes were the result of the
influence of the defendant. But for the actions of the plaintiff the defendant may have been in

willful contemnpt.

Third, the defendant argues the Court did not consider the respective financial conditions
of the parties. As stated above while the plaintiff makes more than the defendant she is by no
means destitute. The discrepancy in income is not in and of itself a basis to award fees.

Finally the defendant argues the Court failed to consider the effect of the fees on each

party's standard of living, While again the plaintiff may have a greater income than the
defendant there was insufficient evidence lo show how the defendant's standard of living affected

by the Court's ruling to deny the defendant attorney's fees.

This Court is mindful of the contentious nature of this case and the pariy's disgust for

each other, Their actions throughout this case seem to be focused more on punishing the
opposing parly than doing what was in the best interest of the children. The credibility of both is

questionable and the court will not reward either based on their actions.

V74
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THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that the defendant's
Notice of Motion and Motion for Reconsideration by the plaintiff while being granted afier
careful analysis this court affirms the denial of aftorney's fees.

AND IT IS SO ORDERED. ;
%/

BOnaliR Nofion =
Family Courl Judge, Fifieenth Judicial Circuit
September £ 2021

Conway, South Carolina

e
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Median Household Income By County 2010-

2019
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County 2010 | 2091 | 2012 | 2013 | 2014 | 2015 | 2016 | 2017 | 2018 | 2019
South Caroling | $42,117| $43,200| $43,200| $44,310( $45,337| $47,308] $49,587| 250,675 $52,449( $56,360
Abbeville 534.658| $35 456 935456, $36,187| $35.5725] 435932 $40,211] $41,118| 342,412] 546409
Alken 143,196| 345,699] $45.699] $43,.876] $48,537| $48,012[ $47,294| $51.583 $52,633| $56,824
Allendale 24,615 525,633 $25,633] $25753| $25530( $27.089| $26,864 $28,135| $29,124] $32,147
Anderson $38,851) $39,905| %39,905| $41501] $43,124| $44,745| $45827| $48,846| $51,740| $54,496
Bamberg $20,101| $30,170] $30,170] $30,762| $30,340] $29.642] $32.245] $32,603| $36.230( $35364|
Barnwell $30,808] 332,042] 332,042] $31.899 s3z205| $33.280 341,803 $36,568| $38131| $36,675
Beaufort $55,266| $54,129 554,130 $56,354| §55,427( 560,071} $65354| $60,319| $65,843 573,890
Berkeley $49,284] $40,872| $49,872] 550,794] $52,436| $55.876( $58.690| $57,390] $62.204| $68,690
Calhoun 537,507| $42,006] $42,006| $40,593| 541,208 $41,277] $41,786] $45,149| 345385| 547,050
{Charleston — | $46,187| $4B,200) $48,200( $51,206($52,752| 556,244 | - $56,564( - $60,144] - $62,958 |- $70,986
Cherokee $35,223] $37,135] $37,135| $37,726| $38,947| $37,008] $38,273( $34,962[ $42.542( $46,905
[Chester 434 508| 533,718] §33,718] $36,523( $37,537] $35,006| $39,972| 340,850| $42,116] $45,400
Chesterfield - $32,483] 531,936] $31,036| 533,591| $34,949| $36,520 $39,860] $3B881| $39,045! $42,441
Clarendon $30,513] $30,519) $30,519] $30,006] $32,268 $34,654| 534,541| $36,647| $36,722| $39,500
Colleton $32.445| 133,208| $33,208] 533.817] s35,558| $33,745] $35780| %3630 539,079 s40,808
Darlington $33.772] 334103] $34.103] 334,200! $35,640] $36,719| $37,711| 538,886 $37.206) $44,007
Dillon 520,665 $20.205| $29.205] $33.608| $30.516| $31,004] $31,761| s32.220) 933,159 $35.483
Dorchester 451,132| $53,924] $53,024] $55,193] $56,388 $55,505) $5B,167| 563,269 365468| $68,051
Edgefield $41,501| $42,065| 542,065 $44,862) $44,120| $46,430] $46,816| $4B,055] $48,818| $52,501
Fairfield $32261] $34.007] 534,007| 535531 $35400] $36,622 336715 $40,285| $39,522( $42,496
Florence 338,014] 540577 $40,577( $41,028| $42,232| $41,197| 545044 $43,727| 547,940 $49,770
Georgetown $38,340 $40,962| 340,962 $47,213] $44,.283[ $44,395] $47.842] $48,373| $46,058| $53,747
Greenville $45,666] $47,044| $47,044] $45.476| $49,659| $52.017| 355,452( $56,311 $61,162| $64,399
Greenwood 335,615| 337,187 537,187 $37.217] 38878 $42,240] $40,509[ $42,740] $43,879] $43,958
Hampten 533,367| $32,034] $32,934] $32,941) $33,644) $36,772| 535,667| $36,834| $35871| $37,560
Horry 540,697 $40,248| 540,245| $41,808| $42,830] $47,083] 345608] $45979| $49,082] 553,648
Jasper $35,533| $35692] $35692] 534,852] $37.715] $37,.231| $41,002] 540,960] $43,125| $50,790
Kershaw §47.174] $46,019] $46,019] $44787( $45.411) $48.233| $48,824] $50,627 §52.270] 556,318
Lancaster $38,212| $43.479| $43479| 540,837| s44,854] $47.279] $53,421) 557,667 $58,035( $63,842
Laurens $36,345| 536,483 $36,483] $36,771| $38,268) $39,731| 943,791 $41,605] $42,008] 547,038
Lee $20.756| $30,053] $30,053] $30,972] $31,510| $31,525| $32,015, $33,756| $33,199| 37,710
Lexington 551,523] §52,248] $52,249] $53,880( $54,008( $55413| 557,623) $60,329] $60,627| $62,05%
McCormick 534,963 $39,413| 335.413] $38,186| $38.694] $41,585| $43262| sa4,644| $44,683| 348,645
Marion §27.917| $20,340] $79,140] $28,520] $32,283] $30,528| $31,556| $31.438| $34,365) $35,138
Marlboro 528,630| $28.527| s28,927| 531,185( $31,170] $32,485( $32,991] $33,412| $32532] 534,532
Newberry 530,054] £38,808] $38,808| $37.850] $42,000( $41,120| $42,128| $42,538| $48.029[ $50,773
Oconae $42671| $42,062| $42,062] $42,077| $39.548] $44,819) $46.996] $51,087| $50,529| $52,240
Orangeburg 532,690 $33,706) $33.796] $32.180] $31.382] $37.651] $34.557| $36,358) $37,134] $38,736
Plckens $40.110| 529,823| 539,823] $42,400] 541,375] $44,001| $46,154] $48,133| $48,794| $52,049
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Richland %45,944| 347,606| $47.606] 547,492 349,782 551,05._5 £51,972| 952,187 $52,611] $52,905

salutla $38,570] $41,552| %$41,552{ $40,366| 542,286) 541,405 £43,685| 544,487 $46,019| 545,493
Spartanburg 541,888 541.327| 541,327 $42,638| $44,030| $4576B| $47,706) £51,035| $53,567| 555,588
Sumter $36,554| $39.014 539,014| $39,182! £37,306| $41,058] $41,205| $44,375) 345,181 $49,611
Unian §34,125| 332,717 532,717| $34,042; 537,501 $35,467{ $39,119| $41,327! $40,686[ 542,85
Williamshurg £28,085] $28,1210 528,121| $20,391| 520,608 $28943| $28,314| $32,421( $32814] $34,408
York $51.403] $51,427| $51,427] $54,527( $54,196] $57.302; §61,044| $62,620| $64,904] 568468
Source:

LIS Cengus Burgay, Small Area Income sngd Poverty Estimates (SAIPE) 2010-2013
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From: Gregory Forman <attorney@gregoryforman.com>

Subject: RE: Capps vs. Capps. FINAL ORDER

Date: March 3, 2022 at 6:06:09 PM EST

To: "Hoimes, Jan Bromell Secretary (Cindy R. Hardy)" <JHolmesSC@sccourts.org>
Cc: Michelle Capps <mdaviscapps@gmail.com>, afloyd@anitafloydlaw.com

Cindy,

The objections | noted in my previous emails—Judge Holmes made factual findings outside of
the Rule 19 issue without testimony to establish them; Ms. Floyd’s proposed final order
includes prior orders as exhibits and makes factual findings that Judge Holmes did not make—
remain. We have no additional objections.

Gregory S. Forman, PC ' ' - T o co T
171 Church Street, Suite 160
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 720-3749
(843) 614-5086 {fax) i

https://www.gregoryforman.com

From: Gregary Forman <attorney@gregoryforman.com>

Sent: Wednesday, March 2, 2022 10:17 AM

To: Holmes, Jan Bromell Secretary {Cindy R. Hardy) <JHolmesSC@sccourts.org>
Cc: bpotter@anitafioydiaw.com; Michelle Capps

<mdaviscapps@gmail.com>; afloyd@anitafloydlaw.com

Subject: RE: Capps vs. Capps. FINAL ORDER

You can let Judge Holmes that the Plaintiff objects to all factual findings other than those that
find the Plaintiff failed to join indispensable parties (the parties’ adult children) to the action .
That was the basis of her dismissal, All other factual findings are based on pleadings or
affidavits that were not subject cross examination and are inappropriate in a final order. This
was not a motion for summary judgment and there is no summary judgment in family

court. Accordingly factual findings based upon pleadings or affidavits are simply not
appropriate.

Gregory S. Forman, PC

171 Church Street, Suite 160
Charleston, SC 29401

(843) 720-37489

(843) 614-5086 (fax)
https://www.gregoryforman.com




From: Gregory Forman <attorney@gregoryforman.com>
Sent: Tuesday, February 22, 2022 10:56 AM

To: afloyd@anitafloydlaw.com; bpotter@anitafloydlaw.com
Cc: Michelle Capps <mdaviscapps@gmail.com>

Subject: RE: Capps vs. Capps. Proposed Order

Anita,

There are numerous factual findings that are nowhere in Judge Hoimes’ memo ruling. |
especially object to factual findings adverse to the parties’ children.

Please remove all factual findings not made by Judge Holmes' correspondence.
Gregory S. Forman, PC

171 Church Street, Suite 160
Charleston, SC 29401

(843) 614-5086 (fax)
https://www.gregoryforman.com




STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA )] IN THE FAMILY COURT OF THE
COUNTY OF HORRY ) FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
) Case Number: 2020-DR-26-1440
Michelle Davis Capps, )
Plaintiff ) FINAL ORDER
) (Ending Action)
~V§- )
) - =
Joseph Harold Capps, Jr., ) : =~ L
Defendant. ) = 2
) T <
~ HSm o of
TRIAL JUDGE: The Honorable Jan Bromell Holmes om %D
DATE: ‘ November 2, 2021 IS = I
~ -PLAINTIFF'S ATTORNEY: — Gregory S, Forman e X
DEFENDANT'S ATTORNEY: Anita F. Lee e
COURT REPORTER: Julie Kevish

On July 30, 2020, Plaintiff filed an action seeking, inter alig, financial assistance with

r:oile_ge _exﬁéﬁs'es of the parties’ two childréﬁ, the older of whom was a college student at the
University of South Carolina when this action commenced, and the younger of whom was
still in high school at the commencement of the action, Defendant was served with process
and his attorney, Anita Lee, filed an Answer and Counterclaim on September 25, 2020.
Plaintiff then filed a Reply on October 5, 2020, thereby joining the issues.

The parties attended mediation but were unable to resolve the issues, and on March
15, 2021, Defendant filed a motion requesting that Plaintiff's Complaint be dismissed; or in
the alternative, that he be relieved of any obligation to provide his personal financial
information to Plaintiff: or in the alternative that he be allowed to provide his financial
declaration under seal, for the Court’s eyes only. Both parties have requested attorney’s fees
and costs. |

At the commencement of the hearing, Defendant acknowledged that his requested
relief was unique, though he further argued that his request was understandable in this
particular factual situation, and that equity demanded he be provided the protection he has
requested. In support of his position, Defendant iterated the parties’ unusual maritall and

litigation history, as follows:
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" History
The parties separated from one angther approximately 10 years ago, and they

entered into two separate agreements on June 25, 2014, one of which addressed issues
related to the parties’ children, and another which addressed the financial issues and
abligations of the parties. Their agreements were approved by this Court, which merged,
adopted and incorporated the terms of their agreements into a Final Order. [See EXHIBIT “A”
and EXHIBIT “B", attached hereto].

Thereafter, two Rules to Show Cause were issued against Plaintiff based upon
Defendant’s allegations that Plaintiff had alienated the children from him. [See Exuisrr “C”
and EXBIBIT "D”, attached hereto]. The first Rule to Show Cause {RTSC) was resolved after 3
days of trial, and Plaintiff was found to be in contempt of court after-the second RTSC hearin g

Within days of the court’s ruling after the second RTSC hearing, Defendant filed an

action for custody of the parties’ youngest child, and this Court issued an ex parte Order

~ awarding unto him this relief. Theex pai'te order matured into a téinpor_ary order following

a hearing for this purpose, and Plaintiffwas forbidden from having any communication with
the child [See EXHIBIT “E", attached herefo]. Ultimately, the case was resolved through the
emancipation of the youngest child [See Exuinrr “F”, attached hereto].

According to Defendant, Plaintiff's alienation tactics included her discussing with the

children how much moxiey Defendant allegedly earned and what he paid by way of child

support and alimony. Evidence was presented at the first and/or second Rules to Show

Cause that Plaintiff had told the children Defendant loved money more than he loved them;
that Defendant had kicked them out of their house; and that Defendant had broken his
promise to buy a vehicle for the oldest child. Plaintiff also took the oldest child to visit
various private and out-of-state colleges, thus indicating to this child that Defendant would
finance her college education at whatever institution she elected to attend, even in New York
City. She did this notwithstanding that one aspect of the parties’ Marital Settlement
Agreement was that Defendant would fully fund the South Carolina College Tuition Prepaid
Program, which program applied only to in-state public institutions.

In addition, on July 17, 2017, the youngest child, who was then 14 years of age, was
caught taking pictures of financial records Defendant had in a briefcase in his vehicle, This
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last incident was audio recorded by Defendant and the recording was played at the second
Rule to Show Cause hearing, and is referenced in the resulting order (which is currently
under appeal). 7

According to Defendant, Plaintiff is obsessed with him and with knowing his income
and his financial status, and this Court takes note that the Orders issued from the Rules to
Show Cause, as well as Plaintiffs repeated efforts to obtain information related to
Defendant’s income in this matter, appear to support Defendant’s contentions in those
regards. Also of note is that at the issuance of this Order, the second Rule to Show Cause

Order remains under appeal [See EXHIBIT “G”, attached hereto].

Plaintiff argues that even if Defendant’s arguments are valid - which she denies - she ..

is entitled to this information as a matter of law and in accordance with the South Carolina

Family Court Rule 20.
Based upon the arguments of counsel, I make the following findings of salient fact:

FINDINGS OF FACT -
Jurisdiction

1. Ifind that the parties are formerly husband and wife, and that during their marriage,
they had two children, both of whom are now emancipated. I further find that the
parties resided in Horry County, South Carolina throughout all or the majority of their
marriage, at the time of their separation, and also continuously since that time.

2. Ifind that since their divorce, the parties have endured an acrimonious and litigious
relationship which includes the filing of several contempt actions; a modification of
custody action; and the within action which was instituted for assistance with college
and related expenses.

3. lfind that this Court has jurisdiction and continuing jurisdiction of the parties as well
as the subject matter before it.

Separation and Divorce
4. On June 25, 2014, the parties reached two separate agreements which addressed

their marital issues, and on July 3, 2014, Plaintiff/Mother filed an action for Separate
Support and Maintenance, wherein she sought approval of the parties’ agreements
[See EXHIBIT "G”, attached hereto}., OnJuly 8, 2014, Defendant/Father filed an Answer
and Counterclaim seeking a divorce on the ground of one year’s separation, without
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cohabitation. A hearing was requested to approve their agreements, and Defendant
then moved to supplement the pleadings to request a divorce simultaneous with the
approval of their agreements. Plaintiff/Mother opposed Defendant’s motion, and on
July 14, 2014, the parties were granted Separate Support and Maintenance [See
ExuiBit “H”, attached hereto).

5. On August 6, 2014, Plaintiff amended her complaint to request a divorce on the
ground of adultery [See EXHiBIT “I”, attached hereto]. On September 2, 2014,
Defendant filed an Answer and Countérclaim to Plaintiff's Amended Complaint [See
EXHIBIT "}, attached hereto].

__6. The parties were ultimately divorced from one another-on October 3,2014,

Post-Divorce Litigation 7
7. On May 6, 2016, Defendant signed an affidavit in support of a Rule to Show Cause,

wherein he alleged that Plaintiff had engaged in a-pattern of alienation as between

- himand the then-minor children. The RTSC was issued, and after 3 days of trial, the
matter was resolved, with Plaintiff agreeing, inter alig, to obtain counseling to address
her pattern of alienation, and to pay attorney’s fees to Defendant in the amount of
$20,000. The resulting Order was signed April 11, 2017.

8. On January 5, 2018, Defendant filed another affidavit in support of a RTSC, alleging

both that Plaintiff had not complied with the April 11, 2017 Order, and also that

Plaintiff had continued her pattern of alienation. The RTSC was issued, and trial was
held December 10-14, 2018, and May 22-23, 2019. Although Plaintiff denied
Defendant's allegations, after 5 days of trial, Plaintiff was found to-be in contempt of
court. However, Plaintiff has appealed that order and the appellate court has yet to
issute its ruling.

9. On June 17, 2019 after the order from the second RTSC had been issued, Defendant
/Father filed an action for emergency custody of the parties’ youngest child [case
number 2019-DR-26-1437), as the oldest child had beécome emancipated. On this
same date, an ex parte Order was issued granting Father custody, and by Order dated
June 21, 2019, and filed June 24, 2019, the ex parte Order was confirmed and custody
remained with Father. Father's obligation to pay support was also terminated, and
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Mother was prohibited from having any communication with the minor child outside
of a therapeutic setting.

10. According to Father, at the behest of both the Guardian ad litem and the court-ordered
counselor, he allowed an unsupervised visit at mother's home during the quarantine
in March, 2020, following which the child did not return to Father's home. According
to Mother, the child did not want to return to Father's home, nor could she force the
child to return to Father's home. At the time, the child was 17 years of age.

11.0nJuly 6, 2020, Mother filed 2 motion for child support. On July 8, 2020, Father filed
a RTSC against Mother, alleging that Mother had contacted the minor child in violation
alleging that Mother had failed to return the child following a scheduled visitation, or
in the alternative that she had allowed the child to remain at her residence after a

visitation had ended. The RTSC was issued, though dite to COVID, the hearing did not

~ occur until August 12, 2021, after the youngest child had become emancipated.

12, Mother’s motion was denied, with the Court finding that the child should never have
been at Mother's home, as Father had legal custody throughout the time in issue; and
that Father had not only never relinquished physical custody, but he had also
demanded that the child réturn to his home, to no avail.

13. Regarding Father's Rule, Father dismissed his allegation regarding the failure of the
child to return to his home, but he proceeded on the issue of Mother allegedly
communicating with the child within days of an order being issued which prohibited
all contact between Mother and child. At the hearing, Mother acknowledged that her
phone rang, and that there was a connection between her phone and that of the child.
However, she claimed that the call was made from an unknown app and that she did
not even know the phones had connected as she had turned the phone over and had
walked away as soon as the phone started ringing. Although the connection remained
for more than 20 minutes, Plaintiff maintained there was no communication between
her and the parties’ daughter, and thus no violation of the restraining order. The
Honorable Ronald Norton found that Father had not proven that any communication
had taken place, and Mother was thus found not to be in contempt of court,
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14.0n August 16, 2021, the 2019 custody action was dismissed, based upon the
emancipation of the child.

Prepaid College Tuition &
Equitable Apportionment
15. The South Carolina Code of Laws §20-3-620 (2008, as amended), provides as follows:

(A) In a proceeding for divorce a vinculo matrimonii or separate
support and maintenance ... the court shall make a final equitable
apportionment between the parties of the parties' marital property
upon request by either party in the pleadings.

(C) The court’s order as it affects distribution of marital property
shall be a final order not subject to modification except by appeal
or remand following proper appeal.

16. The parties’ Agreement as it relates to equitable apportionment was signed on June

25,2014, and on July 22, 2014, it was approved by this Court and made its Final Order.

* Neither party appealed the Order approving said Agreement.

17. Page 7 of the parties” Agreement provides as follows:

Upen division of assets as herein provided, the parties hereto do
hereby agree that the manner in which they have divided all real
and personal property represents a fair and equitable division of
the assets of the parties arising out of the marital relationship.

Pages 10-11 of the parties’ Agreement further provides that

Once approved and made the Order of this Court, the Family Court
of the State of South Carolina shall have continuing jurisdiction to
enforce the terms and conditions of this Agreement, along with any
Order issued with respect thereto; and both Wife and Husband
shall be subject to the contempt powers and jurisdiction of the
Family Court of the State of South Carolina with respect to any
breach or violation of this Agreement or the Order of this Court.

Wife and Husband hereby acknowledge and agree that this is a full
and complete agreement with respect to all matters raised, and
with respect to those which could have been raised between them,
and is considered by them to be a fully-integrated agreement. Itis
the intent of the parties hereto that the provisions of this
Agreement shall govern all rights and obligations of the parties, as
well as all rights of modification as specifically stated within this
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Agreement; and, further, the terms and conditions of this
Agreement, and any Order approving the same, shall not be
modifiable by the parties or any Court without the written consent
of Wife and Husband.

The parties specifically agree that neither the Family Court of the
State of South Carolina nor any other court shall have any
jurisdiction to modify, supplemient, terminate, or amend this
Agreement, or the rights and obligations of the parties [Marital
Settlement Agreement (MSA) pages 10-11].

GENERAL PROVISIONS:
-~ B, -This Agreement expresses the éntire apreement between

the parties -and supersedes any prior understandings or
agreements between them [MSA, page 1 1].

~1B-Attached to the parties” MSA is a Martial Assets Addendarm (MAA), which is the . 00N

supporting document for their agreement as to equitable apportionment. The
parties’ MAA reflects that a Prepaid Tuition college plan existed for both of the parties’
children, and that further, Husband (Defendant herein) was to assume the debt
related to said plan. Husband was provided neither a credit for the value of the plan
nor for the value of the debt that encumbered the plan. It was included on the MAA
to outline Defendant’s college support obligation. By agreement of the parties,
Husband's obligation Was_ limited to what - was set forth on the MAA, absent “the
written consent of Wife and Husbhand”. The parties further agreed that this Court did
not even have jurisdiction to “modify, supplement; terminate, or amend [the parties’]
Agreement, or the rights and obligations of the parties”.

Interestingly, unlike most divorcing couples, Plaintiff and Defendant entered
into two separate agreements - a Marital Settlement Agreement, and a Custodial
Agreement [See EXHIBIT “A” and EXHiBiT “B” attached hereto]. They elected to address
Defendant’s financial obligation for college on the MAA, which was subject to
enforcement but not modification, rather than in their Custodial Agreement which

addressed Defendant's other financial obligations for the children and could have
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been modified based upon a substantial change of circumstances, Of note is that
throughout their divorce proceedings, these parties were represented and counseled
by well-respected members of the South Carolina Bar, as well as by well-respected
forensic accountants; also of note is that their Agreements were extremely thorough.
Accordingly, if they intended for Defendant’s obligation to exceed what was noted,
they knew how to make the appropriate provision. However, they not only specified
Defendant's obligation, but they also impeded the ability of this Coirt to modify their
agreement in any regards.

19. Considering the above, I find that the issue of college-related expenses has been

addressed by the parties, and that their agreement is not subject to modification.

Theiragreementboth created and limited Defendant’s financial obligation for the cost

of his children's college, In short, the parties’ agreement is subject to enforcement,

but not-modification, and if Defendant had not fulfilled his obligation, Plaintiff could - - .-

have held him in cdntenipt qﬁfourt.

20, Although Defendant's obligation to Plaintiff for assistance with their children’s
college-related expenses was addressed at the time they entered into their Marital
Settlement Agreement, | find that this obligation is between Plaintiff and Defendant
only. Accordingly, there is nothing to prevent the children from instituting an action
for college-related financial assistance.

21. Plaintiff argues that the parties’ Marital Settlement Agreement in no way interferes
with her albility. to pursue this litigation. The Court disagrees:

Public Policy
22, Plaintiff has argued that the Court’s ruling in McLeod vs. Starnes, 396 S.C. 647, 723

S.E.2m 198 (SCSC, 2012) supports her claim that Defendant should be responsible for
college-related expenses for their children. However, I find that McLeod vs, Starnes is
distinguishable from this case both factually and legally: Legally, the parties specified
Dr. €apps’ obligation for college expenses in a Marita] Settlement Agreement, and
they further specified that their agreement could not be modified by this or any other

Court; however, the parties in McLeod vs. Starnes had no agreement regarding college
at the time of their separation/divorce. Factually, in the McLeod matter, father and
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son appeared to have a good relationship: they were in regular communication
regarding son's college education, father had approved of son’s choice of college and
had agreed in an email to repay all of the child’s student loans upon graduation. 396
S.C. at 652, In addition, in that case father had also co-signed a promissory note for
the child’s student loans, and he agreed to pick up the child’s “odd expenses” related
to college; he also told the child to call him if he ever needed help. 1d.

23.In contrast to Mcleod vs. Starnes, Defendant in this instance was never consulted
about college prior to the child's decision to go to USC. Furthermore, Dr. Capps and.
the child had a very strained relationship even hefore Plaintiff took the child to visit
out-of-state and private colleges, and when Defendant refused to even consider
paying for the child to live in and attend college in New York City; the estrangement
between father and daughter increased to the point that the child expressed hatred

of Dr. Capps on social media [See ExHIBiT “K”, attached hereto]. The chilE ‘social

media posting were not 6nly7dis'paﬂl;éi'néi Bilrltﬂthey were potentially slanderous, as
she claimed Defendant had refused to pay for her college and/or that he must not
want her to attend college.

24. Although this Court has previously determined that Plaintiff has engaged in alienation

tactics, that is not the issue in this instance, as regardless of Plaintiffs alleged

contribution to the estrangement between father and daughter, the child has
expressed pure hatred of Defendant, as well as of those whom she believes have
- assisted Defendant in some way.
25.In his affidavit dated September 25, 2020, initially presented at the temporary
hearing on that same date, with a copy being provided at this hearing, Defendant
begged this Court not to force him to turn over the child's college fund. According to
Defendant's affidavit, he had repeatedly tried to get this child to attend counseling to
address their relationship issues, and he had told his oldest daughter they would
discuss college expenses as well as other issues in counseling, However, the child had
refused to attend counseling. Defendant expressed concern that if he was forced to
turn over the college account, his authority would be undermined and his daughter
would learn “a very bad lesson”. The court did not require Defendant to turn over the
NP AN
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college account at the temporary hearing on September 25, 2020. On the date of this
hearing, Defendant expressed that the account had been turned over to the child.

26. Interestingly, this Court notes that rather than cooperate with Defendant’s efforts to
repair his relationship with his children, Plaintiff elected to instead file an action and
seek relief beyond that to which she had agreed at the time the parties entered into
their Marital Settlement Agreement. This Court is confounded by Plaintiff's position,
in that Defendant had apparently addressed directly with the children the conditions
for receiving their college funds, and even assistance beyond merely those funds,

though rather than cooperate with Defendant’s efforts, and rather than encouraging

_the children to repair their relationship with Defendant; she instead allegedly* paid -

some of the oldest child’s college expenses and then filed this action seeking to force
Defendant to reimburse her. In addition, Plaintiff expressed to the oldest child that

she (the child) needed to provide as many expenses as possible ta

* Defendant claimed to have paid some of the child’s college expenses but verification of

such expenses has not been provided.
support the greatest amount possible in her claim for college expenses [See EXHIBIT

“1”, attached hereto],

27.1 find that Plaintiff's actions only aggravated the estrangement between father and
daughter, as is evident from the child’s refusal to speak with her father about anything
except her college expenses and health insurance,

28. Unlike in McLeod vs. Starnes, the-children of Dr. and Ms. Capps in this instance have
shown total disrespect for Defendant. Regardless of whether Plaintiff has created the
estrangement; or eontributed to the estrangement, the fact is that the estrangement
not only exists, but is to a degree that this court has seldom if ever experienced, and
the oldest child’s allegations of hatred toward her father greatly distinguishes the
within matter from that-of McLeod vs. Starnes. .

29. Although Plaintiff points to McLeod vs. Starnes as precedent, father and child in that
case appear to have a close emotional bond and they share a common affection for

one another. That is in start contrast to the facts of this case, where the child has
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elected not to have a relationship with her father and has very clearly expressed that
on social media.

30. Alienation is not the issue in this matter, and whether PIain_tiff has created or
contributed to the aliepation is not for this Court’s consideration. However, for the
reasons noted, I find that - even if the issue of college was not addressed in the parties'
Marital Settlement Agreement - issuing the order Plaintiff has requested would be
contraindicated to public policy that divorced parents should encourage the
relationship between children and the other parent.

McLeod vs. Starnes
31. As indicated, Plaintiff relies upon McLeod vs. Starnes, 396 S.C, 647, 723 S.E. 2d 198 (SC

2012 ), to support her request fof'collége-réilated financial assistance. In that case, the
Court determined that Father’s refusal to contribute towards the child’s college
expenses proved the very ill that Risinger vs. Risinger, 273 S.C. 36, 253 S.E. 2d 652

T (1979) atternpted to alleviate, but which was overrualed by b vs, Sowe
2d 543 (SCSC, 2010). In McLeod, the Court stated that

“Father articulated no defensible reason for his refusal other than
the shield erected by Webb. What other reason could there be for
a father with more than adequdte means and a son who truly
desires to attend college to skirt the obligation the father almost
certainly would have assumed had he not divorced the child’s
mother?... [The child] has therefore fallen victim to the precise
harm that prompted the courts.. to hold that a non-custodial
parent could be ordered to contribute towards a child's college
education. Thus, this case amply demonstrates what we failed to
recognize in Webb: sometimes the acrimony of marital litigation
impacts a parent’s normal sense of obligation towards his or her
children. While this is a harsh reality, it is a reality nonetheless that
Risinger sought to address,

McLeod vs. Starnes, 396 5.C. at 658-659.

32. In this instance, the child may have “fallen victim” to one parent's alienation tactics;

however, it is the child who has posted some of the most vile and despicable
comments that this Court has ever seen from a child towards a parent.

33. Additionally, despite the actions of ¢ne or both children, Defendant has repeatedly
asked both of them to attend counseling, where he has indicated the costs of college
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would be addressed. However, since reaching the age of majority the children have
refused. From all appearances, at least one of the children has refused Defendant’s

assistance except on her terms, and I find that is not something the courts can or

should embrace.

34. Despite two Rules to Show Cause instituted by Defendant, an action for custody

35

instituted by Defendant, the involvement of numerous counselors and one alienation
expert, and at least two different Guardians ad Iitem, this Court has never been made
aware of any evil, crime, offense or wrongdoing of their father. Certainly there have
been the normal disagreements that often occur between parent and child, but
nothingto support the loathing that these children have expressed toward Defendant.
If the children had attended counseling, or had put forth any; effort to repair their
relationship with Defendant, or if they had come forward and explained the reasons
for their contempt for their father, perhaps this Court could have found some
commonality with the facts of McLeod vs. Stgrnes. Furthermore, unlike the facts of
McLeod vs_ Stgrnes, the children in this matter do not appear to even want a
relationship with their father, and it is their father who has continued to try and
rebuild thatrelationship, thus far to no avail, According]y,-this case is distinguishable
from McLeod vs, Starnes in that there is no indication that the acrimony of marital

litigation has impacted Defendant’s normal sense of obligation towards his children, -

Indeed, Defenndant has gone to great lengths to try and be involved and influential in
his children’s lives, but he has made clear to them that they do not make the rules for
his financial support, and he has provided clear terms for them to get his financial
support. It is the children who have thus far elected to ignore this opportunity.

Indeed, this Court does not even know if the children desire any assistance from

Defendant beyond what has been provided.

Rissinger vs, Rissinger
36. Plaintiff also maintains that Defendant should be responsible for the children’s

college expenses according to standards set forth in Rissinger vs, Rissinger, 273 5.C, 36,
253 8.E. 2d 652 {1979). Therein, the Supreme Court instructed the trial court to apply

the following factors when determining whether one or both parents should be
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required to contribute to a child’s college expenses: (1) the characteristics of the child
indicate that he or she will benefit from college; and (2) the child demonstrates the
ability to do well, or at least make satisfactory grades; and (3} the child cannot
otherwise go to college; and (4) the parent has the financial ability to pay for such an
education.

37.1find that neither child is a party, neither has sought to become a party, nor has either
provided an affidavit. Further, Plaintiff has had every opportunity to bring them in as
parties, but she has not done so rior would she commit to even calling them as
witnesses. Accordingly, this Court is not aware of grants or scholarships for which
the children have applied or received; this Court is not aware of the. children’s
outstanding college expenses; and this Court is not aware of whether the children are
working in college or have worked in the summer to contribute toward these

expenses. This is information that in this instance needs to come directly from the

motivation for instituting this action.

38. This Court also recognizes that if the children do want or need Defendant’s assistance,
the hurdle to cross Rissinger standard #3 (the child cannot otherwise go to college}
will B,e very difficult, especially since Defendant offered to address college expenses
in counseling, and the children refused that opportunity.

39, Plaintiff attempts by this action to recoup what she claims to have paid towards the
oldest child's college expenses; however, Plaintiff also has a substantial income by
way of alimony. Accordingly, she is not necessarily exemipt from her obligation to
assist with these expenses. Further, by all appearances, Defendant has fulfilled his
obligation, at least as between Plaintiff and Defendant. Specifically, the total purchase
price for the South Carolina Tuition Prepayment Program was $74,646.44, with
$36,611.15 being set aside for the pafties' oldest daughter Haley Katherine, and
$38,035.29 being set aside for the youngest child Emily.

40. This Court is also very concerned that Plaintiff involved the oldest child in her efforts
to extract as much money from Defendant as was possible. Thus, even if the Court
had not determined that Defendant’s obligation to Plaintiff was limited by virtue of
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the parties’ Agreement, Plaintiff has to some extent sabotaged her own request by
involving the oldest child in a conspiracy to have Defendant financially responsible
for “the highest level of need possible.”

41. Considering the above, I find that the requirements of Rissinger vs. Rissinger have not
been established, and that further, they cannot be established without the adult
children, who in this instance, based on the facts of this case, I find to be necessary
parties.

South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 19(h)
42. Given the particular facts of this case, there is no way this Court could address the

financial needs of the adult children, or even determine if they would be entitled to
this relief, without their presence as parties. In addition, because of the unusual fécts,
there is no way to assess Plaintiff's claims or Defendant’s defenses to those claims,

without the children being present as parties, especially in light of the Exhibit “L”

which brings Plaintiff's motivations into-issue. Thus, without the adult children, there
is no way to determine whether a judgement is warranted, and if so, whether it would
be adequate. Finally, given the facts of this case, Plaintiff is not prejudiced by this
dismissal, as her entitlement was limited by the parties’ MAA.

43. Considering the above, I find that Plaintiff's complaint should be dismissed pursuant

to the SCRCP 19(b).
Based upon the above-recited Findings of Fact, I make the following Conclusions

of LaW:
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
THE General Assembly has previously vested with the Family Courts of this State the
exclusive jurisdiction to hear and determine matters incidental to the termination of
marriages as well as the enforcement of marital and custodial agreements, and also to
enforce their Orders through contempt powers, pursuant to Title 20 of the South Carolina

Code of Laws, 2008, as amended. After having reviewed the facts as well as the applicable
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case law in this instance, and after having also considered the Rules of Procedure as well as
the common law as well as public policy, it is

ORDERED, that Plaintiffs complaint is hereby dismissed, with prejudice, for the
reasons noted hereinabove; and it is further,

ORDERED, that this ruling in no ‘way impacts the adult children’s ability to pursue
an action against their father, if they so choose.

IT IS SO ORDERED, this 4™ day of March, 2022, in Conway, South Carolina.

M B Bharel00 Yrliron,
an B. Bromell Holmes, Presiding
Judge for the Family Court
Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

NOTICE To-ALL-PARTIES: A VIOLATION-OF THIS-ORDER; WHICHS DETERMINED TO BE A'WILLFUL
VIOLATION, MAY RESULT IN A FINDING OF CONTEMPT AND CORRESPONDING SANCTIONS SHALL THEN
INCLUDE UP T0 ONE YEAR'S IMPRISONMENT, A FINE OF UP T $1,500.00, UP To 300 HOURS OF
COMMUNITY SERVICE, OR A COMBINATION OF SOME OR ALL OF THESE PENALTIES.

BE So NOTIFIED!!
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